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Except where the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply throughout this Circular:

“1HFY2020” : The first half year ended 30 November 2019

“2QFY2020” : The 3-month period ended 30 November 2019

“ACRA” : Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore

“Acquisition” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.1 of this Circular

“Amcorp” : Amcorp Group Berhad

“Business Day” : A day (other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a gazetted public
holiday) on which commercial banks are open for business in
Singapore

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited

“CEO” : Chief executive officer of the Company

“Circular” : This circular to Shareholders dated 4 March 2020 in relation to
the Offer, enclosing, inter alia, the IFA Letter

“Closing Date” : 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 20 March 2020

“Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers

“Companies Act” : The Companies Act (Chapter 50 of Singapore), as amended or
modified from time to time

“Company” : TEE Land Limited

“Company Securities” : (a) Shares; (b) securities which carry voting rights in the
Company; and (c) convertible securities, warrants, options
(including any options granted under any employee share
scheme of the Company) and derivatives in respect of any
Shares or securities which carry voting rights in the Company

“Completion” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1.1 of this Circular

“Concert Group” : The parties acting or deemed to be acting in concert with the
Offeror

“Conditions Precedent” : Conditions precedent in the Sale and Purchase Agreements

“Constitution” : The constitution of the Company

“CPF” : The Central Provident Fund

“CPFIS Investors” : Investors who have purchased Shares using their CPF
contributions pursuant to the CPFIS

“Directors” : The directors of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date,
and “Director” means any one of them

“FAA” : The Form of Acceptance and Authorisation for the Offer Shares
in respect of the Offer which forms part of the Offer Document
and which is issued to Shareholders whose Shares are
deposited with the CDP
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“FAT” : The Form of Acceptance and Transfer for the Offer Shares in
respect of the Offer which forms part of the Offer Document and
which is issued to Shareholders whose Shares are not
deposited with the CDP

“Financial Adviser” : Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd., the financial adviser to
the Offeror in relation to the Offer

“Firm Offer Announcement” : The announcement issued by the Financial Adviser on the Firm
Offer Announcement Date, for and on behalf of the Offeror, of
the Offeror’s firm intention to undertake the Offer

“Firm Offer Announcement Date” : 3 February 2020, being the date of the Firm Offer
Announcement

“FY” : Financial year ended or ending, as the case may be, 31 May

“FY2017” : Financial year ended 31 May 2017

“FY2018” : Financial year ended 31 May 2018

“FY2019” : Financial year ended 31 May 2019

“Group” : The Company and its subsidiaries

“Independent Directors” : The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes
of the Offer, being all the Directors

“Independent Financial Adviser” : Provenance Capital Pte. Ltd., the independent financial adviser 
or “IFA” to the Independent Directors in connection with the Offer 

“IFA Letter” : Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 11.1 of this Circular

“Interested Person” : As defined in Note on Rule 24.6 of the Code and read with Note
on Rule 23.12 of the Code, an interested person, in relation to a
company, is:

(a) a director, chief executive officer, or Substantial
Shareholder of the company;

(b) the immediate family of a director, the chief executive
officer, or a Substantial Shareholder (being an individual)
of the company;

(c) the trustees, acting in their capacity as such trustees, of
any trust of which a director, the chief executive officer, or
a Substantial Shareholder (being an individual) and his
immediate family is a beneficiary;

(d) any company in which a director, the chief executive
officer, or a Substantial Shareholder (being an individual)
together and his immediate family together (directly or
indirectly) have an interest of 30% of more;

(e) any company that is the subsidiary, holding company or
fellow subsidiary of the Substantial Shareholder (being a
company); or
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(f) any company in which a Substantial Shareholder (being a
company) and any of the companies listed in (e) above
together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or
more

“Latest Practicable Date” : 21 February 2020, being the latest practicable date prior to the
printing of this Circular

“Listing Manual” : The Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, as amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time up to the Latest Practicable
Date

“Market Day” : A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading of securities

“MYR” : Malaysian ringgit, being the currency of Malaysia

“New Lease” : The new lease to be entered into between TEE Industrial and
the Company upon completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal for
certain premises at the TEE Building where the Company is
currently operating at

“Offer” : The mandatory unconditional cash offer made by the Financial
Adviser, for and on behalf of the Offeror, to acquire all the Offer
Shares on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the
Offer Document, the FAA and/or the FAT, as such offer may be
amended, extended and revised from time to time by or on
behalf of the Offeror

“Offer Document” : The offer document dated 21 February 2020, including the FAA
and FAT, and any supplemental documents as may be issued by
or on behalf of the Offeror from time to time

“Offer Price” : S$0.179 in cash for each Offer Share

“Offer Shares” : All the Shares other than those already owned, controlled or
agreed to be acquired by the Concert Group of the Offeror

“Offeror” : Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd.

“Offeror Securities” : Ordinary shares in the capital of the Offeror, equity share capital
of the Offeror and other securities which carry substantially the
same rights in the Offeror, and convertible securities, warrants,
options and derivatives in respect of such shares or securities

“Overseas Shareholders” : Shareholders whose addresses are outside Singapore, as
shown on the Register or, as the case may be, in the records of
the CDP

“Parties” : The Sellers and the Offeror

“Pre-Conditional Offer : The announcement issued by the Financial Adviser, for and on 
Announcement” behalf of the Offeror, on the Pre-Conditional Offer

Announcement Date in relation to the pre-conditional mandatory
cash offer for all the Offer Shares

“Pre-Conditional Offer : 13 January 2020, being the date of the Pre-Conditional Offer 
Announcement Date” Announcement

“Register” : The register of holders of Shares, as maintained by the Registrar
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“Registrar” : B.A.C.S. Private Limited, which is located at 8 Robinson Road,
#03-00 ASO Building, Singapore 048544

“Relevant Period” : The period commencing on 13 July 2019, being the date falling
six months prior to the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement
Date, and ending on the Latest Practicable Date

“Sale and Purchase Agreements” : The conditional sale and purchase agreements entered into
between the Parties on 13 January 2020

“Securities Account” : The securities account maintained by a Depositor with CDP but
does not include a securities sub-account

“Sellers” : TEE International and Phua Chian Kin

“SFA” : The Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore

“SGX-ST” : The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

“SGXNET” : A system network used by listed companies to send information
and announcements to the SGX-ST or any other system
networks prescribed by the SGX-ST

“Shareholders” : Persons who are registered as holders of Shares in the Register
and Depositors who have Shares entered against their names in
the Depository Register

“Shares” : Issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company

“SRS” : The Supplementary Retirement Scheme

“SRS Investors” : Investors who have purchased Shares using their SRS
contributions pursuant to SRS

“Subject Properties” : The properties of the Group at the following locations:

(a) 183 Upper Thomson Road, #B1-01/02/03/04/05 and 
#01-01/02/03/04/05, 183 Longhaus, Singapore 574429;

(b) 11 Sam Leong Road, TRIO, Singapore 207903;

(c) 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591;

(d) 1 Seraya Crescent Singapore 575811; 

(e) 35 Gilstead Road Singapore 309079; 

(f) Larmont Sydney by Lancemore and Office Suites, 2-14
Kings Cross Road, Potts Point, NSW;

(g) 160 Changi Road, Hexacube, Singapore 419728; and

(h) 15-21 Main South Road and 29 Ballantyne Avenue, Upper
Riccarton, Christchurch

“Substantial Shareholder” : A person who has an interest in not less than 5% of the total
number of issued voting Shares

“S$” and “cents” : Singapore dollars and cents respectively, being the currency of
Singapore
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“TEE Building” : 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591

“TEE Industrial” : TEE Industrial Pte. Ltd.

“TEE Industrial Disposal” : The proposed disposal by the Company of the one (1) ordinary
share, representing the entire issued and paid-up share capital
of TEE Industrial, to TEE International

“TEE International” : TEE International Limited

“Third Avenue” : PT 12059, Jalan Teknokrat 3, Cyber 4, Cyberjaya Dengkil,
Sepang, Selangor Darul Ehsan

“TSA” : The transitional services agreement dated 3 February 2020
entered into between the Company and TEE International for
TEE International to provide certain transitional services

“Valuation Reports and/or : The valuation reports and/or Certificates issued by the Valuers in
Certificates” respect of the Subject Properties in connection with the Offer, as

set out in Appendix G to this Circular

“Valuers” : The Valuers are: 

(a) Jones Lang LaSalle Property Consultants Pte Ltd; 

(b) Suntec Real Estate Consultants Pte Ltd; 

(c) Savills Valuations Pty Ltd; 

(d) Savills (NZ) Limited; and

(e) Savills Valuation and Professional Services (S) Pte Ltd,

being the independent valuers appointed by the Company for the
purposes of carrying out the valuation of the Subject Properties
in connection with the Offer

“%” or “per cent.” : Per centum or percentage

Acting in Concert and Associates. Unless otherwise defined, the expressions “acting in concert” and
“associates” shall have the same meanings as ascribed to them respectively in the Code.

Announcements and notices. References to the making of an announcement or the giving of notice by
the Company shall include the release of an announcement by the Company or its agents, for and on
behalf of the Company, to the press or the delivery of or transmission by telephone, telex, facsimile,
SGXNET or otherwise of an announcement to the SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise than to
the SGX-ST shall be notified to the SGX-ST simultaneously.

Capitalised Terms in Extracts. Statements which are reproduced in their entirety from the Offer
Document, the IFA Letter, the Constitution and the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates are set out in
this Circular within quotes and italics, and capitalised terms used within these reproduced statements and
not defined herein shall bear the same meanings as attributed to them in the Offer Document, the IFA
Letter, the Constitution and the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates respectively.

Depository Related Terms. The terms “Depositor”, “Depository Agent” and “Depository Register”
shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 81SF of the SFA.

Expressions. Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa.
Words importing a single gender shall, where applicable, include any or all genders. References to
persons shall, where applicable, include corporations.
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Headings. The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in
construing this Circular.

Rounding. Any discrepancies in the figures in this Circular between the listed amounts and the totals
thereof are due to rounding. Accordingly, the figures shown as totals in this Circular may not be an
arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

Shareholders. References to “you”, “your” and “yours” in this Circular are, as the context so determines,
to Shareholders.

Statutes. Any reference in this Circular to any enactment or statutory provision is a reference to that
enactment or statutory provision as for the time being amended or re-enacted, unless the context
otherwise requires. Any word defined under the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or
any modification thereof and not otherwise defined in this Circular shall, where applicable, have the same
meaning as ascribed to it under the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or any
statutory modification thereof, as the case may be, unless the context otherwise requires.

Subsidiary and Related Corporation. The terms “subsidiary” and “related corporation” shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in Sections 5 and 6 of the Companies Act respectively.

Time and Date. Any reference to a time of day and date in this Circular is made by reference to
Singapore time and date respectively unless otherwise stated.

Total number of Shares and Percentage as at the Latest Practicable Date. In this Circular, the total
number of Shares is a reference to a total of 446,876,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable
Date based on a search conducted at the ACRA, unless the context otherwise requires. Unless otherwise
specified, all references to a percentage shareholding in the capital of the Company in this Circular are
based on 446,876,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date based on a search conducted at
the ACRA.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Circular are or may be forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those using words such as
“aim”, “seek”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “intend”, “project”, “plan”, “strategy”,
“forecast” and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “if”, “will”, “would”, “should”,
“could”, “may” and “might”. These statements reflect the Company’s current expectations, beliefs, hopes,
intentions or strategies regarding the future and assumptions in light of currently available information.
Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those
described in such forward-looking statements. Shareholders should not place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements, and neither the Company nor the IFA guarantees any future performance or
event, or undertakes any obligation to update publicly or revise any forward looking statements, subject to
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and/or the rules of the SGX-ST and/or any other
regulatory or supervisory body or agency.
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INDICATIVE TIMELINE

Date of despatch of the Offer Document : 21 February 2020

Date of despatch of this Circular : 4 March 2020

Closing Date : 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 20 March 2020.

Date of settlement of consideration for valid : In respect of acceptances which are valid and 
acceptances of the Offer complete in all respects and in accordance with the

instructions and requirements stated in the Offer
Document, within seven (7) Business Days after the
receipt of such acceptances.

Please refer to Section 2 of Appendix A of the Offer
Document for further information.
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TEE LAND LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number: 201230851R)

Directors: Registered Office:

Er. Dr. Lee Bee Wah, Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director 25 Bukit Batok Street 22
Mr. Phua Cher Chew, Executive Director and CEO TEE Building
Dr. Tan Khee Giap, Independent Director Singapore 659591
Mr. Chin Sek Peng, Independent Director
Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Neo Weng Meng, Edwin, Non-Executive Director

4 March 2020

To: Shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir/Madam,

MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER BY THE FINANCIAL ADVISER, FOR AND ON
BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR, FOR THE OFFER SHARES

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement and Firm Offer Announcement

On the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date, the Financial Adviser, for and on behalf of the
Offeror, announced, inter alia, that the Offeror had on 13 January 2020 entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreements with the Sellers to acquire an aggregate of 307,371,268 Shares (“Sale
Shares”) representing approximately 68.78% of the total issued Shares, held by the Sellers
(“Acquisition”) at the price of S$0.179 per Sale Share, for an aggregate cash consideration of
S$55,019,456.97.

Completion under the Sale and Purchase Agreements (“Completion”) was subject to the fulfilment
(or waiver) of the Conditions Precedent by 13 April 2020 or such other date as the Parties may
agree in writing. On the Firm Offer Announcement Date, the Financial Adviser announced, for and
on behalf of the Offeror, the fulfilment of all the Conditions Precedent to the Sale and Purchase
Agreements, and that Completion had taken place.

In view of Completion, the Financial Adviser announced on the Firm Offer Announcement Date, for
and on behalf of the Offeror, that the Offeror intends to make an Offer in accordance with Rule 14
of the Code for all the Offer Shares.

A copy of each of the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement and Firm Offer Announcement are
available on the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com. 

1.2 Offer Document

Shareholders should have by now received a copy of the Offer Document, as announced by the
Financial Adviser, for and on behalf of the Offeror, which was despatched on 21 February 2020,
setting out, inter alia, the terms and conditions of the Offer. The principal terms and conditions of
the Offer are set out on pages 10 and 11 of the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to
read the terms and conditions of the Offer set out in the Offer Document carefully.

A copy of the Offer Document is available on the website of the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com.
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1.3 Purpose of this Circular

The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with relevant information pertaining to the
Company and the Offer, the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors and the
recommendation of the Independent Directors with regard to the Offer.

Shareholders should read the Offer Document, this Circular and the IFA Letter carefully and
consider the recommendation of the Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA to the
Independent Directors on the Offer before deciding on whether to accept or reject the Offer.
If you are in any doubt in relation to this Circular or as to the action you should take, you
should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other
professional adviser immediately.

2. THE OFFER

2.1 Terms of the Offer

The Offer is made by the Financial Adviser, for and on behalf of the Offeror, on the principal terms
set out in Section 2 of the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below. Unless otherwise
defined, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Offer Document.

“2. THE OFFER 

2.1 Offer. Subject to the terms and conditions set out in this Offer Document, MKES, for and
on behalf of the Offeror, hereby makes the Offer to acquire all the Shares, other than those
already owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror, its related corporations
and their respective nominees (the “Offer Shares”), in accordance with Section 139 of the
SFA and Rule 14 of the Code. 

2.2 Offer Price.

For each Offer Share: S$0.179 in cash (the “Offer Price”)

The Offeror DOES NOT intend to increase the Offer Price. Therefore, in accordance with
Rule 20.2 of the Code, the Offeror will not be allowed to subsequently amend the terms of
the Offer, including the Offer Price, in any way.

Offer Shares. The Offer is extended, on the same terms and conditions, for all the Offer
Shares. For the avoidance of doubt, the Offer is extended, on the same terms and
conditions, to all Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by parties acting or
deemed to be acting in concert with the Offeror (other than its related corporations and
their respective nominees) in connection with the Offer. For the purpose of the Offer, the
expression “Offer Shares” shall include such Shares.

2.3 No Encumbrances. The Offer Shares will be acquired:

(a) fully paid-up;

(b) free from all Encumbrances; and 

(c) together with all rights, benefits and entitlements attached thereto as at the Pre-
Conditional Offer Announcement Date and hereafter attaching thereto, including but
not limited to the right to receive and retain all dividends, rights, returns of capital and
other distributions (if any) which may be announced, declared, made or paid thereon
by the Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date.
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If any dividend, right, return of capital or other distribution is announced, declared,
paid or made by the Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement
Date, the Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Offer Price by the amount of such
dividend, right, return of capital or other distribution.

2.4 Unconditional Offer. The Offer is unconditional in all respects. Therefore, the Offer is not
conditional upon the level of acceptances which the Offeror may receive in respect of the
Offer. 

2.5 Warranty. A Shareholder who tenders his Offer Shares in acceptance of the Offer will be
deemed to have unconditionally and irrevocably warranted that he sells such Offer Shares
as or on behalf of the beneficial owner(s) thereof, (a) fully paid, (b) free from all
Encumbrances, and (c) together with all rights, benefits and entitlements attached thereto
as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date and thereafter attaching thereto
(including the right to receive and retain all dividends, rights, returns of capital and other
distributions (if any) which may be announced, declared, made or paid thereon by the
Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date). 

2.6 Details of the Offer. Appendix A to this Offer Document sets out further details on (a) the
duration of the Offer; (b) the settlement of the consideration for the Offer; (c) the
requirements relating to the announcement of the level of acceptances of the Offer; and (d)
the right of withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer. 

2.7 Procedures for Acceptance. Appendix B to this Offer Document sets out the procedures
for acceptance of the Offer.”

2.2 Duration of the Offer

The duration of the Offer is set out in Section 1 of Appendix A of the Offer Document, extracts of
which are set out below. 

“APPENDIX A – DETAILS OF THE OFFER

1. DURATION OF THE OFFER 

1.1 Closing Date. Pursuant to Rule 22.3 of the Code, except insofar as the Offer is withdrawn
with the consent of the SIC and every person released from any obligation incurred
thereunder, the Offer will remain open for acceptances by Shareholders for a period of at
least twenty-eight (28) days after the Despatch Date. 

The Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. on the Closing Date. The Offeror will not extend the
Offer beyond the Closing Date. Accordingly, notice is hereby given that acceptances
of the Offer received after 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date will be
rejected. 

1.2 Revision. The Offeror does not intend to revise the Offer Price.”

2.3 Details of the Offer

The details of the Offer relating to (a) the settlement of the consideration for the Offer; (b) the
requirements relating to the accouncement of the level of acceptances of the Offer; and (c) the
right of the withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer are set out in Sections 2, 3 and 4 of Appendix A
of the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below.

“APPENDIX A – DETAILS OF THE OFFER

2. SETTLEMENT 

Subject to the receipt by the Offeror of valid acceptances, complete in all respects and in
accordance with the instructions given in this Offer Document, the FAA, the FAT and/or the
terms and conditions for Electronic Acceptance (as the case may be) and in the case of a
Depositor, the receipt by the Offeror of confirmation satisfactory to it that the relevant
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number of Offer Shares are standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of the Depositor’s
Securities Account at the relevant time(s), remittances in the form of S$ cheques or S$
cashier’s order drawn on a bank in Singapore for the appropriate amounts will be
despatched, pursuant to Rule 30 of the Code, to the accepting Shareholder (or, in the case
of a Shareholder holding share certificate(s) which is/ are not deposited with CDP, his
designated agent (if any)) by ordinary post and at the risk of the accepting Shareholder or
in such manner as he may have agreed with CDP for payment of any cash distribution as
soon as practicable but in any event within seven (7) Business Days of the date of such
receipt.

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

3.1 Timing and Contents. Pursuant to Rule 28.1 of the Code, by 8.00 a.m. (Singapore time)
on the dealing day (“Relevant Day”) immediately after the day on which the Offer is due to
expire, or is revised or extended (if applicable), the Offeror will announce and
simultaneously inform the SGX¬ST of the total number of Shares (as nearly as practicable): 

(a) for which valid acceptances of the Offer have been received; 

(b) held by the Offeror and any party acting in concert with it before the Offer Period;
and

(c) acquired or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and any party acting in concert with
it during the Offer Period, 

and will specify the percentages of the total number of issued Shares represented by such
numbers. 

3.2 Suspension. Under Rule 28.2 of the Code, if the Offeror is unable, within the time limit, to
comply with any of the requirements of paragraph 3.1 above, the SIC will consider
requesting the SGX-ST to suspend dealings in the Shares until the relevant information is
given. 

3.3 Announcements. In this Offer Document, references to the making of any announcement
or the giving of a notice by the Offeror include the release of an announcement by MKES or
advertising agents, for and on behalf of the Offeror, to the press or the delivery of or
transmission by telephone or facsimile or SGXNET or otherwise of an announcement to the
SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise than to the SGX-ST shall be notified
simultaneously to the SGX-ST. 

3.4 Valid Acceptances for Offer Shares. In computing the number of Offer Shares
represented by acceptances, the Offeror will at the time of making an announcement take
into account acceptances which are valid in all respects. 

4. RIGHT OF WITHDRAWAL 

4.1 Acceptances Irrevocable. Except as expressly provided in this Offer Document and the
Code, acceptances of the Offer shall be irrevocable. 

4.2 Right of Withdrawal. If the Offeror fails to comply with any of the requirements of Rule
28.1 of the Code by 3.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Relevant Day, then immediately
thereafter:

(a) any Shareholder holding Offer Shares which are deposited with CDP and accepting
the Offer will be entitled to withdraw his acceptance by written notice to Amcorp
Supreme Pte. Ltd., c/o The Central Depository (Pte) Limited, 11 North Buona Vista
Drive, #01-19/20, The Metropolis Tower 2, Singapore 138589; and
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(b) any Shareholder holding Offer Shares which are not deposited with CDP and
accepting the Offer will be entitled to withdraw his acceptance by written notice to
Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd., c/o B.A.C.S. Private Limited, 8 Robinson Road, #03-00
ASO Building, Singapore 048544. 

Such notice of withdrawal shall be effective only if signed by the accepting Shareholder or
his agent duly appointed in writing and evidence of whose appointment is produced in a
form satisfactory to the Offeror within the said notice and when actually received by the
Offeror.”

2.4 Procedures for Acceptance

The procedures for acceptance are set out in Appendix B of the Offer Document, extracts of which
are set out below.

“APPENDIX B – PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER

1. PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER

1.1 Depositors

1.1.1 Depositors whose Securities Accounts are credited with Offer Shares. If you
have Offer Shares standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of your Securities
Account, you should receive this Offer Document together with a FAA. If you do not
receive a FAA, you may obtain a copy, upon production of satisfactory evidence that
you are a Shareholder, from CDP at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20, The
Metropolis Tower 2, Singapore 138589. Electronic copies of the FAA may also be
obtained on the website of the SGX-ST at http://www.sgx.com.

Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of all or any of your Offer
Shares, you should:

(a) complete the FAA in accordance with this Offer Document and the instructions
printed on the FAA. In particular, you must state in Part A on page 1 of the
FAA the number of Offer Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the
Offer. If you:

(i) do not specify such number; or

(ii) specify a number which exceeds the number of Offer Shares standing to
the credit of the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account as at the
Date of Receipt or, in the case where the Date of Receipt is on the
Closing Date, as at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date
(provided always that the Date of Receipt is on or before the
Closing Date),

you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of all the Offer
Shares already standing to the credit of the “Free Balance” of your Securities
Account as at the Date of Receipt or in the case where the Date of Receipt
is on the Closing Date, as at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing
Date (if the FAA is received by CDP on the Closing Date);

(b) if paragraph 1.1.1(a)(ii) above applies and at the time of verification by CDP of
the FAA on the Date of Receipt, there are outstanding settlement instructions
with CDP to receive further Offer Shares into the “Free Balance” of your
Securities Account (“Unsettled Buy Position”), and the Unsettled Buy
Position settles such that the Offer Shares in the Unsettled Buy Position are
transferred to the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account at any time during
the period the Offer is open, up to 5.30 p.m. on the Closing Date (“Settled
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Shares”), you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of the
balance number of Offer Shares inserted in Part A of the FAA which have not
yet been accepted pursuant to paragraph 1.1.1(a)(ii) above, or the number of
Settled Shares, whichever is less;

(c) sign the FAA in accordance with this paragraph 1.1 and the provisions and
instructions printed on the FAA; and

(d) deliver the duly completed and signed original of that FAA in its entirety (no
part may be detached or otherwise mutilated):

(i) by hand to Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o The Central Depository (Pte)
Limited at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20, The Metropolis Tower
2, Singapore 138589; or

(ii) by post, in the enclosed pre-addressed envelope at your own risk, to
Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o The Central Depository (Pte) Limited at
Robinson Road Post Office, P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934,

in each case so as to arrive not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on
the Closing Date. If the completed and signed FAA is delivered by post to the
Offeror, please use the pre-addressed envelope which is enclosed with the
FAA. It is your sole responsibility to affix adequate postage on the said
envelope for posting.

If you have sold or transferred all your Offer Shares held through CDP, you need not
forward this Offer Document and the accompanying FAA to the purchaser or
transferee, as CDP will arrange for a separate Offer Document and FAA to be sent to
the purchaser or transferee.

If you are a Depository Agent, you may accept the Offer via Electronic Acceptance.
CDP has been authorised by the Offeror to receive such Electronic Acceptances on
its behalf and such Electronic Acceptances must be submitted not later than 5.30
p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date. Such Electronic Acceptances submitted
will be deemed irrevocable and subject to each of the terms and conditions
contained in the FAA and this Offer Document as if the FAA had been duly
completed, signed in its originality and delivered to CDP.

1.1.2 Depositors whose Securities Accounts will be credited with Offer Shares. If you
have purchased Offer Shares on the SGX-ST and such Offer Shares are in the
process of being credited to the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account, you
should also receive this Offer Document together with a FAA. If you do not receive a
FAA, you may obtain a copy, upon production of satisfactory evidence that you are a
Shareholder or have purchased the Offer Shares on the SGX-ST (as the case may
be), from CDP at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01- 19/20, The Metropolis Tower 2,
Singapore 138589.

Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of all or any of your Offer
Shares, you should, after the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account has been
credited with such number of Offer Shares purchased:

(a) complete and sign the FAA in accordance with this paragraph 1.1 and the
provisions and instructions printed on the FAA; and
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(b) deliver the duly completed and signed original of that FAA in its entirety (no
part may be detached or otherwise mutilated):

(i) by hand to Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o The Central Depository (Pte)
Limited at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20, The Metropolis Tower
2, Singapore 138589; or

(ii) by post, in the enclosed pre-addressed envelope at your own risk, to
Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o The Central Depository (Pte) Limited at
Robinson Road Post Office, P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934,

in each case so as to arrive not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on
the Closing Date. If the completed and signed FAA is delivered by post to the
Offeror, please use the pre-addressed envelope which is enclosed with the
FAA. It is your sole responsibility to affix adequate postage on the said
envelope for posting.

1.1.3 Rejection. If upon receipt by CDP, on behalf of the Offeror, of the FAA, it is
established that such Offer Shares have not been or will not be credited to the “Free
Balance” of your Securities Account (for example, where you sell or have sold such
Offer Shares), your acceptance is liable to be rejected. None of the Offeror, MKES or
CDP, (or, for the avoidance of doubt, any of the Offeror’s related corporations)
accepts any responsibility or liability in relation to such rejections, including the
consequences thereof.

If you purchase Offer Shares on the SGX-ST on a date close to the Closing Date,
your acceptance in respect of such Offer Shares is liable to be rejected if the “Free
Balance” of your Securities Account is not credited with such Offer Shares by the
Date of Receipt or by 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date (if the FAA is
received by CDP on the Closing Date), unless paragraph 1.1.1(a)(ii) read together
with paragraph 1.1.1(b) of this Appendix B apply. If the Unsettled Buy Position does
not settle by 5.30 p.m. on the Closing Date, your acceptance in respect of such Offer
Shares will be rejected. None of the Offeror, MKES and CDP accepts any
responsibility or liability in relation to such a rejection, including the consequences
thereof.

1.1.4 Depositors whose Securities Accounts are and will be credited with Offer
Shares. If you have Offer Shares credited to the “Free Balance” of your Securities
Account, and have purchased additional Offer Shares on the SGX-ST which are in
the process of being credited to the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account, you
may accept the Offer in respect of the Offer Shares standing to the credit of the “Free
Balance” of your Securities Account and may accept the Offer in respect of the
additional Offer Shares purchased which are in the process of being credited to the
“Free Balance” of your Securities Account only AFTER the “Free Balance” of your
Securities Account has been credited with such additional number of Offer Shares
purchased.

1.1.5 General. No acknowledgement will be given by CDP for submissions of the FAA
made by hand or by post to CDP or deposited into boxes located at CDP’s premises.
All communications, notices, documents and payments to be delivered or sent to you
will be sent by ordinary post at your own risk to your address as it appears in the
records of CDP. For reasons of confidentiality, CDP will not entertain telephone
enquiries relating to the number of Offer Shares credited to your Securities Account.
You can verify such number in your Securities Account: (i) through CDP Online if you
have registered for the CDP Internet Access Service; or (ii) through the CDP Phone
Service using SMS OTP, under the option “To check your securities balance”.
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1.1.6 Blocked Balance. Upon receipt of the FAA which is complete and valid in all
respects, CDP will transfer the Offer Shares in respect of which you have accepted
the Offer from the “Free Balance” of your Securities Account to the “Blocked Balance”
of your Securities Account. Such Offer Shares will be held in the “Blocked Balance”
until the consideration for such Offer Shares has been despatched to you.

1.1.7 Notification. Upon the Offeror’s despatch of consideration for the Offer Shares in
respect of which you have accepted the Offer, CDP will send you a notification letter
stating the number of Offer Shares debited from your Securities Account together
with payment of the aggregate Offer Price in respect of such Offer Shares by way of
a S$ crossed cheque drawn on a bank in Singapore for the appropriate amount, or in
such other manner as you may have agreed with CDP for the payment of any cash
distributions, in each case at your own risk, as soon as practicable and in any event,
in respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete and valid in all respects
and are received on or before the Closing Date, within seven Business Days of the
Date of Receipt.

1.1.8 Return of Offer Shares. In the event that the Offer is lapsed or withdrawn, CDP will
transfer the aggregate number of Offer Shares in respect of which you have
accepted the Offer and tendered for acceptance under the Offer to the “Free
Balance” of your Securities Account as soon as possible but, in any event, within 14
days from the lapse or withdrawal of the Offer.

1.1.9 No Securities Account. If you do not have any existing Securities Account in your
own name at the time of acceptance of the Offer, your acceptance as contained in
the FAA will be rejected.

1.2 Scrip Holders

1.2.1 Shareholders whose Offer Shares are not deposited with CDP. If you hold Offer
Shares which are not deposited with CDP, you should receive this Offer Document
together with a FAT. If you do not receive a FAT, you may obtain a copy, upon
production of satisfactory evidence that you are a Shareholder, from the Share
Registrar, at its office located at 8 Robinson Road, #03-00 ASO Building, Singapore
048544.

1.2.2 Acceptance. If you wish to accept the Offer in respect of all or any of your Offer
Shares, you should:

(a) complete the FAT in accordance with this Offer Document and the provisions
and instructions printed on the FAT. In particular, you must state in Part A of
the FAT the number of Offer Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the
Offer and state in Part B of the FAT the share certificate number(s) of the
relevant share certificate(s). If you:

(i) do not specify such number in Part A of the FAT; or

(ii) specify a number in Part A of the FAT which exceeds the number of
Offer Shares represented by the attached share certificate(s)
accompanying the FAT,

you shall be deemed to have accepted the Offer in respect of the total number
of Offer Shares represented by the share certificate(s) accompanying the FAT;

(b) sign the FAT in accordance with this Appendix B and the instructions printed
on the FAT;
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(c) not date the FAT or insert the name of the Offeror. This will be done on your
behalf by the Offeror, or any person nominated in writing by the Offeror or a
person authorised by either; and

(d) deliver:

(i) the completed and signed original of that FAT in its entirety (no part may
be detached or otherwise mutilated);

(ii) the share certificate(s), other document(s) of title and/or other relevant
document(s) required by the Offeror and/or the Share Registrar relating
to the Offer Shares in respect of which you wish to accept the Offer. If
you are recorded in the Register as holding Offer Shares but you do not
have the relevant share certificate(s) relating to such Offer Shares, you,
at your own risk, are required to procure the Company to issue such
share certificate(s) in accordance with the constitution of the Company
and then deliver such share certificate(s) in accordance with the
procedures set out in this Offer Document and the FAT;

(iii) where such Offer Shares are not registered in your name, a transfer
form, duly executed by the person in whose name such Offer Shares
is/are registered and stamped, with the particulars of the transferee left
blank (to be completed by the Offeror, or any person nominated in
writing by the Offeror or a person authorised by either); and

(iv) any other relevant document(s),

either:

(1) by hand to Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 8
Robinson Road, #03-00 ASO Building, Singapore 048544, or

(2) by post, using the enclosed pre-addressed envelope at your own risk, to
Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 8 Robinson
Road, #03-00 ASO Building, Singapore 048544,

in each case so as to arrive not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on
the Closing Date. If the completed and signed FAT is delivered by post to the
Offeror, please use the pre-addressed envelope which is enclosed with the
FAT. It is your sole responsibility to affix adequate postage on the said
envelope for posting.

1.2.3 Receipt. No acknowledgement of receipt of any FAT, share certificate(s), other
document(s) of title, transfer form(s) and/or any other relevant document(s) will be
given by the Offeror or the Share Registrar.

1.2.4 Return of Offer Shares. In the event that the Offer is lapsed or withdrawn, the FAT,
share certificate(s) and/or any other accompanying document(s) will be returned to
you by ordinary post to the address as may be specified by you in the FAT, or if none
is specified, to you (or in the case of joint accepting Shareholders, to the joint
accepting Shareholder first-named in the Register) at the relevant address
maintained in the Register, by ordinary post at your own risk as soon as possible but,
in any event, not later than 14 days from the lapse or withdrawal of the Offer.
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2. GENERAL

2.1 Disclaimer. Each of the Offeror, MKES, CDP and/or the Share Registrar will be authorised
and entitled, in their sole and absolute discretion, to reject or treat as valid any acceptance
of the Offer through the FAA and/or FAT, as the case may be, which is not entirely in order
or which does not comply with the terms of this Offer Document and the relevant FAA
and/or FAT, as the case may be, or which is not accompanied by the relevant share
certificate(s), other document(s) of title and/or other relevant document(s) required by the
Offeror, MKES and/or the Share Registrar, or which is otherwise incomplete, incorrect,
unsigned, signed but not in its originality, or invalid in any respect. If you wish to accept the
Offer, it is your responsibility to ensure that the relevant FAA and/ or FAT are properly
completed and executed in all respects and submitted with original signature(s) and that all
required documents (where applicable) are provided. Any decision to reject or treat as valid
any acceptance will be final and binding and none of the Offeror (or, for the avoidance of
doubt, any of the Offeror’s related corporations), MKES, CDP and/or the Share Registrar
accepts any responsibility or liability for such a decision, including the consequences of
such a decision.

2.2 Discretion. The Offeror and MKES each reserves the right to treat acceptances of the
Offer as valid if received by or on behalf of either of them at any place or places determined
by them otherwise than as stated in this Offer Document or in the FAA and/or the FAT, as
the case may be, or if made otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of this Offer
Document and in the FAA and/or FAT, as the case may be. Any decision to reject or treat
such acceptances as valid will be final and binding and none of the Offeror (or, for the
avoidance of doubt, any of the Offeror’s related corporations), MKES, CDP and/or the
Share Registrar accepts any responsibility or liability for such a decision, including the
consequences of such a decision.

2.3 Scripless and Scrip Offer Shares. If you hold some Offer Shares with CDP and others in
scrip form, you should complete the FAA for the former and the FAT for the latter in
accordance with the respective procedures set out in this Appendix B and the respective
acceptance forms if you wish to accept the Offer in respect of such Offer Shares.

2.4 Acceptances received on Saturday, Sunday or public holiday. For the avoidance of
doubt, FAAs and/or FATs (as the case may be) received by the Offeror, MKES, CDP and/or
the Share Registrar (as the case may be) on a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday will only
be processed and validated on the next Business Day.

2.5 Deposit Time. If you hold Offer Shares which are not deposited with CDP, the Offer Shares
may not be credited to your Securities Account with CDP in time for you to accept the Offer
if you were to deposit your share certificate(s) with CDP after the Despatch Date. If you
wish to accept the Offer in respect of such Offer Shares, you should complete the FAT and
follow the procedures set out in paragraph 1.2 above.

2.6 Correspondences. All communications, certificates, notices, documents, payments and
remittances to be delivered or sent to you (or, in the case of scrip holders, your designated
agent or, in the case of joint accepting Shareholders who have not designated any agent,
to the one first named in the Register) will be sent by ordinary post to your respective
addresses as they appear in the records of CDP or the Share Registrar, as the case may
be, at the risk of the person entitled thereto (or for the purposes of remittances only, to
such different name and addresses as may be specified by you in the FAA and/or the FAT,
as the case may be, at your own risk).

2.7 Evidence of Title. Delivery of the duly completed and signed original of the FAA and/or the
duly completed and signed original of the FAT, as the case may be, together with the
relevant share certificate(s) and/or other document(s) of title and/or other relevant
document(s) required by the Offeror, to the Offeror (or its nominee) and/or CDP and/or the
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Share Registrar, shall be conclusive evidence in favour of the Offeror (or its nominee), CDP
and the Share Registrar of the right and title of the person(s) signing it to deal with the
same and with the Offer Shares to which it relates.

2.8 Loss in Transmission. The Offeror, MKES, CDP and/or the Share Registrar, as the case
may be, shall not be liable for any loss in transmission of the FAA and/or the FAT.

2.9 Acceptances Irrevocable. Except as expressly provided in this Offer Document and the
Code, the acceptance of the Offer made by you using the FAA and/or the FAT, as the case
may be, shall be irrevocable.

2.10 Personal Data Privacy. By completing and delivering a FAA and/or FAT, each person (i)
consents to the collection, use and disclosure of his personal data by the Share Registrar,
Securities Clearing and Computer Services (Pte) Ltd, CDP, CPF Board, the SGX-ST, the
Offeror, MKES and the Company (the “Authorised Persons”) for the purpose of facilitating
his acceptance of the Offer, and in order for the Authorised Persons to comply with any
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines; (ii) warrants that where he
discloses the personal data of another person, such disclosure is in compliance with
applicable law; and (iii) agrees that he will indemnify the Authorised Persons in respect of
any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of his breach of
warranty.”

2.5 Closing Date

Shareholders should note the Closing Date of 5:30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 20 March 2020.

Shareholders should note that the Offeror has no intention of extending the Offer beyond
5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date. Accordingly, the Offeror has given notice
that acceptances of the Offer received after 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date
will be rejected.

3. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND AMCORP

Section 3 of the Offer Document sets out certain information on the Offeror and Amcorp, extracts of
which are set out below. Additional information on the Offeror and Amcorp extracted from
Appendices C and D of the Offer Document is set out in Appendix C of this Circular.

“3. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS 

3.1 The Offeror. The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle incorporated under the laws of
Singapore on 27 June 2018 for the purpose of investment holding. Its sole shareholder is
Amcorp. The Offeror has not carried on any business since its incorporation, except for
matters in connection with the Acquisitions and the Offer. 

As at the Latest Practicable Date: 

(a) the Offeror has an issued and paid-up share capital of US$1.00 comprising 1
ordinary share; and 

(b) the directors of the Offeror are (i) Mr. Soo Kim Wai, (ii) Mr. Lum Sing Fai, and (iii) Ms.
Hooi Toong Wan.

Appendix C to this Offer Document sets out additional information on the Offeror. 

3.2 Amcorp. Amcorp is an investment holding company incorporated in Malaysia and
controlled by Tan Sri Azman Hashim via his Malaysia-incorporated private limited company,
Clear Goal. Amcorp’s primary focus is on financial services, property development, property
management and engineering. Its portfolio of investments includes interests in listed
companies AMMB Holdings Berhad (12.98%), RCE Capital Berhad (54.19%) and Amcorp
Properties Berhad (69.34%).

Appendix D to this Offer Document sets out additional information on Amcorp.”
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4. COMMERCIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH TEE INTERNATIONAL

Immediately after completion of the Acquisition, on 3 February 2020, the Company and TEE
Industrial entered into the following arrangements with TEE International and certain of its
subsidiaries. Section 5 of the Offer Document sets out the information on these arrangements,
extracts of which are set out below.

“5. COMMERCIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH TI

5.1 Commercial Arrangements with TI. Immediately after completion of the Acquisitions, on 3
February 2020, the Company and TEE Industrial, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the following arrangements with TI and certain of its subsidiaries:

(a) Disposal SPA. The Company and TI entered into the Disposal SPA to effect the
Disposal. TEE Industrial is the registered proprietor of the leasehold estate in TEE
Building. Other than the holding and leasing of TEE Building, TEE Industrial does not
have any other business.

Based on the valuation report by JLL that was commissioned by the Company dated
11 December 2019, the market value of TEE Building as at 30 November 2019 was
S$21.50 million (“TEE Building Valuation”). The TEE Building Valuation was made
using the direct comparison method and income capitalisation method.

Based on the management accounts, as at 30 November 2019, TEE Industrial, after
taking into account, inter alia, the TEE Building Valuation, an outstanding mortgage
loan of approximately S$15.78 million (“Mortgage Loan”) and outstanding payables
of approximately S$9.23 million owing to the Company, was in a negative net asset
position of approximately S$0.88 million.

In view of TEE Industrial’s negative net asset position, the Company disposed of TEE
Industrial to TEE International for a nominal amount of S$1. In addition, pursuant to
the Disposal SPA, on Disposal Completion, TI will repay or procure the repayment of
all outstanding payables owing by TEE Industrial to the Company as at Disposal
Completion less the negative net asset value of TEE Industrial, based on its latest
management accounts immediately prior to the Disposal Completion (taking into
account, inter alia, the TEE Building Valuation). The extent of the amount to be
deducted as the negative net asset value shall not exceed S$1.0 million.

The Disposal is conditional on, inter alia: (a) approval of shareholders of TI and the
Company; (b) discharge by TI (whether by refinancing or full repayment of all
outstanding amounts) of the Mortgage Loan; and (c) the independent financial
adviser to the Company opining that the terms of Disposal and the New Lease are
fair and reasonable so far as Shareholders are concerned in the context of Rule 10
of the Code.

In addition, PCK has provided an irrevocable undertaking to the Offeror and the
Company in respect of PCK’s TI Shares, representing approximately 45.42% of the
total number of issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of TI, to, among
others, vote, or procure the voting of, all of PCK’s TI Shares in favour of the Disposal
at the extraordinary general meeting of TI to be convened to seek the approval of
shareholders of TI for the Disposal (the “PCK Undertaking”).

Immediately after completion of the Acquisitions and concurrently with entry into the
Disposal SPA, TI also provided an irrevocable undertaking to the Offeror and the
Company that it will comply with all of the obligations of TEE Industrial specified by
JTC Corporation in connection with the Acquisitions and the Disposal.
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(b) Lease Extensions. TEE Industrial currently leases certain premises of TEE Building
to TI, PBT Engineering Pte. Ltd. and Trans Equatorial Engineering Pte. Ltd., wholly
owned subsidiaries of TI, and the Company. These leases are to be renewed on a
monthly basis, up to and including the date of completion of the Disposal (the “Lease
Extensions”).

(c) New Lease. On completion of the Disposal, TEE Industrial will enter into a new lease
with the Company in relation to the premises at TEE Building currently used by the
Company (the “New Lease”), being an area of approximately 8,052.8 square feet in
TEE Building, for S$17,716.16 per month (“Rental Rate”). The Rental Rate was
derived from the market rental of S$2.20 per square foot per month as concluded in
the rental valuation report by SREC dated 27 December 2019 commissioned by the
Company. In arriving at its opinion, SREC had taken into consideration the rental
rates of similar properties in the vicinity and made the necessary comparison and
adjustments before arriving at the Rental Rate. The New Lease will be at arm’s
length and have a term of six (6) months with an option to renew for a further term of
six (6) months.

(d) Transitional Services Agreement. Immediately after completion of the Acquisitions,
on 3 February 2020, the Company and TI entered into a transitional services
agreement (the “TSA”) in relation to certain transitional services to be provided by TI
to the Company. The services rendered under the TSA are charged at cost. The TSA
has a term of six (6) months with an option exercisable by the Company to extend
the term for a further six (6) months.

Further information on the Disposal SPA, the PCK Undertaking, the Lease Extensions, the
New Lease and the TSA are set out in the Company’s and TI’s announcements dated 3
February 2020, which are available on the website of the SGX-ST at http://www.sgx.com.

5.2 SIC Confirmation. The SIC has on 10 January 2020 confirmed that:

(a) the Lease Extensions do not constitute a special deal under Rule 10 of the Code;

(b) the Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA do not constitute a special deal under
Rule 10 of the Code, subject to the independent financial adviser to the Company
publicly stating in its opinion that the terms of these transactions are fair and
reasonable so far as Shareholders are concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the
Code; and

(c) the Disposal will not be regarded as a frustrating action under Rule 5 of the Code
requiring Shareholders’ approval.”

5. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER AND THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS RELATING TO THE
COMPANY

The full text of the rationale for the Offer and the Offeror’s intentions for the Company has been
extracted from Section 6 of the Offer Document, extracts of which are set out below. Shareholders
are advised to read the extracts below carefully and note the Offeror’s future plans for the
Company.

“6. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER AND THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS IN RELATION TO
THE COMPANY 

6.1 Compliance with the Code. As set out in Section 1 of this Offer Document, the Offeror is
making the Offer in compliance with the requirements of the Code. 



23

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

6.2 Offeror’s Intentions for the Company. Pursuant to the terms of the SPA with TI, TI shall
procure:

(i) the resignation of all of its representatives as directors, officers or employees of each
member of the Group; and 

(ii) the board of directors of each member of the Group to approve the appointment of
such persons as the Offeror may nominate as directors of such member of the
Group. 

On 3 February 2020, the Company announced the following resignations: 

(a) Phua Cher Chew, resigning as Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect
from 3 August 2020; 

(b) Phua Cher Chew, resigning as Executive Director of the Company with effect from
the date falling immediately after the despatch to Shareholders of the circular which
contains the views of the Independent Directors and the independent financial
adviser to the Independent Directors on the Offer (the “Company’s Offeree
Circular”);

(c) Dato Timothy Ong Teck Mong, resigning as Non-Executive Director of the Company
with effect from the date falling immediately after the despatch of the Company’s
Offeree Circular; and 

(d) Neo Weng Meng, Edwin, resigning as Non-Executive Director of the Company with
effect from the date falling immediately after the despatch of the Company’s Offeree
Circular. 

Further details of each of the aforementioned resignations are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 3 February 2020 and available on the website of the SGX-ST at
http://www.sgx.com. 

Save for the Disposal and as described in the foregoing, the Offeror presently has no
intention to (i) introduce any major changes to the business of the Company, (ii) re-deploy
the fixed assets of the Group, or (iii) discontinue the employment of the employees of the
Group, other than in the normal course of business. However, the Offeror retains the
flexibility at any time to consider any options or opportunities which may present
themselves and which the Offeror regards to be in the interests of the Offeror and/or the
Company. Following the close of the Offer, the Offeror will undertake a comprehensive
review of the businesses of the Company and the review will help the Offeror to determine
the optimal business strategy for the Company.”

6. LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY ACQUISITION

Section 7 of the Offer Document sets out the intentions of the Offeror relating to the listing status of
the Company and compulsory acquisition, extracts of which are set out below.

“7. LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY ACQUISITION 

7.1 Listing Status. Under Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual, upon an announcement by the
Offeror that acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer that bring the holdings
owned by the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it to above 90% of the total number
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares), the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of the
Shares on the SGX-ST until such time when it is satisfied that at least 10% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) are held by at least 500 Shareholders
who are members of the public. Under Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual, where the
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Offeror succeeds in garnering acceptances exceeding 90% of the total number of issued
Shares (excluding treasury shares), thus causing the percentage of the total number of
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands to fall below 10%, the SGX-
ST will suspend trading of the Shares only at the close of the Offer. 

In addition, under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the total number
of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands falls below 10%, the
Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact and the SGX-ST may suspend
the trading of all the Shares. Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual states that the SGX-ST may
allow the Company a period of three (3) months, or such longer period as the SGX-ST may
agree, to raise the percentage of Shares in public hands to at least 10%, failing which the
Company may be delisted from the SGX-ST. 

It is the current intention of the Offeror to maintain the listing status of the Company
on the SGX-ST following completion of the Offer. In the event that the percentage of
Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands falls below 10% and the
SGX-ST suspends trading of the Shares, the Offeror intends to undertake and/or
support any action as may be necessary for any such trading suspension by the
SGX-ST to be lifted. However, the Offeror reserves the right to re-evaluate its
position, taking into account, among other things, the level of acceptances received
by the Offeror and the prevailing market conditions at the relevant time. Accordingly,
there is no assurance that the Offeror will take steps to preserve the listing status of
the Company on the SGX-ST if the percentage of Shares (excluding treasury shares)
held in public hands falls below 10%.

If the Company loses its public float, the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of the
Shares. If the Offeror decides not to maintain the listing status of the Company on
the SGX-ST after the Company loses its public float, the SGX-ST will generally
consider waiving compliance imposed on a voluntary delisting1 if (a) the Offer is fair
and reasonable (and the independent financial adviser to the Company has opined
that the Offer is fair and reasonable), and (b) the Offeror has received acceptances
from independent Shareholders2 at the close of the Offer that represent a majority of
least 75% of the total number of issued Shares held by independent Shareholders.
The Offeror will make an announcement if it receives acceptances of the Offer in
respect of 75% of the total number of issued Shares held by independent
Shareholders. If the waiver conditions are not met and the Company wishes to
undertake a voluntary delisting, it will need to do so in accordance with Rule 1307 of
the Listing Manual. In the event the Company is unable to meet the conditions for a
voluntary delisting, the Company will be obliged to comply with the Listing Manual,
including the requirement to restore its public float (through private placement or
otherwise). Shareholders and investors should note there is the risk that the
Company may be subject to prolonged suspension should the free float be lost but
the requisite conditions for a delisting are not met. 

1 Under Rule 1307 of the Listing Manual, the SGX-ST may agree to an application to delist from the SGX-ST if:

(a) the issuer convenes a general meeting to obtain shareholder approval for the delisting; and 

(b) the resolution to delist the issuer has been approved by a majority of at least 75% of the total number of
issued shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings held by the shareholders present and
voting, on a poll, either in person or by proxy at the meeting. The offeror and parties acting in concert with
it must abstain from voting on the resolution. 

2 Independent Shareholders are Shareholders other than the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it. 
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7.2 Compulsory Acquisition. Pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, if the Offeror
receives valid acceptances of the Offer and/or acquires such number of Offer Shares from
the date of the despatch of the Offer Document otherwise than through valid acceptances
of the Offer in respect of not less than 90% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding
treasury shares and other than those already held by the Offeror, its related corporations or
their respective nominees as at the date of the Offer), the Offeror will be entitled to exercise
the right to compulsorily acquire all the Shares of Shareholders who have not accepted the
Offer (“Dissenting Shareholders”) on the same terms as those offered under the Offer.
Under Rule 1308(1)(b) of the Listing Manual, Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual
do not apply to a delisting pursuant to the Offer provided that the Offeror is exercising its
right of compulsory acquisition. Accordingly, independent Shareholders’ approval for the
delisting under Rule 1307 of the Listing Manual is not required in the event the Offeror
exercises its right of compulsory acquisition. 

As stated above, it is the current intention of the Offeror to maintain the listing status
of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror presently has no intention of exercising its
right of compulsory acquisition under Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, should
such right be available to it. However, as set out in Section 7.1 above, the Offeror
reserves the right to re-evaluate its position, taking into account, among other
things, the level of acceptances received by the Offeror and the prevailing market
conditions at the relevant time.

Dissenting Shareholders have the right under and subject to Section 215(3) of the
Companies Act, to require the Offeror to acquire their Shares at the Offer Price in the event
that the Offeror, its related corporations or their respective nominees acquire, pursuant to
the Offer, such number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by the Offeror, its
related corporations or their respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total
number of issued Shares. Dissenting Shareholders who wish to exercise such right are
advised to seek their own independent legal advice.”

7. FINANCIAL ASPECTS OF THE OFFER

Section 8 of the Offer Document sets out certain information on the financial aspects of the Offer,
extracts of which are set out below.

“8. FINANCIAL EVALUATION OF THE OFFER

Financial Evaluation. The Offer Price represents the following premia over the historical
transacted prices of the Shares on the SGX-ST: 

Premium over the 
Benchmark Price Benchmark Price 

Description (S$)(1) (%)(2)

0.1640 9.1 

0.1690 5.9 

0.1596 12.1 VWAP of the Shares for the 1-month period up to
and including the Last Full Trading Day 

Last transacted price per Share on 9 January 2020
prior to the trading halt on that day 

Last transacted price per Share on 8 January
2020(being the last full trading day on which the
Shares were traded on the SGX-ST prior to the
trading halt and the Pre-Conditional Offer
Announcement Date) (the “Last Full Trading Day”) 
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Premium over the 
Benchmark Price Benchmark Price 

Description (S$)(1) (%)(2)

0.1495 19.7 

0.1486 20.5 

0.1560 14.8

Notes: 

(1) Based on data extracted from Bloomberg L.P. and with the figures rounded to the nearest 4 decimal places. 

(2) Figures rounded to the nearest 1 decimal place.”

8. DISCLOSURES

Section 1 of Appendix F of the Offer Document sets out certain information relating to disclosure of
interests, extracts of which are set out below.

“APPENDIX F – GENERAL INFORMATION

1. DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS 

1.1 Holdings of Company Securities 

Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, based on the latest information
available to the Offeror, none of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it (including
Amcorp, Clear Goal and their respective directors and MKES), owns, controls or has
agreed to acquire any Company Securities. 

Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total Interest 

No. of No. of No. of 
Name Shares %(1) Shares %(1) Shares %(1)

Offeror 307,371,268 68.78 – – 307,371,268 68.78 

Amcorp (2) – – 307,371,268 68.78 307,371,268 68.78 

Clear Goal (2) – – 307,371,268 68.78 307,371,268 68.78 

Tan Sri Azman – – 307,371,268 68.78 307,371,268 68.78
Hashim (2) 

Notes: 

(1) Based on 446,876,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date. 

(2) The Offeror is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amcorp, which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of Clear
Goal. Tan Sri Azman Hashim is the controlling shareholder of Clear Goal. Accordingly, pursuant to Section
4(5) of the SFA, Amcorp, Clear Goal and Tan Sri Azman Hashim are deemed to be interested in the
307,371,268 Shares held by the Offeror. 

1.2 Dealings in Company Securities 

Save as disclosed below and in this Offer Document, as at the Latest Practicable Date,
none of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it has dealt for value in any Company
Securities during the period commencing six (6) months prior to the Pre-Conditional Offer
Announcement Date and ending on the Latest Practicable Date (the “Reference Period”). 

VWAP of the Shares for the 12-month period up to
and including the Last Full Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares for the 6-month period up to
and including the Last Full Trading Day

VWAP of the Shares for the 3-month period up to
and including the Last Full Trading Day



27

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

No. of Shares No. of Shares Transaction Price 
Name Date Acquired Disposed per Share (S$) 

Offeror 3 February 2020 307,371,268 (1) – 0.179

Note: 

(1) Being the Sale Shares which the Offeror acquired pursuant to the Acquisitions. 

1.3 Irrevocable Undertakings. As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it has received any irrevocable commitment to accept the
Offer. 

1.4 Indemnity Arrangements. As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in this
Offer Document, none of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it has entered into
any arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 7 on Rule 12 of the Code, including
indemnity or option arrangements and any arrangement or understanding, formal or
informal, of whatever nature, relating to the Company Securities, which may be an
inducement to deal or refrain from dealing in the Company Securities. 

1.5 Agreements having any Connection with or Dependence upon the Offer. As at the
Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in this Offer Document, there is no agreement,
arrangement or understanding between (a) any of the Offeror and parties acting in concert
with it, and (b) any of the present or recent Directors, or the present or recent
Shareholders, having any connection with or dependence upon the Offer. 

1.6 Agreements Conditional upon Outcome of Offer. As at the Latest Practicable Date, save
as disclosed in this Offer Document, there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding
between (a) any of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it, and (b) any of the
Directors or any other person, in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the
Offer or otherwise connected with the Offer. 

1.7 Encumbrances. The Sale Shares acquired by the Offeror pursuant to the Acquisitions
have been charged to RHB Bank Berhad, being the security agent, as part of the security
arrangements for the financing for the Offer. As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as
disclosed in this Offer Document, none of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it
has, in respect of any Company Securities, (i) granted any security interest over any
Company Securities to another person, whether through a charge, pledge or otherwise; (ii)
borrowed from another person any Company Securities (excluding borrowed securities
which have been on-lent or sold); or (iii) lent to another person any Company Securities. 

1.8 Transfer of Offer Shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there is no agreement,
arrangement or understanding whereby the Offer Shares acquired pursuant to the Offer will
or may be transferred to any other person. The Offeror, however, reserves the right to
transfer any of the Offer Shares to any of its current or future related corporations (as
defined in the Companies Act) or for the purpose of granting security in favour of financial
institutions which have extended credit facilities to it. 

1.9 Payment or Benefit to Directors. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there is no payment
or other benefit which will be made or given to any Director or to any director of any
corporation which is, by Section 6 of the Companies Act, deemed to be related to the
Company, as compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection with the Offer. 

1.10 No Material Change. Save as disclosed in this Offer Document, there has been no
material change in any information previously published by or on behalf of the Offeror
during the period commencing from the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date and
ending on the Latest Practicable Date.”
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9. CONFIRMATION OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Section 9 of the Offer Document sets out certain information on the confirmation of financial
resources, extracts of which are set out below.

“9. CONFIRMATION OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

MKES, as financial adviser to the Offeror in connection with the Offer, confirms that
sufficient financial resources are available to the Offeror to satisfy full acceptances of the
Offer for the Offer Shares on the basis of the Offer Price.”

10. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Details of the Directors including, inter alia, the Directors’ direct and deemed interests in the
Company Securities and Offeror Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out in
Appendix B of this Circular.

11. ADVICE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1 General

Shareholders should read and carefully consider the recommendations of the Independent
Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors dated 4 March 2020, which is set
out in Appendix A of this Circular (“IFA Letter“), before deciding whether to accept or reject the
Offer.

11.2 Independence of Directors

All of the Independent Directors consider themselves independent for the purposes of making a
recommendation on the Offer.

11.3 Advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors and Opinion of the IFA on the TEE Industrial
Disposal, New Lease and TSA

(a) IFA. Provenance Capital Pte. Ltd. has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to
advise the Independent Directors for the purposes of the Offer, TEE Industrial Disposal, New
Lease and TSA. Shareholders should consider carefully the recommendation of the
Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors before
deciding whether to accept or reject the Offer. The IFA’s advice is set out in its letter dated 4
March 2020, which is set out in Appendix A of this Circular.

(b) Factors taken into consideration by the IFA. In arriving at its recommendation, the IFA
has taken into account several key considerations, set forth in paragraphs 7, 9 and 10 of the
IFA Letter. Shareholders should read paragraphs 7, 9 and 10 of the IFA Letter in conjunction
with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter.

(c) Advice of the IFA. After having regard to the considerations set out in the IFA Letter, an
extract of which is set out below, and based on the circumstances of the Company and the
information as at the Latest Practicable Date, the IFA has made certain recommendations to
the Independent Directors. Shareholders should read the extract in conjunction with, and in
the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter. Unless otherwise defined or the context
otherwise requires, all terms and expressions used in the extract below shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the IFA Letter.

“10. OUR RECOMMENDATION TO THE DIRECTORS ON THE OFFER AND OUR OPINION
ON THE TEE INDUSTRIAL DISPOSAL, NEW LEASE AND TSA PURSUANT TO RULE 10
OF THE CODE

In arriving at our recommendation in respect of the Offer, we have taken into account,
reviewed and deliberated on the following key considerations which we considered to be
pertinent in our assessment of the Offer:

(a) Market quotation and trading activity of the Shares;
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(b) Financial analysis of the Group;

(c) Historical Share price performance compared to the reported NAV per Share;

(d) Comparison with precedent non-privatisation takeover offers of companies listed on
the SGX-ST;

(e) Comparison of valuation ratios of selected listed companies which are broadly
comparable to the Group;

(f) Dividend track record of the Company; and

(g) Other relevant considerations in relation to the Offer.

Based on our analysis and after having considered carefully the information
available to us as at the Latest Practicable Date, overall, we are of the view that the
financial terms of the Offer are fair and reasonable. Accordingly, we advise the
Directors to recommend Shareholders to ACCEPT the Offer.

Overall, based on our evaluation of the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New
Lease and the TSA, our understanding from Management of the commercial
arrangements with TI and the information made available to us as at the Latest
Practicable Date, we are of the opinion that the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal,
the New Lease and the TSA are fair and reasonable so far as the Shareholders are
concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the Code.

In rendering the above advice, we have not given regard to the specific investment
objectives, financial situation, tax position, risk profiles or particular needs and constraints
of any individual Shareholder. As each individual Shareholder may have different
investment objectives and profiles, we would advise that any individual Shareholder who
may require specific advice in relation to his investment objectives or portfolio should
consult his legal, financial, tax or other professional adviser immediately. The Directors
should advise Shareholders that the opinion and advice of Provenance Capital should not
be relied upon by any Shareholder as the sole basis for deciding whether or not to reject
the Offer.

Our recommendation on the Offer is addressed to the Directors for their benefit, in
connection with and for the purposes of their consideration of the Offer and may not be
used or relied on for any other purposes (other than for the purpose of the Offer) without
the prior written consent of Provenance Capital. The recommendation to be made by the
Directors to Shareholders in respect of the Offer shall remain the responsibility of the
Directors.

This Letter is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of Singapore, and is
strictly limited to the matters stated herein and does not apply by implication to any other
matter.”

11.4 Recommendations of the Independent Directors

The Independent Directors concur with the IFA’s assessment of the Offer and its advice thereon, as
set out in Section 11.3 of this Circular and in the IFA Letter. Accordingly, the Independent Directors
recommend that Shareholders ACCEPT the Offer.

In making the above recommendation, the Independent Directors have not had regard to the
general or specific investment objectives, financial situations, risk profiles, tax positions and/or
particular needs and constraints of any specific Shareholder. As different Shareholders would have
different investment profiles and objectives, the Independent Directors recommend that any specific
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Shareholder who may require specific advice in relation to his Shares should consult his
stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other professional advisers.

Shareholders should read and consider carefully this Circular, including the
recommendation of the Independent Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent
Directors as set out in Appendix A to this Circular in their entirety, before deciding whether
to accept or reject the Offer. Shareholders are also urged to read the Offer Document
carefully.

12. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS

12.1 Availability of Offer

The availability of the Offer to Shareholders whose addresses are outside Singapore, as shown on
the Register or in the Depository Register (as the case may be), being the Overseas Shareholders,
may be affected by the laws of the relevant overseas jurisdiction.

Overseas Shareholders should refer to Section 10 of the Offer Document, extracts of which are set
out below.

“10. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS 

10.1 Overseas Shareholders. The availability of the Offer to Shareholders whose mailing
addresses are outside Singapore, as appearing on the Register or, as the case may be, in
the records of CDP (each, an “Overseas Shareholder”) may be affected by the laws of the
relevant overseas jurisdictions. Accordingly, any Overseas Shareholder should inform
himself about and observe any applicable legal requirements in his own jurisdiction. Where
there are potential restrictions on sending this Offer Document, the FAA and/or the FAT to
any overseas jurisdiction, the Offeror reserves the right not to send this Offer Document,
the FAA and/or the FAT to any overseas jurisdiction. For the avoidance of doubt, the Offer is
made to all Shareholders holding Offer Shares, including those to whom the Offer
Document and the acceptance forms have not been, or will not be, sent. 

Copies of this Offer Document and any formal documentation relating to the Offer are not
being, and must not be, directly or indirectly, mailed or otherwise forwarded, distributed or
sent in or into or from any jurisdiction where the making of or the acceptance of the Offer
would violate the law of that jurisdiction (a “Restricted Jurisdiction”) and will not be
capable of acceptance by any such use, instrumentality or facility within any Restricted
Jurisdiction and persons receiving such documents (including custodians, nominees and
trustees) must not mail or otherwise forward, distribute or send them in or into or from any
Restricted Jurisdiction. 

The Offer (unless otherwise determined by the Offeror and permitted by applicable laws
and regulations) will not be made, directly or indirectly, in or into, or by the use of mails of,
or by any means or instrumentality (including, without limitation, telephonically or
electronically) of interstate or foreign commerce of, or any facility of a national, state or
other securities exchange of, any Restricted Jurisdiction, and the Offer will not be capable
of acceptance by any such use, means, instrumentality or facility. 

This Offer Document does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to
subscribe for or buy any security, nor is it a solicitation of any vote or approval in any
jurisdiction, nor shall there be any sale, issuance or transfer of the securities referred to in
this Offer Document in any jurisdiction in contravention of applicable law. The release,
publication or distribution of this Offer Document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by
law and therefore persons in any such jurisdictions into which this Offer Document is
released, published or distributed should inform themselves about and observe such
restrictions. 
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10.2 Copies of the Offer Document, the FAA and the FAT. Subject to compliance with
applicable laws, Shareholders (including Overseas Shareholders) may, nonetheless, attend
in person and obtain copies of this Offer Document, the FAA and the FAT, as the case may
be, and any related documents, during normal business hours and up to 5.30 p.m.
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date, from Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o The Central
Depository (Pte) Limited at 11 North Buona Vista Drive, #01-19/20, The Metropolis Tower 2,
Singapore 138589 (if he is a Depositor) or B.A.C.S. Private Limited, 8 Robinson Road, #03-
00 ASO Building, Singapore 048544 (if he is not a Depositor), as the case may be.
Alternatively, Shareholders (including Overseas Shareholders) may, subject to compliance
with applicable laws, write in to Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. c/o B.A.C.S. Private Limited at
the above-stated address to request that this Offer Document, the FAA or the FAT, as the
case may be, and any related documents be sent to an address in Singapore by ordinary
post at his own risk, up to five (5) Market Days prior to the Closing Date. 

10.3 Overseas Jurisdiction. It is the responsibility of an Overseas Shareholder who wishes to
(a) request for this Offer Document, the FAA and/or the FAT, or (b) accept the Offer, to
satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in that
connection, including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent which may be
required, and compliance with other necessary formalities or legal requirements and the
payment of any taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite payments due in such jurisdiction.
Such Overseas Shareholder shall be liable for any such taxes, imposts, duties or other
requisite payments payable and the Offeror, its related corporations, CDP, the Share
Registrar and any person acting on their behalf shall be fully indemnified and held harmless
by such Overseas Shareholder for any such taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite
payments as the Offeror, its related corporations, CDP, the Share Registrar and/or any
person acting on their behalf may be required to pay. In (a) requesting for this Offer
Document, the FAA and/or the FAT and any related documents, and/or (b) accepting the
Offer, the Overseas Shareholder represents and warrants to the Offeror that he is in full
observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in that connection, and that he is in full
compliance with all necessary formalities or legal requirements. 

Any Overseas Shareholder who is in doubt about his position should consult his
professional adviser in the relevant jurisdiction. 

10.4 Notice. The Offeror and MKES each reserves the right to notify any matter, including the
fact that the Offer has been made, to any or all Shareholders (including Overseas
Shareholders) by announcement to the SGX-ST or notice and if necessary, paid
advertisement in a daily newspaper published or circulated in Singapore, in which case,
such notice shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given notwithstanding any failure by
any Shareholder (including an Overseas Shareholder) to receive or see such
announcement, notice or advertisement.”

12.2 Copies of Circular

This Circular may not be sent to Overseas Shareholders due to potential restrictions on sending
such documents to the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Any affected Overseas Shareholder may,
nevertheless, obtain copies of this Circular during normal business hours up to the Closing Date,
from the Registrar, download a copy of this Circular from the website of the SGX-ST at
www.sgx.com, or make a request to the Registrar for this Circular to be sent to an address in
Singapore by ordinary post at his own risk, up to five Market Days prior to the Closing Date.
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13. INFORMATION PERTAINING TO CPFIS INVESTORS AND SRS INVESTORS

Section 11.3 of the Offer Document sets out information pertaining to CPFIS Investors and SRS
Investors, extracts of which are set out below:

“11.3 Information Pertaining to CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors. CPFIS Investors and
SRS Investors should receive further information on how to accept the Offer from their
respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks. CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors
are advised to consult their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks should
they require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the action they should
take, CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors should seek independent professional advice.
CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors who wish to accept the Offer are to reply to their
respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks by the deadline stated in the letter
from their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Agent Banks, which may be earlier than
the Closing Date. CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors will receive the Offer Price payable in
respect of their Offer Shares validly tendered in acceptance of the Offer through
appropriate intermediaries in their respective CPF investment accounts and SRS
investment accounts.”

14. ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer must do so not later than the Closing Date or such
later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror, abiding by the
procedures for the acceptance of the Offer as set out in Appendix B of the Offer Document, and in
the accompanying FAA and/or FAT.

Acceptances should be completed and returned as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to be
received, on behalf of the Offeror, by the CDP (in respect of the FAA) or the Registrar (in respect of
the FAT), as the case may be, not later than the Closing Date or such later date(s) as may be
announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror.

Shareholders who do not wish to accept the Offer need not take any further action in respect of
the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the FAT which have been sent to them.

15. CONSENTS

The IFA has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Circular with the
inclusion of the IFA Letter in Appendix A of this Circular and the references to its name in the form
and context in which it appears in this Circular.

Baker Tilly TFW LLP, named as the auditors of the Company, has given and has not withdrawn its
written consent to the issue of this Circular with the inclusion herein of the independent auditor’s
report in relation to the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2019 as set out in
Appendix D of this Circular, and the references to its name in the form and context in which it
appears in this Circular.

Each of the Valuers has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this
Circular with the inclusion of the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates in Appendix G of this
Circular, and the references to its name in the form and context in which it appears in this Circular.
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16. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Company’s registered office at 25 Bukit
Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591 during normal business hours from the date of
this Circular up to and including the date of the Closing Date:

(a) the Constitution of the Company;

(b) the annual reports of the Company for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019;

(c) the unaudited financial information of the Group for 2QFY2020 as set out in Appendix E of
this Circular;

(d) the IFA Letter as set out in Appendix A of this Circular;

(e) the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates set out in Appendix G of this Circular; and

(f) the letters of consent referred to in Section 15 of this Circular.

17. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors (including any who may have delegated detailed supervision of this Circular)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this
Circular (other than the IFA Letter, the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates, information extracted
from the Offer Document and information relating to the Offeror and Amcorp) and confirm after
making all reasonable inquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this Circular
constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the Group in the context of the Offer
and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in
this Circular misleading.

Where information in this Circular has been extracted or reproduced from published or otherwise
publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors
has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and correctly extracted from such
sources and/or reproduced in this Circular in its proper form and context.

18. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The attention of the Shareholders is also drawn to the Appendices which form part of this Circular.

Yours faithfully

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
TEE LAND LIMITED

Phua Cher Chew
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
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PROVENANCE CAPITAL PTE. LTD. 

(Company Registration Number: 200309056E) 
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 

96 Robinson Road #13-01 SIF Building 
Singapore 068899 

 
 

4 March 2020 
 
To: The Directors of TEE Land Limited  
 (who are all deemed independent in respect of the Offer) 

 
Er Dr Lee Bee Wah    (Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director) 
Mr Phua Cher Chew   (Executive Director and CEO) 
Dr Tan Khee Giap   (Independent Director) 
Mr Chin Sek Peng   (Independent Director) 
Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong  (Non-Executive Director) 
Mr Neo Weng Meng, Edwin   (Non-Executive Director) 

 
Dear Sirs/Mdm, 
 
MANDATORY UNCONDITIONAL CASH OFFER FOR TEE LAND LIMITED (“COMPANY”) 
 
Unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all terms used herein have the same 
meanings as defined in the circular to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) dated 4 
March 2020 (“Circular”). The latest practicable date as referred to in the Circular and for the purpose 
of this letter (“Letter”) is 21 February 2020 (“Latest Practicable Date”). 
  
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement 
 

On 13 January 2020 (“Pre-conditional Offer Announcement Date”), Maybank Kim Eng 
Securities Pte. Ltd. (“MKES”) announced, for and on behalf of Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. 
(“Offeror”), that the Offeror has entered into two conditional sale and purchase agreements 
("SPAs") with TEE International Limited ("TI") and Mr Phua Chian Kin (“Sellers”) for the 
purchase of an aggregate of 307,371,268 ordinary shares ("Sale Shares") in the capital of the 
Company, representing 68.78% of the total number of issued and paid-up ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company ("Shares"), for an aggregate cash consideration of 
S$55,019,456.97 ("Consideration"), being S$0.179 for each Sale Share ("Acquisitions").  
 
The completion of the Acquisitions (“Completion”) is to take place together and 
contemporaneously upon the fulfilment or waiver of certain conditions precedent (“Conditions 
Precedent”).  
 
Subject to the fulfilment or waiver of the Conditions Precedent, the Offeror will make a 
mandatory unconditional cash offer for all the Shares, other than those already owned, 
controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror (“Pre-Conditional Offer”), in accordance 
with Section 139 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (“SFA”) and Rule 
14 of the Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers ("Code").  
 
The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle wholly-owned by Amcorp Group Berhad (“Amcorp”), 
which is in-turn controlled by Tan Sri Azman Hashim. Amcorp holds interests in, inter alia, 
companies listed on Bursa Malaysia namely, AMMB Holdings Berhad, RCE Capital Berhad and 
Amcorp Properties Berhad. 
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1.2 Commercial arrangements with TI 
 

In connection with the Acquisitions, the Company and TEE Industrial Pte. Ltd. (“TEE 
Industrial”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, will upon Completion, enter into 
certain commercial arrangements with TI and certain of its subsidiaries. In brief, the commercial 
arrangements are as follows: 
 
(a) the sale of TEE Industrial to TI (“TEE Industrial Disposal”). TEE Industrial owns a 

property known as TEE Building which is leased to TI, two of its subsidiaries and to the 
Company. The purchase of TEE Industrial by TI is subject to, inter alia, approval from 
shareholders of the Company and TI at separate extraordinary general meetings 
(“EGMs”) to be convened. In respect of TI, Mr Phua Chian Kin has given his irrevocable 
undertaking to the Offeror and the Company to vote in favour of the purchase of TEE 
Industrial by TI in respect of his 45.42% shareholding interest in TI (“PCK Undertaking”); 
 

(b) the above existing leases will continue up to and including the date of completion of the 
TEE Industrial Disposal (“Lease Extensions”); 

 
(c) on completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal, TEE Industrial will enter into a new lease 

with the Company in relation to its existing premises leased by the Company at arm’s 
length for a term of 6 months, with an option to renew for a further term of 6 months (“New 
Lease”); and 

 
(d) the Company will immediately after the completion of the Acquisitions enter into a 

transitional services agreement (“TSA”) with TI in relation to certain transitional services 
to be provided by TI to the Company for a term of 6 months, with an option to extend for 
a further term of 6 months. The services rendered under the TSA will be charged at cost. 

 
The Securities Industry Council (“SIC”) had, on 10 January 2020, confirmed that: 
 
(i) the Lease Extensions do not constitute a special deal under Rule 10 of the Code; 

 
(ii) the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA do not constitute a special deal 

under Rule 10 of the Code, subject to the independent financial adviser (“IFA”) to the 
Company publicly stating in its opinion that the terms of these transactions are fair and 
reasonable so far as Shareholders are concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the Code; 

 
(iii) the TEE Industrial Disposal will not be regarded as a frustrating action under Rule 5 of 

the Code requiring Shareholders’ approval(1); and 
 
(iv) it has no objections to the making of the Offer subject to the Conditions. 
 
Note: 
 
1. The TEE Industrial Disposal is, however, subject to Shareholders’ approval at an EGM to be convened as the 

TEE Industrial Disposal is considered as a major transaction under Chapter 10 of the Listing Manual pursuant 
to the Company’s announcement on 3 February 2020.  

 
1.3 Firm Offer Announcement 
 

On 3 February 2020 (“Offer Announcement Date”), MKES announced, for and on behalf of 
the Offeror, that the Conditions Precedent have been satisfied and the Offeror has, on that date, 
completed the Acquisitions.  
 
Prior to the Acquisitions, the Offeror did not own or control any Shares. As a result of the 
Acquisitions, the Offeror owns and controls an aggregate of 307,371,268 Shares, representing 
68.78% of the total number of issued Shares. The Company has in total 446,876,000 Shares 
in issue as at 3 February 2020 and as at the Latest Practicable Date.  
 
As a consequence of the Acquisitions, MKES announced, for and on behalf of the Offeror, that 
the Offeror will make a mandatory unconditional cash offer (“Offer”) for all the Shares, other 
than those already owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror, its related 
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corporations and their respective nominees, in accordance with the Section 139 of the SFA and 
Rule 14 of the Code (“Firm Offer Announcement”).  
 
In conjunction with the Acquisitions, the Company had also announced that it has, on 3 
February 2020, entered or will enter (as the case may be) into the ancillary agreements with TI 
in respect of commercial arrangements with TI. 
 

1.4 Our role as IFA to the Offer and with respect to the TEE Industrial Disposal, New Lease 
and TSA 

 
 The Company has appointed us (“Provenance Capital”) as the IFA to the directors of the 

Company (“Directors”) who are considered independent in respect of the Offer, for the purpose 
of making their recommendation to Shareholders in relation to the Offer. Further, we have also 
been appointed as the IFA to opine on the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the 
TSA under Rule 10 of the Code. 

 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are as follows: 
 
(a) Er Dr Lee Bee Wah (Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director); 
(b) Mr Phua Cher Chew (Executive Director and CEO); 
(c) Dr Tan Khee Giap (Independent Director); 
(d) Mr Chin Sek Peng (Independent Director); 
(e) Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong (“Dato Timothy Ong”) (Non-Executive Director); 

and 
(f) Mr Neo Weng Meng, Edwin (“Mr Edwin Neo”) (Non-Executive Director). 
 
The Company has confirmed that all the Directors are deemed independent in respect of the 
Offer.  
 
This letter (“Letter”) is therefore addressed to the Directors and sets out, inter alia, our 
evaluation on the financial terms of the Offer, our recommendations on the Offer, and our 
evaluation and opinion on the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the 
TSA as required by the SIC in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. This Letter forms part of the 
Circular which provides, inter alia, details of the Offer, the commercial arrangements with TI 
and the recommendations of the Directors on the Offer.  
 
Shareholders should have by now received a copy of the offer document (“Offer Document”) 
dated 21 February 2020 setting out, inter alia, the terms and conditions of the Offer. The Offer 
Document is also available on the SGXNET.  
 

 
2. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 Provenance Capital has been appointed as the IFA to advise the Directors who are deemed 

independent of the Offer in respect of their recommendation to Shareholders in relation to the 
Offer and to opine on the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA 
pursuant to Rule 10 of the Code. 

 
 We have confined our evaluation and assessment to the financial terms of the Offer, the TEE 

Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA and have not taken into account the 
commercial risks or commercial merits of the Offer, the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease 
and the TSA. In addition, we have not been requested to, and we do not express any advice or 
give any opinion on the merits of the Offer relative to any other alternative transaction. We were 
not involved in the negotiations pertaining to the Offer, the TEE Industrial Disposal, the 
commercial arrangements with TI nor were we involved in the deliberations leading up to the 
decision to put forth the Offer to Shareholders and the terms of the commercial arrangements 
with TI. 

 
 The scope of our appointment does not require us to express, and we do not express, any view 

on the future growth prospects, financial position or earnings potential of the Company and its 
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subsidiaries (“Group”). Such evaluation or comments remain the responsibility of the Directors 
although we may draw upon their views or make such comments in respect thereof (to the 
extent deemed necessary or appropriate by us) in arriving at our opinion. The opinion set forth 
herein is based solely on publicly available information as well as information provided by the 
Directors and the management of the Group (“Management”), and is predicated upon the 
economic and market conditions prevailing as at the Latest Practicable Date. This Letter 
therefore does not reflect any projections on the future financial performance of the Group and 
we do not express any views as to the prices at which the Shares may trade after the close of 
the Offer. 

 
 We have not been requested or authorised to solicit, and we have not solicited, any indications 

of interest from any third party with respect to the Shares. In this regard, we have not addressed 
the relative merits of the Offer in comparison with any alternative transaction the Company may 
consider in the future. Therefore, we do not express any views in these areas in arriving at our 
recommendation. 

 
 In formulating our opinion and recommendation, we have held discussions with the Directors 

and the Management and have relied to a considerable extent on the information set out in the 
Circular, other public information collated by us and the information, representations, opinions, 
facts and statements provided to us, whether written or verbal, by the Company and its other 
professional advisers. Whilst care has been exercised in reviewing the information we have 
relied upon, we have not independently verified the information both written and verbal and 
accordingly cannot and do not make any representation or warranty, expressly or impliedly, in 
respect of, and do not accept any responsibility for, the accuracy, completeness or adequacy 
of such information. Nonetheless, we have made reasonable enquiries and exercised our 
judgement on the reasonable use of such information and have found no reason to doubt the 
accuracy or reliability of such information. 

 
 We have not made an independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities of the 

Company and/or the Group (including without limitation, real properties).  
 

However, in connection with the Offer, the Company has commissioned various valuers 
(“Valuers”) to carry out an independent market valuation of most of the real properties held by 
the Group and its associated companies as at 30 November 2019, being the last unaudited 
results announcement of the Group for the 6 months ended 30 November 2019 (“6M2020”).  
 
The Valuers are: 
 
(a) Jones Lang LaSalle Property Consultants Pte Ltd (“JLL”); 
(b) Suntec Real Estate Consultants Pte Ltd (“SREC”); 
(c) Savills Valuations Pty Ltd (“Savills Australia”); 
(d) Savills (NZ) Limited (“Savills NZ”); and 
(e) Savills Valuation and Professional Services (S) Pte Ltd (“Savills SG”). 

 
Copies of their valuation reports or certificates, as the case may be, are attached as Appendix 
G to the Circular. 
 
In respect of the commercial arrangements with TI, to support the basis of the TEE Industrial 
Disposal and the New Lease, the Company had commissioned JLL to ascertain the market 
valuation of the TEE Building and SREC to ascertain the market rental rates for the TEE 
Building. Their valuation reports or certificates are also attached as Appendix G to the Circular. 
 
We are not experts in the evaluation or appraisal of the assets concerned and we have placed 
sole reliance on the independent valuations by the Valuers for such asset appraisal and have 
not made any independent verification of the contents thereof. In particular, we do not assume 
any responsibility to enquire about the basis of the valuation contained in the their valuation 
reports or certificates or if the contents thereof have been prepared and/or included in the 
Circular in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements including the Code. Similarly, 
we have placed reliance on SREC as the expert on the market rental rates for TEE Building in 
relation to the New Lease. 
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 The information we have relied on in the assessment of the Offer and the commercial 

arrangements with TI are based on market, economic, industry, monetary and other conditions 
prevailing as at the Latest Practicable Date, which may change significantly over a relatively 
short period of time. We assume no responsibility to update, revise or reaffirm our opinion or 
assumptions in light of any subsequent development after the Latest Practicable Date that may 
affect our opinion or assumptions contained herein. Shareholders should take note of any 
announcements relevant to their consideration of the Offer and the commercial arrangements 
with TI, as the case may be, which may be released or published after the Latest Practicable 
Date. 

 
 In rendering our advice and giving our recommendation, we have not considered the specific 

investment objectives, financial situation, tax position, risk profiles or particular needs and 
constraints of any Shareholder. As each Shareholder may have different investment profiles 
and objectives, we advise the Directors to recommend that any Shareholder who may require 
specific advice in relation to his investment portfolio should consult his stockbroker, bank 
manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser immediately. 

 
 The Company has been separately advised by its own professional advisers in the preparation 

of the Circular. We have no role or involvement and have not and will not provide any advice 
(financial or otherwise) in the preparation, review and verification of the Circular. Accordingly, 
we take no responsibility for and express no view, whether expressed or implied, on the 
contents of the Circular (other than this Letter). 

 
 Whilst a copy of this Letter may be reproduced in the Circular, neither the Company, Directors 

nor any Shareholder may reproduce, disseminate or quote this Letter (or any part thereof) for 
any other purposes, other than for the purpose of the Offer, the TEE Industrial Disposal, the 
New Lease and the TSA, at any time and in any manner, without the prior written consent of 
Provenance Capital in each specific case. 

 
 Our opinion is addressed to the Directors who are deemed independent in respect of the Offer 

for their benefit and deliberation on the Offer. Their recommendation made to the Shareholders 
in relation to the Offer shall remain the responsibility of these Directors. Our opinion on the TEE 
Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA is also addressed to these Directors for their 
benefit and in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. Our recommendation to these Directors 
in relation to the Offer and our opinion on the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease 
and the TSA should be considered in the context of the entirety of this Letter and the 
Circular. 

 
 Responsibility Statement by the Directors 
 

The Directors have confirmed that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, all material 
information relating to the Company, the Group and its associated companies provided to us in 
connection with the Offer and the information in relation to the commercial arrangements with 
TI, is true, complete and accurate in all material respects and there is no other information or 
fact, the omission of which would cause any information disclosed to us or the facts of or in 
relation to the Offer and the commercial arrangements with TI to be inaccurate, incomplete or 
misleading in any material respect. The Directors jointly and severally accept responsibility 
accordingly.   
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3. THE OFFER  
 

The detailed terms and conditions of the Offer are set out in Section 2 and Appendices A and 
B to the Offer Document. The key terms of the Offer are set out below for your reference: 

 
3.1 Offer Shares 
 

The Offer is made for all the Shares, other than those already owned, controlled or agreed to 
be acquired by the Offeror, its related corporations and their respective nominees (“Offer 
Shares”). 

 
3.2 Offer Price 

The Offer Price for each Offer Share is S$0.179 in cash.  
 
The Offeror DOES NOT intend to increase the Offer Price. Therefore, in accordance with 
Rule 20.2 of the Code, the Offeror will not be allowed to subsequently amend the terms of the 
Offer, including the Offer Price, in any way.  

 
3.3 No Encumbrances 
 

The Offer Shares are to be acquired: 
 
(a) fully paid; 
 
(b) free from all Encumbrances (as defined in the Offer Document); and  
 
(c) together with all rights, benefits and entitlements attached thereto as at the Pre-

Conditional Offer Announcement Date and hereafter attaching thereto, including but not 
limited to the right to receive and retain all dividends, rights, returns of capital and other 
distributions (if any) which may be announced, declared, made or paid thereon by the 
Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date. 

 
If any dividend, right, return of capital or other distribution is announced, declared, paid 
or made by the Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date, the 
Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Offer Price by the amount of such dividend, right, 
return of capital or other distribution.  

 
Since the Offer Announcement Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we note that the 
Company has not made or declared any Distribution.  

 
3.3 Unconditional Offer 
 

The Offer is unconditional in all respects. Therefore, the Offer is not conditional upon the level 
of acceptances which the Offeror may receive in respect of the Offer. 

 
3.4 Warranty 
 

A Shareholder who tenders his Offer Shares in acceptance of the Offer will be deemed to have 
unconditionally and irrevocably warranted that he sells such Offer Shares as or on behalf of the 
beneficial owner(s) thereof, (a) fully paid, (b) free from all Encumbrances, and (c) together with 
all rights, benefits and entitlements attached thereto as at the Pre-Conditional Offer 
Announcement Date and thereafter attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain 
all dividends, rights, returns of capital and other distributions (if any) which may be announced, 
declared, made or paid thereon by the Company on or after the Pre-Conditional Offer 
Announcement Date). 
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3.5 No extension of the Closing Date  
 

Except insofar as the Offer may be withdrawn with the consent of the SIC and every person 
released from any obligation incurred thereunder, the Offer will remain open for acceptances 
by Shareholders for a period of 28 days from the date of posting of the Offer Document. 
 
The Offeror has given notice that the Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 20 
March 2020 (“Closing Date”). 
 
The Offeror has also stated that it will not extend the Offer beyond the Closing Date. Accordingly, 
notice has been given by the Offeror that acceptances of the Offer received after 5.30 p.m. 
(Singapore time) on the Closing Date will be rejected (“Shut-Off Notice”). 
 

3.6 Further details of the Offer  
 

Further details of the Offer, including details on (a) the duration of the Offer; (b) the settlement 
of the consideration for the Offer; (c) the requirements relating to the announcement of the level 
of acceptances of the Offer; (d) the right of withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer; and (e) 
procedures for acceptance of the Offer are set out in Appendices A and B to the Offer Document. 

 
 

4. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR  
 
The Offeror is a special purpose vehicle incorporated in Singapore on 27 June 2018 for the 
purpose of investment holding. Its sole shareholder is Amcorp. The Offeror has not carried on 
any business since its incorporation, except for matters in connection with the Acquisitions and 
the Offer. 
 
The issued share capital of the Offeror is US$1 comprising 1 ordinary share. The directors of 
the Offeror are Mr Soo Kim Wai, Mr Lum Sing Fai and Ms Hooi Toong Wan. 
 
Amcorp is an investment holding company incorporated in Malaysia and is controlled by Tan 
Sri Azman Hashim via his Malaysia-incorporated private limited company, Clear Goal Sdn Bhd. 
Amcorp’s primary focus is on financial services, property development, property management 
and engineering. Its portfolio of investments includes interests in companies listed on Bursa 
Malaysia namely, AMMB Holdings Berhad (12.98%), RCE Capital Berhad (54.19%) and 
Amcorp Properties Berhad (69.34%) based on the disclosures in the Offer Document.  
 
Based on publicly available information, the estimated market capitalisations of the above listed 
companies as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date are as follows: 
 

 
Listed on Bursa Malaysia 
 

 
MYR 

(million) 
 

 
S$ equivalent(1) 

(million) 

AMMB Holdings Berhad 
 

11,777.3 3,903.6 

RCE Capital Berhad 
 

601.2 199.3 

Amcorp Properties Berhad 
 

353.8 117.3 

 
Source: Bloomberg L.P. 
 
Note: 
 
(1) Based on the foreign exchange rate of S$1.00:MYR3.017 prevailing on 13 January 2020 (being the Pre-

Conditional Offer Announcement Date) as extracted from Bloomberg. L.P. 
 
As at the Offer Announcement Date, the Offeror holds 307,371,268 Shares, representing 
68.78% shareholding interest in the Company and thus has  the majority and statutory control 
of the Company. 
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Based on the disclosure in Appendix F to the Offer Document, none of the Offeror and any 
party acting in concert with it has received any irrevocable commitment to accept the Offer. 
 
Additional information on the Offeror and Amcorp is set out in Appendix C and Appendix D to 
the Offer Document. 
 

 
5. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY AND THE GROUP  
 

The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 18 December 2012 and listed on the Main 
Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") on 6 June 2013. The 
Group is a regional real estate developer and investor with presence in Singapore, Malaysia, 
Australia and New Zealand. The Group undertakes residential, commercial and industrial 
property development projects, as well as invests in income-generating assets.  
 
Prior to 3 February 2020, the Company was a subsidiary of TI, a company listed on the Main 
Board of the SGX-ST.  
 
Following the completion of the Sale Shares by TI to the Offeror on 3 February 2020, TI ceased 
to hold any Shares in the Company and the Offeror became the new controlling Shareholder. 

  
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has an issued and paid-up share capital 
comprising 446,876,000 Shares. The Company does not hold any treasury shares and does 
not have any outstanding instruments convertible into, rights to subscribe for, or options in 
respect of, Shares or securities which carry voting rights in the Company. 
 
Based on the Offer Price of S$0.179 and the number of issued Shares as at the Latest 
Practicable Date, the implied market capitalisation of the Company is S$79.99 million.  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are as follows: 
 
(a) Er Dr Lee Bee Wah (Non-Executive Chairman and Independent Director); 
(b) Mr Phua Cher Chew (Executive Director and CEO); 
(c) Dr Tan Khee Giap (Independent Director); 
(d) Mr Chin Sek Peng (Independent Director); 
(e) Dato Timothy Ong (Non-Executive Director); and 
(f) Mr Edwin Neo (Non-Executive Director). 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisitions, TI shall procure the resignation of its representatives 
as directors, officers or employees of each member of the Group. 
 
On 3 February 2020, the Company announced the cessation of Mr Phua Cher Chew, Dato 
Timothy Ong and Mr Edwin Neo as Directors with effect from the date falling immediately after 
the despatch of the Circular. Mr Phua Cher Chew will also cease as the CEO with effect from 
3 August 2020.  
 
Mr Phua Cher Chew is the nephew of Mr Phua Chian Kin and Mr Edwin Neo is the head of 
infrastructure at TI.  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholding interests of the Directors are as follows:  
 

 
Director 
 

 
Direct Interest 
(no. of Shares) 

 
Deemed Interest 
(no. of Shares) 

 

 
Total Interest 

(no. of Shares) 

 
% shareholding 
interest in the 

Company 
 

Er Dr Lee Bee Wah 2,159,033 - 2,159,033 0.48 
Mr Phua Cher Chew 4,379,537 - 4,379,537 0.98 
Dr Tan Khee Giap - - - - 
Mr Chin Sek Peng 260,000 100,000 360,000 0.08 
Dato Timothy Ong  664,885 - 664,885 0.15 
Mr Edwin Neo 61,100 - 61,100 0.01 
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All the Directors are deemed independent for the purpose of the Offer.  
 

 Additional information on the Company and the Group is set out in Appendix B to the Circular. 
 
 
6. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER AND OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS FOR THE COMPANY  
  

The full text of the rationale for the Offer and the Offeror’s intentions for the Company is set out 
in Section 6 of the Offer Document. 

  
6.1 The Offer is being made in compliance with the requirements of the Code following the 

completion of the Acquisitions.  
 

Pursuant to the terms of the SPA with TI, TI shall procure: 
 
(a) the resignation of all its representatives as directors, officers or employees of each 

member of the Group; and 
 
(b) the board of directors of each member of the Group to approve the appointment of such 

persons as the Offeror may nominate as directors of such member of the Group, 
 

in each case as soon as may be required by the Offeror and as permitted under the Code and 
all other practicable laws and regulations.  
 
Accordingly, the Company had, on the Offer Announcement Date, announced the cessation of 
its 3 Directors, namely Mr Phua Cher Chew, Dato Timothy Ong and Mr Edwin Neo with effect 
from the date falling immediately after the despatch of the Circular.  

 
In connection with the Acquisitions, the Company had also entered into certain commercial 
arrangements with TI including the TEE Industrial Disposal, Lease Extensions and the TSA. 
The Company will enter into the New Lease with TI following the completion of the TEE 
Industrial Disposal which is subject to the approval of Shareholders and shareholders of TI at 
their respective EGMs to be convened.  
 
Save for the TEE Industrial Disposal and as described above, the Offeror presently has no 
intention to (i) introduce any major changes to the business of the Company, (ii) re-deploy the 
fixed assets of the Group, or (iii) discontinue the employment of the employees of the Group, 
other than in the normal course of business.  
 
However, the Offeror retains the flexibility at any time to consider any options or opportunities 
which may present themselves and which the Offeror regards to be in the interests of the Offeror 
and/or the Company. Following the close of the Offer, the Offeror will undertake a 
comprehensive review of the businesses of the Company and the review will help the Offeror 
to determine the optimal business strategy for the Company. 

 
6.2 Listing Status of the Company 

 
The Offeror has stated that it is its present intention to maintain the listing status of the 
Company on the SGX-ST following completion of the Offer.  
 
Public Float 
 
In the event that the percentage of Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands falls 
below 10% and the SGX-ST suspends trading of the Shares, the Offeror intends to undertake 
and/or support any action as may be necessary for any such trading suspension by the SGX-
ST to be lifted. However, the Offeror reserves the right to re-evaluate its position, taking 
into account, among other things, the level of acceptances received by the Offeror and 
the prevailing market conditions at the relevant time. Accordingly, there is no assurance 
that the Offeror will take steps to preserve the listing status of the Company on the SGX-
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ST if the percentage of Shares (excluding treasury shares) held in public hands falls 
below 10%. 
 
If the Company loses its public float, the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of the Shares.  
 
If the Offeror decides not to maintain the listing status of the Company on the SGX-ST after the 
Company loses its public float, the SGX-ST will generally consider waiving compliance imposed 
on a voluntary delisting if (a) the Offer is fair and reasonable (and the IFA to the Company has 
opined that the Offer is fair and reasonable), and (b) the Offeror has received acceptances from 
independent Shareholders at the close of the Offer that represent a majority of at least 75% of 
the total number of issued Shares held by independent Shareholders. Independent 
Shareholders are Shareholders other than the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it.  
 
If the waiver conditions are not met and the Company wishes to undertake a voluntary delisting, 
it will need to do so in accordance with Rule 1307 of the Listing Manual. In the event the 
Company is unable to meet the conditions for a voluntary delisting, the Company will be obliged 
to comply with the Listing Manual, including the requirement to restore its public float (through 
private placement or otherwise). Shareholders should note that there is a risk that the Company 
may be subject to prolonged suspension should the free float be lost but the requisite conditions 
for a delisting are not met.   
 
Compulsory Acquisition 
 
Pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies Act”), 
if the Offeror receives valid acceptances of the Offer and/or acquires such number of Offer 
Shares from the date of despatch of the Offer Document otherwise than through valid 
acceptances of the Offer in respect of not less than 90% of the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury shares and other than those already held by the Offeror, its related 
corporations or their respective nominees as at the date of the Offer), the Offeror will be entitled 
to exercise the right to compulsorily acquire all the Shares of Shareholders who have not 
accepted the Offer (“Dissenting Shareholders”) on the same terms as those offered under 
the Offer. 
 
Under Rule 1308(1) of the Listing Manual, Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual do not 
apply to a delisting pursuant to the Offer provided that the Offeror is exercising its right of 
compulsory acquisition. Accordingly, independent Shareholders’ approval for the delisting 
under Rule 1307 of the Listing Manual is not required in the event the Offeror exercises its right 
of compulsory acquisition.   
 
As stated above, it is the current intention of the Offeror to maintain the listing status of 
the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror presently has no intention of exercising its right 
of compulsory acquisition under Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, should such right 
be available to it. However, as set out above, the Offeror reserves the right to re-evaluate 
its position, taking into account, among other things, the level of acceptances received 
by the Offeror and the prevailing market conditions at the relevant time.  
 
Dissenting Shareholders have the right under and subject to Section 215(3) of the Companies 
Act, to require the Offeror to acquire their Shares at the Offer Price in the event that the Offeror, 
its related corporations or their respective nominees acquire, pursuant to the Offer, such 
number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by the Offeror, its related corporations 
or their respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total number of issued Shares. 
Dissenting Shareholders who wish to exercise such right are advised to seek their own 
independent legal advice. 
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7. ASSESSMENT OF THE FINANCIAL TERMS OF THE OFFER 
 

In evaluating and assessing the financial terms of the Offer, we have taken into account the 
pertinent factors set out below which we consider to have a significant bearing on our 
assessment: 

 
(a) Market quotation and trading activity of the Shares; 
 
(b) Financial analysis of the Group; 
 
(c) Historical Share price performance compared to the reported NAV per Share; 
 
(d) Comparison with precedent non-privatisation takeover offers of companies listed on the 

SGX-ST; 
 
(e) Comparison of valuation ratios of selected listed companies which are broadly 

comparable to the Group; 
 
(f) Dividend track record of the Company; and 
 
(g) Other relevant considerations in relation to the Offer. 

 
7.1 Market quotation and trading activity of the Shares 
  

Prior to 13 January 2020, TI had, during 2019, made various announcements of a proposed 
sale of its interest in the Company and had also obtained Shareholders’ approval in relation to 
the sale of part or all of its shareholding interest in the Company. With the completion of the 
Acquisitions on 3 February 2020, TI no longer holds any shareholding interest in the Company 
and the Company has since ceased to be a subsidiary of TI.  
 
We observed that the Share price performance during 2019 and up to the Pre-Conditional Offer 
Announcement Date appears to be affected by these events including the announcement of 
the Acquisitions and the consequential Pre-Conditional Offer. In addition, we noted significant 
increase in trading volume on the Shares in the last couple of months leading to the 
announcement of the Acquisitions and the consequential Pre-Conditional Offer.  
 
Some of the salient announcements by TI in relation to its interest in the Company are as 
follows:   
 
� On 17 December 2018, TI announced that it was undertaking a strategic review 

(“Strategic Review”) in relation to the Company to evaluate opportunities and 
positioning, with a view to maximising potential value for stakeholders. On 14 January 
2019, TI made an update announcement to update shareholders that the Strategic 
Review was still in progress. 

 
� On 25 February 2019, TI announced that it had entered into a term sheet with Top Capital 

Securities Pte. Ltd. (“Top Capital”) for the sale of 28% of the share capital of the 
Company, at the indicative price of between S$0.179 to S$0.201 per Share. 

 
� On 6 May 2019, TI obtained shareholders’ approval at the EGM for the proposed disposal 

of the Shares, in whole or in part at the sole discretion of the Directors, at or above the 
minimum disposal price of S$0.179 per Share. 

 
� On 10 May 2019, TI announced that it had entered into a sale and purchase agreement 

with Top Capital for the sale of 28% of the share capital of the Company at a 
consideration of S$0.186 per Share. 

 
� On 27 June 2019, TI announced that discussion with Top Capital had ceased and that TI 

had entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with Euro Properties Holding 
Inc. (“Euro Properties”) for a potential strategic investment by Euro Properties into the 
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Company and/or acquisition of the Shares. There was no subsequent update on the MOU 
with Euro Properties.  

 
� On 13 January 2020, TI announced the sale of its entire interest in the Company to the 

Offeror. 
 
Trading on the Shares was halted at around 4 pm on 9 January 2020 (“Last Trading Day”) 
prior to the release of the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement on 13 January 2020, and the 
Shares resumed trading on 14 January 2020.   
 
Trading on the Shares was halted on 30 January 2020. The Firm Offer Announcement was 
released on 3 February 2020 following the completion of the Acquisitions. The Shares resumed 
trading on 4 February 2020.  
 
We have therefore compared the Offer Price against the historical market price performance of 
the Shares and considered the historical trading volume of the Shares for the 1-year period 
from 10 January 2019 to 9 January 2020, being the Last Trading Day, and up to the Latest 
Practicable Date (“Period Under Review”).  
 
Share Price Chart 
 
We set out below a chart showing the Offer Price relative to the daily last transacted prices and 
trading volume of the Shares for the Period Under Review: 

 
Price movement and trading volume of  
the Shares for the Period Under Review 
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Source: Bloomberg L.P. 

 
As can be seen from the Share price chart above, based on the daily last transacted prices, the 
Shares had generally been trading at below the Offer Price of S$0.179 for the 1-year period 
prior to the release of the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement, except for the period between 
March and May 2019 when the Shares had closed generally above S$0.179 and up to a high 
of S$0.194. The Shares had also traded to a low of S$0.111 on 30 September 2019 based on 
the last transacted Share price. 
 
As noted above, the price performance of the Shares during 2019 and up to the Pre-Conditional 
Offer Announcement Date appears to be affected by the various announcements made by TI 
in relation to its interest in the Company, leading to the announcement of the Acquisitions and 
the consequential Pre-Conditional Offer. In addition, we noted significant increase in trading 
volume of the Shares in the last couple of months leading to the announcement of the 
Acquisitions and the consequential Pre-Conditional Offer.  
 

Offer Announcement 
Date:  

3 February 2020 

Offer Price: S$0.179 

Pre-Conditional Offer 
Announcement Date: 13 
January 2020 

TI’s entry 
into term 
sheet with 
Top Capital: 
25 February 
2019 

TI’s entry into 
conditional SPA 
with Top Capital: 
10 May 2019 

Cessation of 
discussion with Top 
Capital: 
27 June 2019 
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The last transacted Share price on the Last Trading Day on 9 January 2020 was S$0.169. The 
Offer Price is 5.9% above the last transacted Share price on the Last Trading Day.  
 
Following the announcement of the Pre-Conditional Offer but before the Firm Offer 
Announcement, the Shares were traded slightly higher but below the Offer Price. Following the 
Firm Offer Announcement and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Shares were mostly traded 
just below the Offer Price and occasionally up to the Offer Price, as the change of controlling 
Shareholder was effected and the Offer was declared to be unconditional in all respects.    
 
The last transacted Share price was S$0.178 on 20 February 2020, being the trading day when 
the Shares were last transacted prior to the Latest Practicable Date. There were no trades done 
on the Shares on the Latest Practicable Date.  
  
Market Statistics  
 
In addition to the share price chart above, we have tabulated below selected statistical 
information on the price performance and trading liquidity of the Shares for the Period Under 
Review:  

 

Reference period 
 
 

Highest 
traded 
price  
(S$) 

 

Lowest 
traded 
price  
(S$) 

 

VWAP(1) 
(S$) 

 

Premium/ 
(Discount) 

of Offer 
Price over/ 
(to) VWAP 

(%) 
 

Number of 
traded 
days(2) 

 

 

Average 
daily 

trading 
volume(3) 

('000) 
 

Average 
daily 

trading 
volume as a 
percentage 

of free 
float(4) 

 (%) 
 

Up to the Last Trading Day  
    
Last 1 year 0.196 0.110 0.1560  14.7 180  300  0.23 

Last 6 months  0.179 0.110 0.1487  20.4 98  446  0.34 

Last 3 months 0.170 0.126 0.1497  19.6 60  846  0.64 

Last 1 month 0.170 0.139 0.1597  12.1 21  1,538  1.17 

9 January 2020 
(being the Last Trading 
Day) 
 

0.169 0.164 0.1658  8.0 1  477  0.36 

After the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date and up to the Offer Announcement Date 
   

From 14 January 2020 to 
29 January 2020 (being 
the last trading day prior to 
the Offer Announcement 
Date) 
 

0.176  0.170  0.1726  3.7 11  2,734  2.07 

After the Offer Announcement Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date 
 

From 4 February 2020 to 
the Latest Practicable Date 
 

0.179 0.178 0.1780 0.6 12 1,795 1.36 

Latest Practicable Date  
 

 No Trade  

Source: Bloomberg L.P. 
 
Notes:  
 
(1) The VWAP for the respective periods are calculated based the aggregate daily turnover value of the Shares 

divided by the aggregate daily trading volume of the Shares for the respective periods as extracted from 
Bloomberg L.P.. Off market transactions are excluded from the calculation; 

 
(2) Traded days refer to the number of days on which the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST during the period; 
 
(3) The average daily trading volume of the Shares is computed based on the total volume of Shares traded on 

the SGX-ST (excluding off market transactions) during the relevant periods, divided by the number of days 
when the SGX-ST was open for trading (excluding days with full day trading halt/suspension on the Shares) 
during that period; and 

 
(4) Free float refers to the Shares other than those directly and deemed held by the Directors and substantial 

Shareholders. For the purpose of computing the average daily trading volume as a percentage of free float, we 
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have used the free float of approximately 131.8 million Shares based on the free float of 29.50% as disclosed 
in the annual report of the Company for FY2019.  

 
We observe the following with regard to the share price performance of the Company for the 
Period Under Review: 
 
(a) Over the 1-year period up to the Last Trading Day, the Shares had traded between a low 

of S$0.110 and a high of S$0.196. The Offer Price represents a premium of S$0.069 (or 
62.7%) above the lowest transacted Share price and a discount of S$0.017 (or 8.7%) to 
the highest transacted Share price; 
 

(b) The Offer Price represents a premium of 14.7%, 20.4%, 19.6% and 12.1% above the 
VWAP of the Shares for the 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 1-month periods up to the 
Last Trading Day respectively; 

 
(c) The Offer Price represents a premium of 8.0% above the VWAP of the Shares of 

S$0.1658 on the Last Trading Day;  
 
(d) Since the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date and up to the Offer Announcement 

Date, and for the ensuing period up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Shares have been 
trading close to but below the Offer Price, presumably supported by the Offer Price; and 

 
(e) The Offer Price represents a premium of 0.6% above the last transacted Share price of 

S$0.178 on 20 February 2020, being the trading day when the Shares were last 
transacted prior to the Latest Practicable Date. There were no trades done on the Shares 
on the Latest Practicable Date.  

 
We observe the following with regard to the trading liquidity of the Shares: 
 
(i) Over the 1-year period up to the Last Trading Day, the Shares were traded on 180 out of 

250 market days. The average daily trading volume of the Shares for the 1-year, 6-month, 
3-month and 1-month periods up to the Last Trading Day was low, representing 0.23%, 
0.34%, 0.64% and 1.17% of the free float of the Shares respectively. 
 
However, we note that the Shares were traded on most days in October, November and 
December 2019, with higher trading volume in the couple of months leading to the 
announcement of the Pre-Conditional Offer; and 

 
(ii) During the period following the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement and up to the Latest 

Practicable Date, there was increased trading volume on the Shares. Overall, this has 
resulted in a higher average daily trading volume on the Shares during this period at 
approximately 2.21 million Shares, representing 1.67% of the free float of the Shares, as 
compared to the 1-year period prior to Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement. 
  

7.2 Financial analysis of the Group  
 
7.2.1 Financial performance of the Group   
 

We set out below a summary of the audited profit and loss statements of the Group for the last 
three financial years ended 31 May 2017 (“FY2017”), 31 May 2018 (“FY2018”) and 31 May 
2019 (“FY2019”), and the latest unaudited interim financial results for 6M2020 and the 
corresponding period ended 30 November 2019 (“6M2019”): 
 

 
 Audited   Unaudited  

S$'000 
 
 

FY2017 
 
 

FY2018 
(Restated) 

 

FY2019 
 
 

6M2019 
(Restated) 

 

6M2020 

      
Revenue 94,690  109,161  100,520  55,886  37,013  
Cost of sales (71,349) (85,232) (90,079) (48,965) (28,879) 
Gross profit 23,341  23,929  10,441  6,921  8,134  
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 Audited   Unaudited  

S$'000 
 
 

FY2017 
 
 

FY2018 
(Restated) 

 

FY2019 
 
 

6M2019 
(Restated) 

 

6M2020 

      
Other operating income 8,126 3,133 1,353 794 863 
Selling and distribution costs (5,347) (11,896) (6,903) (3,207) (2,977) 
Administrative expenses (10,883) (9,016) (12,858) (4,174) (4,633) 
Other operating expenses (3,563) (11,026) (9,358) (1,422) (5,440) 
Finance costs (6,279) (7,385) (8,037) (3,914) (3,589) 
Share of results of associates (2,090) 2,838  (792) (704) (445) 
      
Profit/(loss) before tax 3,305 (9,423) (26,154) (5,706) (8,087) 
Income tax (expense)/credit (3,016) 424 331 405 (113) 
Profit/(loss) for the year/period 289  (8,999) (25,823) (5,301) (8,200) 
      
Loss attributable to:      
Equity holders of the Company (1,048) (8,694) (23,840) (5,112) (8,656) 
Non-controlling interests 1,337  (305) (1,983) (189) 456  
 289  (8,999) (25,823) (5,301) (8,200) 
      

 
Source: Company’s annual reports for FY2018 and FY2019 and the Company’s results announcement for 6M2020 
 
In December 2017, the Accounting Standards Council issued the Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”). SFRS(I) comprises the standards and 
interpretations that are identical to the International Financial Reporting Standards. As required 
by the listing requirements of the SGX-ST, the Group adopted SFRS(I) on 1 June 2018.  
 
FY2019 is the Group’s first set of financial statements prepared in accordance with SFRS(I) 
and the financial statements of the Group for FY2018 were restated for comparability. 
 
The Company’s annual report for FY2019 had disclosed the reconciliation of the financial 
statements of the Group for FY2018 reported under the FRS framework and under SFRS(I). 
The salient financial results for FY2018 under FRS and SFRS(I) are as follows: 
     

 
FY2018 
 

 
FRS framework 

(S$’000) 
 

 
SFRS(I) framework 

(S$’000) 
 

   
Revenue 111,921 109,161  
Cost of sales (86,154) (85,232) 
Gross profit 25,767 23,929  
Finance costs (4,479) (7,385) 
Loss before tax (4,679) (9,423) 
Income tax (expense)/credit (187) 424 
Loss for the year (4,866)  (8,999) 
   

 
Source: Company’s annual report for FY2019  
 
As seen from the table above, the impact on the finance costs for FY2018 arising from reporting 
under FRS and SFRS(I) is significant and had also resulted in the loss for FY2018 widening 
from S$4.9 million (under FRS) to S$9.0 million (under SFRS(I)).     
 
As FY2019 is the first year that the Company had adopted SFRS(I) and financial statements 
for FY2018 were restated for comparability, the financial statements of the Group for FY2017 
which were prepared under FRS were not required to be restated and such restated financial 
statements for FY2017 were also not prepared by the Company for the purpose of the Offer.  
 
As such, a review of operating results of FY2018 vs FY2017 would not be on a comparable 
basis. Hence, we have reviewed the operating results of the Group for the remaining period, 
FY2019 vs FY2018 and 6M2020 vs 6M2019 in this Section 7.2.1. 
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As shown above in the summary of financial results of the Group, the Group has reported losses 
attributable to equity holders of the Company for these periods, that is, FY2017, FY2018, 
FY2019 and 6M2020. 

 
Review of operating results 
 
FY2019 vs FY2018 
 
Revenue for FY2019 decreased by S$8.6 million (or 7.9%) from S$109.2 million in FY2018 to 
S$100.5 million in FY2019 due mainly to overall lower contribution from its development 
property projects: 
 
� lower revenue from Third Avenue in Malaysia; 
� absence of contribution from Hilbre 28 and Harvey Avenue which contributed to revenue 

in FY2018; 
� higher revenue from recognition of sale of 13 units of The Peak @ Cairnhill I; 
� progressive revenue recognition for Rezi 35 and 24One Residences; 
� lower revenue due to the impact of change in accounting standard for revenue 

recognition, resulting in change in estimation method for the revenue recognition of 183 
Longhaus; and 

� rental guarantee (“RG”) for shop units and compensation for extended delivery of 
residential units for Third Avenue also reduced the revenue for FY2019. 

 
Despite the lower revenue in FY2019, cost of sales for FY2019 increased by S$4.9 million (or 
5.7%) due mainly to the sale of 13 units of the Peak, amounting to S$23.2 million, at a gross 
loss of S$1.3 million, and variation order/additional costs for Third Avenue. 
 
As a result, gross profit margin for FY2019 was 10.4% compared to 21.9% for FY2018. If not 
for the reasons mentioned and the impact on revenue from the change in accounting standard, 
RG and compensation for extended delivery, the gross profit margin for FY2019 would have 
been 24.1%.  
 
Other operating income decreased by S$1.7 million (56.8%) from S$3.1 million to S$1.4 million 
due mainly to the absence of unrealised foreign exchange gain from the appreciation of MYR 
and dividend from Chewathai (former associate in Thailand) recognised in FY2018.  
 
Selling and distribution costs decreased by S$5.0 million (42%) from S$11.9 million in FY2018 
to S$6.9 million in FY2019 due mainly to absence of one-off marketing costs and higher sales 
commission incurred for Third Avenue, and one-off promotional expenses to sell the unsold 
units of Hilbre 28 incurred in FY2018.  
 
Administrative expenses increased by S$3.9 million (42.6%) from S$9.0 million in FY2018 to 
S$12.9 million in FY2019 due mainly to depreciation expense of Larmont Hotel. Larmont Hotel 
was reclassified as non-current asset held for sale in August 2016 as the Company has the 
intention to dispose and realise the value of the hotel and there were potential interested parties. 
Depreciation charge was then suspended with the reclassification. Since the disposal did not 
materialise, the hotel was reclassified back to PPE, resulting in expensing off the suspended 
depreciation charge and the current year’s depreciation charge in FY2019. 
 
Other operating expenses were lower by S$1.6 million (15.1%) from S$11.0 million in FY2018 
to S$9.4 million in FY2019 due to a variety of reasons. Some of the reasons which had 
contributed to these expenses include foreign exchange losses, fair value loss on TEE Building, 
additional buyer’s stamp duty (“ABSD”) paid for the unsold unit of Harvey Avenue and option 
fee forfeited for the aborted purchase of land at Teck Guan Ville, fair value loss for Workotel, 
and impairment loss on deemed costs of investment in associates. 
 
The deemed costs of investment in associates are for issuance of corporate guarantees for 
associates’ bank loans required to be recorded according to the accounting standards. The 
deemed costs of investment were not expected to be recoverable and hence, they were 
impaired.  
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The Group recorded a loss of S$0.8 million from share of results of associates for FY2019 
compared to a profit of S$2.8 million in FY2018. This was due mainly to the share of results 
from the Chewathai prior to its disposal approved by Shareholders on 24 January 2018 and the 
reversal of over accrual of project costs for two joint venture projects in FY2018. As all the joint 
venture projects have been completed while those with unsold units experienced slow sales, 
FY2019 registered a loss from share of results of associates.  
 
Overall, the Group recorded loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of S$23.8 million 
in FY2019 compared to a loss of S$8.7 million in FY2018.   
 
6M2020 vs 6M2019 
 
Revenue for 6M2020 decreased by S$18.9 million (or 33.8%) from S$55.9 million in 6M2019 
to S$37.0 million in FY2020 due mainly to lower revenue from the Group’s development 
projects, namely 24One Residences and 183 Longhaus which obtained temporary occupation 
permit (“TOP”) in April and July 2019 respectively, lower sales of unsold units in Third Avenue, 
offset to some extent by progressive recognition of revenue from Rezi 35 and 35 Gilstead, and 
recognition of sale of only one unit of The Peak compared to 10 units recognised in 6M2019. 
 
Cost of sales correspondingly decreased but the Group recorded higher gross profit margin of 
25.5% for 6M2020 compared to 18.4% for 6M2019, due mainly to higher gross profit recorded 
from development projects, higher proportion of revenue for hotel and rental income (which has 
higher gross profit margin). 
 
There was a slight increase in other operating income, slight decrease in selling and distribution 
costs, slight increase in administrative expenses, and slight decrease in loss of share of results 
of associates in 6M2020 compared to 6M2019, in line with slower revenue and business 
activities.  
 
Other operating expenses increased by S$4.0 million from S$1.4 million in 6M2019 to S$5.4 
million in 6M2020 due mainly to the ABSD payable for a development project, and fair value 
loss on TEE Building. 
 
Overall, loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was higher at S$8.7 million in 
6M2020 compared to S$5.1 million in 6M2019. 
 

 Historical price-earnings ratio (“PER”) implied by the Offer Price 
 
PER illustrates the valuation ratio of the current market value of a company’s shares relative to 
its consolidated basic earnings per share as stated in its financial statements. The PER is 
affected by, inter alia, the capital structure of a company, its tax position as well as its 
accounting policies relating to depreciation and intangible assets. The historical PER is 
commonly used for the purpose of illustrating the profitability and hence the valuation of a 
company as a going concern. 
 
As shown in the summary of the financial performance of the Group, the Group has been 
incurring losses attributable to equity holders of the Company in FY2017, FY2018, FY2019 and 
6M2020. As such, an evaluation on the valuation of the Company (implied by the Offer Price) 
which is based on the historical earnings approach would not be meaningful. Based on the 
trailing 12 months period (“T12M”) ended 30 November 2019, the Group would have incurred 
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of S$27.4 million. 
 
As the Group is asset heavy with significant holdings in properties, is engaged in property 
development and generates income from its investment properties and hospitality assets, we 
are of the opinion that the revalued NAV of the Group may be a more appropriate basis to 
assess the valuation of the Group. Further analysis of the NAV of the Group is set out in Section 
7.2.2 below. 
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7.2.2 Financial Position of the Group 
 

The latest unaudited statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 November 2019 is 
set out below: 
 

 
 

Unaudited 
S$'000 
 

As at 30 November 2019 
 

  
Current Assets  
Cash and bank balances 23,084 
Trade receivables 10,436 
Other receivables 8,867  
Loans receivable from associates 10,632  
Inventories 45  
Contract assets 31,210  
Development properties 134,798  
Completed properties and land held for sale 66,974  
 286,046 
  
Non-Current Assets  
Investment in associates 5,000  
Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) 38,292  
Investment properties 30,793  
Investment property – right-of-use asset 2,049  
Deferred tax assets 4,205  
 80,339 
  
Total Assets  366,385 
  
Current Liabilities  
Bank loans 1,300  
Trade payables 16,618  
Other payables 16,299  
Contract liabilities 9,301  
Finance lease 13  
Long-term borrowings 66,086  
Financial guarantee liabilities 145  
Income tax payable 404  
Lease liability 39  
 110,205 
  
Non-Current Liabilities  
Finance lease 7  
Deferred tax liabilities 319  
Long-term borrowings 124,706  
Financial guarantee liabilities 42  
Loans from non-controlling interests 7,927  
Lease liability 1,992  
 134,993 
  
Total Liabilities  245,198 
  
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  112,286  
Non-controlling interests 8,901  
Total Equity  121,187  
  
  
Net asset value ("NAV") and net tangible assets (“NTA”) of the Group  S$112,286,000 
 

 

Number of issued Shares as at 30 November 2019 446,876,000 
  
NAV/NTA per Share S$0.2513 
  

 
Source: The Company’s results announcement for 6M2020 
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Assets 
 

As a property developer and being engaged in property related businesses, the Group has the 
following significant property assets as at 30 November 2019: 

 
o Development properties - comprising Lattice One, 35 Gilstead and Rezi 35  
 
o Completed properties held for sale – comprising Third Avenue, 183 Longhaus, Peach 

Garden, The Peak and 31 Harvey Avenue 
 
o PPE – comprising mainly the Larmont Hotel 
 
o Investment properties – comprising Workotel and Thistle Guest House, TEE Building and 

3 units in Chewathai Ratchaprarop Condominium in Thailand (“Chewathai Condo”) 
 
 As at 30 November 2019, the net book value (“NBV”) of the above property assets amounted 

to S$270.9 million, representing 73.9% of total assets. For the purpose of the Offer, the 
Company had commissioned independent valuations for most of these properties to ascertain 
the market value of these properties as at 30 November 2019. The details of the independent 
valuation and assessment of the net revaluation surplus or deficit arising from the revaluation 
of these properties are set out in Section 7.2.3 below.   

  
 The Group also has interests in associated companies which are engaged in property 

development. These development projects and the Group’s effective interests in these projects 
as at 30 November 2019 are as follows:  

  
 - Flora Ville/Flora Vista/Flora View – effective interest of 7%; 
 - 223 @ Mountbatten – effective interest of 8%; 
 - TRIO @ Sam Leong – effective interest of 35%; and 
 - Hexacube – effective interest of 30%. 
 
 The NBV of the Group’s investment in associates amounted to S$5 million as at 30 November 

2019, representing 1.4% of total assets. Notwithstanding the seeming immateriality in terms of 
NBV, for the purpose of the Offer, the Company had also commissioned independent valuations 
on the development projects in which the Group has significant interests, namely, TRIO @ Sam 
Leong and Hexacube. The details of the independent valuations and assessment of the 
attributable net revaluation surplus or deficit arising from the revaluation of these properties are 
also set out in Section 7.2.3 below.  

 
Liabilities and Equity 

 
As at 30 November 2019, the Group has total liabilities of S$245.2 million, of which S$190.8 
million (or 77.8%) pertains to long-term borrowings. These long-term borrowings are secured 
by legal mortgages over the Group’s development properties, completed properties held for 
sale, PPE, investment properties and corporate guarantees by the Company and other 
corporate shareholders of certain subsidiaries. 
 
The Group also has loans of S$7.9 million as at 30 November 2019 from non-controlling 
interests in the subsidiaries which develop Rezi 35 and 35 Gilstead. These loans were provided 
by the Group and the respective non-controlling shareholders to these subsidiaries as quasi-
loans in proportion to their respective shareholding interests in these subsidiaries. 
 
Total equity comprises equity attributable to equity holders of the Company of S$112.3 million 
and non-controlling interest of S$8.9 million as at 30 November 2019. Equity attributable to 
equity holders of the Company consists of paid-up share capital of S$142.2 million comprising 
446,876,000 Shares, and negative reserves totalling S$30.0 million. 
 
Accordingly, NAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019 is S$112.3 million, representing NAV 
per Share of S$0.2513 based on 446,876,000 Shares as at 30 November 2019. As the Group 
does not have any intangible assets, its NAV is the same as its NTA. 
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There is no change to the number of issued Shares since 30 November 2019 to the Latest 
Practicable Date.  

  
7.2.3 Independent Valuation 

 
As mentioned above, in connection with the Offer, the Company had commissioned various 
Valuers to determine the independent valuation of most of the Group’s properties and the 
properties held by its significant associated companies, to ascertain the market value of these 
properties as at 30 November 2019. 
 
Market value is defined as “the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange 
on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, 
after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion”. 
 
Details of the valuation are set out in the respective valuation reports or certificates as prepared 
by these Valuers, copies of which are attached as Appendix G to the Circular. 
 
The purpose of the valuation exercise is to determine the revalued net asset value (“RNAV”) of 
the Group after taking into consideration the revaluation surplus/deficit arising from the 
valuation of these properties. 
 
Group’s properties 
 
In the case of properties held by the Group, the properties identified by the Company to be 
revalued are based on their materiality.  
 
The total NBV of these properties revalued was S$226.41 million, representing 83.6% of the 
total NBV of all the properties held by the Group as at 30 November 2019.  
 
A summary of the Group’s properties which are revalued and properties which are not revalued 
is set out in the table below:  

 
Group’s properties revalued 

 

 
NBV as at 30 

November 2019 
(S$’million) 

 

 
Group’s properties not revalued 

 
NBV as at 30 

November 2019 
(S$’million) 

 
Development properties 
 
Lattice One 
35 Gilstead 
 

 
 

41.54 
90.71 

Development properties 
 
Rezi 35(1)  
 

 
 

2.55 

Completed properties held for sale 
 
183 Longhaus 
 
 

 
 

27.43 

Completed properties held for sale 
 
Third Avenue - office building(2) 

Third Avenue - remaining units(2) 
Peach Garden(3) 
The Peak(4) 
31 Harvey Avenue(5) 
 

 
 

26.80 
1.43 
2.90 
1.80 
6.77 

PPE 
 
Larmont Hotel(6) 
 

 
 

38.19 

 
 
NIL 

 
 

NIL 

Investment properties 
 
Workotel and Thistle Guest House 
TEE Building 
 

 
 

7.04 
21.50 

Investment properties 
 
Chewathai Ratchaprarop(7) 
 

 
 

2.25 

Total 226.41  44.50 
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Notes: 
 
(1) The Company has a 51% interest in Rezi 35, which is a residential development project at Geylang Lorong 35, 

Singapore, comprising 44 units and which has been fully sold but TOP has not been obtained as at 30 
November 2019. The NBV as at 30 November 2019 represents the remaining development cost that has not 
yet been charged to profit & loss statement according to percentage of completion recognition method; 

 
(2) Third Avenue is a mixed development project in Selangor, Malaysia comprising 701 residential units, 31 

commercial units and an office block. Third Avenue comprising the office building is not subject to the 
independent valuation for reason as described below, and the remaining unsold 5 SOHO units and 2 
commercial units were not revalued due to immateriality; 
 

(3) The Company has a 65% interest in Peach Garden comprising the remaining 26 plots of freehold land in Ho 
Chi Minh City, Vietnam. The plots of land have been fully sold but the land titles have not yet been transferred 
to the buyers as at 30 November 2019. The Company has advised that the selling price is around the NBV of 
the property;  

 
(4) This pertains to one remaining unsold unit at The Peak, which was not revalued due to immateriality; 
 
(5) This is a landed property which is sold subsequent to 30 November 2019 and hence not subject to independent 

valuation. The details of the sale are described below;  
 
(6) Larmont Hotel comprises the hotel with 103 guest rooms, 4 office suites and car parking spaces; and 
 
(7) This pertains to the 3 condominium units in Bangkok, Thailand which are held for rental and are classified as 

investment property. These properties are marked-to-market as at the last financial year end, being 31 May 
2019. 

 
Third Avenue - office building 
 
The Group is currently in discussions with a potential buyer on the sale of the office building at 
the agreed selling price of MYR63.0 million (S$20.62 million*) subject to the finalisation of the 
terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement. In this regard, the potential buyer 
had paid to the Group an amount equivalent to 2% of the agreed selling price as earnest deposit.  
 
Based on the agreed selling price, the above property would be sold at below its NBV of S$26.8 
million as at 30 November 2019. After deducting commission and selling expenses, the property 
is expected to be sold at a loss of S$6.51 million.  
 
Note:  
 
*  For comparison purposes, the equivalent S$ amount is based on the foreign exchange rate of S$1.00:MYR3.055 

prevailing on 30 November 2019 as used by the Group in the preparation of the financial results of the Group for 
6M2020. 

 
31 Harvey Avenue 
 
This property has been sold post 30 November 2019 and the sale is expected to be completed 
on 17 March 2020. Based on the contractual selling price, the property would be sold at a loss 
of S$0.38 million after deducting commission and selling expenses.  
 
We have taken the above into consideration when computing the RNAV of the Group as at 30 
November 2019 as set out in Section 7.2.4 below.  
 
The table below sets out the summary of the Group’s properties as revalued by the Valuers:  
 

 

 
 
 

Property and location 
 

Valuer 
 

Valuation Methodologies 
 

 
Market value as 
at 30 November 

2019 
 

 
Group’s 
interest  

(%) 
 

Development properties     

1. Lattice One 
1 Seraya Crescent, 
Singapore 
 
- 16 pre-sold units and 32 
remaining unsold units of 
residential apartments 

JLL 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Direct comparison approach(i) 

 
S$69.70 million(i) 100 
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Property and location 
 

Valuer 
 

Valuation Methodologies 
 

 
Market value as 
at 30 November 

2019 
 

 
Group’s 
interest  

(%) 
 

 
2. 35 Gilstead 

35 Gilstead Road, 
Singapore 
 
- 15 pre-sold units and 55 
remaining unsold units of 
residential apartments 
 

JLL Direct comparison approach(i) 

 
S$140.70 million(i) 60 

Completed properties held for sale    

3. 183 Longhaus  
183 Upper Thomson 
Road, Singapore 
 
- 10 remaining unsold 
commercial units 
 

SREC Market comparison method S$40.00 million 100 

PPE    

4. Larmont Hotel 
2-14 Kings Cross Road, 
Potts Point, 
New South Wales 2011, 
Australia 
 
- hotel, 4 office suites and 
car parking spaces 
 

Savills 
Australia  

� Discounted cash flow, capitalisation 
and direct comparison methods for 
the hotel; and 

� Capitalisation and direct comparison 
methods for the office suites and car 
parking spaces (“others”) 

  

� A$48.00 million 
(hotel); and 
 

� A$2.10–2.41 
million(iii) 
(others), 

 
A$50.26 million 

(S$46.52 million)(ii) 

 

55 
 

Investment properties    

5. Workotel and Thistle 
Guest House 
15-21 Main South Road 
and 29 Ballantyne 
Avenue, Upper Riccarton, 
Christchurch, 
New Zealand 
 
- Administrative offices, 
amenities and various 
storage buildings, 5 
dwellings and 107 
accommodation units, the 
majority on a relocatable 
nature 
 

Savills NZ Direct comparison approach and 
amortization of EBITDA approach 

NZ$7.60 million 
(S$6.69 million)(ii) 

75 

6. TEE Building 
25 Bukit Batok Street 22, 
Singapore 659591 
 
- A 6-storey detached 
factory with ancillary 
office 

JLL Income method and direct comparison 
method 
 

S$21.50 million 100 

      
 
Source: Valuation reports and valuation certificates 
 
Notes:  
 
(i) JLL had used the direct comparison approach in estimating the gross development value (“GDV”) of the 

development projects under construction, which takes into consideration the contracted selling prices for the 
pre-sold units and market value for the unsold units. Lattice One and 35 Gilstead were approximately 9.5% and 
11.2% completed respectively as at 30 November 2019; 
 

(ii) Based on the foreign exchange rates of A$1.00:S$0.9257 and NZ$1.00:S$0.8798 on 30 November 2019 as 
used by the Group in the preparation of the financial results of the Group for 6M2020; and 

 
(iii) For the purpose of our RNAV analysis in Section 7.2.4 below, we have used the mid-point of the range of 

valuations for the 4 office suites and car parking spaces of A$2.3 million (S$2.1 million). 
 

Properties held by significant associated companies 
 
 The table below sets out the summary of the properties held by significant associated 

companies which are revalued by the Valuers: 
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Property and location 
 

Valuer 
 

Valuation Methodologies 
 

 
Market value as 
at 30 November 

2019 
 

 
Group’s 
interest  

(%) 
 

Completed properties held for sale 
 

   

1. TRIO @ Sam Leong 
11 Sam Leong Road, 
Si1ngapore 
 
- 25 unsold commercial 
units  
 

SREC Market comparison approach 
 

S$50.09 million 35 

2. Hexacube 
160 Changi Road, 
Singapore 
 
- 23 unsold commercial 
units  
 

Savills SG Direct comparison method 
 

S$45.17 million 30 

 
Valuation methodologies 
 
In general, the valuation methodologies used by the Valuers are broadly described as follows:  
 
Direct comparison or market comparison method 
 
This is based on direct comparison with recent transactions of comparable properties within the 
vicinity. Adjustments are made to reflect differences between the comparable properties and 
the subject property including location, size of property, tenure, changes in market timing and 
conditions, age and condition of the properties and other relevant factors affecting values.  
 
Income or investment or capitalisation method 
 
This method entails the estimation of gross rental income less the necessary expenses such 
as property tax and land rental to derive a net rental income. This is then capitalised at an 
appropriate yield rate for the remaining period of the lease to arrive at the current market value. 
 
Discounted cash flow method (used in the valuation of the Larmont Hotel) 
 
This method takes into account the ability of the property to generate income over a period 
based on certain assumptions. Provision is made for room rate and occupancy growth 
throughout the time horizon and also capital expenditure through a fixtures, fittings and 
equipment reserve. Each year’s net operating income during the period is discounted to arrive 
at the present value of expected future cash flows. The property’s anticipated sale value at the 
end of the period (i.e. its terminal or reversionary value) is also discounted to its present value 
and added to the discounted income stream to arrive at the present market value of the property. 
 
Amortisation of EBITDA approach  
 
This is similar to a discounted cash flow method.  
 

7.2.4 Computation of RNAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019 
 
The RNAV of the Group is arrived at based on: 
 
(a) the unaudited NAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019, and adjusting for: 

 
(b) the net revaluation surplus arising from the valuation of the properties held by the Group; 

 
(c) the net revaluation surplus arising from the properties held by significant associated 

companies;  
 

(d) the loss on the potential sale of the office building at Third Avenue;  
 

(e) the loss on the sale of 31 Harvey Avenue. 
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The net revaluation surplus arising from the valuation of properties takes into account (i) 
estimated cost to sell including commission and marketing expenses; and (ii) potential tax 
liability on the revaluation surplus which would arise on a hypothetical sale of the properties at 
the market value for the purpose of Rule 26.3 of the Code. The Company has advised that, in 
a hypothetical scenario where the above properties are sold, the Group may incur potential tax 
liability at the relevant tax rates in the respective jurisdictions. As an illustration, the Company 
has advised that the applicable corporate income tax rate for the properties in Singapore is 
17.0% and for Australia is 30.0%. However, Management is of the view that there is no potential 
tax liability on the disposal of TEE Building in Singapore and Workotel and Thistle Guest House 
in New Zealand as any gain on disposal is capital in nature and is not subject to tax in these 
jurisdictions. 
 
Group’s properties 
 
The table below summarises the Group’s share of the net revaluation surplus/deficit arising 
from the valuation of the Group’s properties as at 30 November 2019: 
 

 
 
 

Property and location 
 

 
NBV as at 30 

November 2019 
(S$’million) 

 

Market value as at 
30 November 2019 

(S$’million) 
 

 
Net revaluation 

surplus/(deficit)(1)  
(S$’million) 

 

 
Percentage share of 
the net revaluation 
surplus/(deficit)(2) 

(S$’million) 
 

Development properties  

1. Lattice One 
 
 

 41.54  69.70 4.03 4.03 

2. 35 Gilstead 
 
 

 90.71  140.70 5.47 3.28 

Completed properties held for sale 

3. 183 Longhaus  
 
 

27.43 40.00 8.65 8.65 

PPE     

4. Larmont Hotel  
 

38.19 46.52 5.86 3.21 

Investment properties     

5. Workotel and Thistle 
Guest House 
 

7.04 6.69 (0.35) (0.26) 

6. TEE Building 
 

21.50 21.50 NIL NIL 

      
Group’s share of total net revaluation surplus 18.91 
      

 
Properties held by significant associated companies 

 
The table below summarises the Group’s share of the net revaluation surplus arising from the 
valuation of the properties held by its significant associated companies as at 30 November 2019: 
 

 
 
 

Property and location 
 

 
NBV as at 30 

November 2019 
(S$’million) 

 

Market value as at 
30 November 2019 

(S$’million) 
 

 
Net revaluation 

surplus/(deficit)(1)  
(S$’million) 

 

 
Percentage share of 
the net revaluation 
surplus/(deficit)(2) 

(S$’million) 
 

Completed properties held for sale  

1. TRIO @ Sam Leong 
 

46.90  50.09 0.16 0.06 

2. Hexacube 
 

28.54  45.17 11.93 3.58 

 
Group’s share of total net revaluation surplus 

 
3.64 

 
Source: Management, valuation reports and valuation certificates 
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Notes: 
 
(1) This is generally arrived at based on the difference between the market value and the NBV of the property, and 

deducting selling expenses, any potential tax liabilities and after taking into consideration tax losses carried 
forward. In respect of the development projects, the net revaluation surplus is arrived at based on the GDV of 
the respective projects and after deducting cost of development, selling expenses, any potential tax liabilities 
after taking into consideration tax losses carried forward, and after adjusting for revenue and cost already 
recognised for sold units on the percentage of completion basis; and  

 
(2) Based on the Group’s interest in the respective properties. 

 
Price-to-RNAV (“P/RNAV”) ratio implied by the Offer Price 
 
The net asset backing of the Group is measured by its NAV, NTA, revalued NAV or revalued 
NTA value. 
 
The NAV and NTA based valuation approach provide an estimate of the value of a company 
assuming the hypothetical sale of all its assets over a reasonable period of time and would be 
more relevant for asset-based companies or where the subject company intends to realise or 
convert the uses of all or most of its assets. Such a valuation approach would be particularly 
appropriate when applied in circumstances where the business is to cease operations or where 
the profitability of the business being valued is not sufficient to sustain an earnings-based 
valuation. 
 
The NAV and NTA based valuation approach show the extent to which the value of each Share 
is backed by the Group’s tangible and intangible assets. NTA is derived by deducting intangible 
assets from the NAV and the NTA based valuation approach shows the extent to which the 
value of each Share is backed by its net tangible assets. 
 
The P/NAV ratio implied by the Offer Price is 0.7 times based on the NAV per Share of 
S$0.2513 as at 30 November 2019, that is, the Offer Price is at a discount of 28.8% to the NAV 
per Share.  
 
As shown above, the total net revaluation surplus on the revalued properties held by the Group 
and by its significant associated companies are S$18.91 million and S$3.64 million respectively. 
Accordingly, after taking into consideration the above net revaluation surpluses, the estimated 
loss from the potential sale of the office building at Third Avenue and the loss from the sale of 
31 Harvey Avenue, the unaudited RNAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019 is computed as 
follows: 
 

 
 Estimated RNAV of the Group 

 
 

 
S$’million 

 
 

 
Per Share(1)  

(S$) 
 

    
(a) Unaudited NAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019 

 
112.29 0.2513 

(b) Add: net revaluation surplus arising from valuation of 
properties held by the Group 

 

18.91 
 

0.0423 

(c) Add: net revaluation surplus arising from valuation of 
properties held by significant associated companies 

 

3.64 0.0081 

(d) Less: loss on potential sale of office building at Third 
Avenue 

 

(6.51) (0.0146) 

(e) Less: loss on sale of 31 Harvey Avenue 
 

(0.38) (0.0009) 

    
 Estimated RNAV of the Group as at 30 November 2019 127.95 0.2863(2) 

    
 
Notes: 

 
(1) Based on 446,876,000 issued Shares; and 

 
(2) Does not add up due to rounding. 
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Based on the RNAV per Share of S$0.2863 as at 30 November 2019, the Offer Price of S$0.179 
represents a P/RNAV ratio of 0.6 times, or a discount of 37.5% to the RNAV per Share.  
 
As discussed in Section 7.2.1 above, an earnings approach in assessing the valuation of the 
Group (implied by the Offer Price) is not appropriate as the Group has reported historical losses. 
We have therefore considered the asset backed approach, in particular, the P/RNAV multiple, 
in assessing the valuation of the Group (implied by the Offer Price).  
 
Confirmation by the Company  
 
Besides taking into consideration the independent valuation of the properties provided to us, in 
our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have also considered whether there is any 
other asset which should be valued at an amount that is materially different from that which was 
recorded in the statement of financial position of the Group as at 30 November 2019, and 
whether there are any factors which have not been otherwise disclosed in the financial 
statements of the Group that are likely to impact the NAV as at 30 November 2019.  
 
In respect of the above, the Directors and the Management have confirmed to us that as at the 
Latest Practicable Date, to the best of their knowledge and belief, and save as disclosed in the 
valuation reports, the Company’s estimation of the potential tax liabilities/(credit) on the 
revaluation surplus/(deficit), tax losses carried forward as disclosed in this Letter and save for 
the announcements made by the Company since 30 November 2019 to the Latest Practicable 
Date: 
 
(a) there are no material differences between the realisable value of the Group’s assets and 

their respective book values as at 30 November 2019 which would have a material impact 
on the NAV of the Group;  

 
(b) other than that already provided for or disclosed in the Group’s financial statements as 

at 30 November 2019, there are no other contingent liabilities (save for corporate 
guarantees provided in the ordinary course of business of the Group), bad or doubtful 
debts or material events which are likely to have a material impact on the NAV of the 
Group as at the Latest Practicable Date; 

 
(c) there are no litigation, claim or proceeding pending or threatened against the Company 

or any of its subsidiaries or of any fact likely to give rise to any proceeding which might 
materially and adversely affect the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries 
taken as a whole; 

 
(d) there are no intangible assets which ought to be disclosed in the statement of financial 

position of the Group in accordance with SFRS(I) and which have not been so disclosed 
and where such intangible assets would have a material impact on the overall financial 
position of the Group; and 

 
(e) save for the proposed TEE Building Disposal (which has been announced by the 

Company) and the potential sale of the office building at Third Avenue (as described 
above), there are no material acquisitions and disposals of assets by the Group between 
30 November 2019  and the Latest Practicable Date, and the Group does not have any 
plans for any such impending material acquisition or disposal of assets, conversion of the 
use of its material assets or material change in the nature of the Group’s business, save 
for the sales of development properties which is in the ordinary course of business of the 
Group and any announced plans and intentions that the Offeror may have for the Group. 
 

7.2.5 Cessation of quarterly reporting and change in financial year end 
 

The Company had, on 18 February 2020, following recent amendments to Rule 705(2) of the 
Listing Manual (“Amended Listing Rules”) which came into effect on 7 February 2020, 
announced that it will not be required to release its financial results on a quarterly basis. The 
Board has, after due deliberation (including taking in consideration, inter alia, the compliance 
efforts in connection therewith) decided not to continue with quarterly reporting of the Company 
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Last trading day 
prior to the 

release of Pre- 
Conditional Offer 

Announcement:  
9 January 2020 

and Group’s financial results, and instead, the Company will announce the financial results on 
a half-yearly basis, as required under the Amended Listing Rules. Therefore, the next financial 
results release will be in respect of the full financial year. 
 
In the same announcement, the Company further announced the change of its financial year 
end from 31 May to 31 March. Accordingly, following the change of the financial year end, the 
current financial year of the Company will be for a 10-month period from 1 June 2019 to 31 
March 2020.  
 
The change in the financial year end is to align its financial year end to meet the overall reporting 
and consolidation calendar of the Offeror. 
 
Therefore, Shareholders should note that the Company will announce its full year results of the 
Group for the 10-month period from 1 June 2019 to 31 March 2020 by 30 May 2020. 

 
7.3 Historical Share price performance compared to the reported NAV per Share 
 

We note that the Shares have historically been trading at significant discounts to the reported 
NAV per Share, prior to the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement. In this regard, we have 
assessed the reported NAV per Share based on the quarterly financial statements of the Group 
and compared them against the Share price performance for the relevant periods up to the Last 
Trading Day.  
 
Following the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the 
Shares had traded close to and up to the Offer Price, presumably supported by the Offer Price. 
Hence, comparison of the share price performance against the reported NAV per Share during 
this period would not be meaningful.  
 
The chart below shows an overview of the Share price performance from 14 January 2019 and 
to the Last Trading Day vs the reported NAV per Share as announced by the Company from 
time to time during this period:  
 

Share price vs reported NAV per Share  
(from 14 January 2019 and up to the Last Trading Day) 

 

P
ric

e 
(S

$)
 

 
Source: Bloomberg L.P. and the Company’s results announcements for the relevant periods 
 
The table below shows the statistics of the discounts that the Shares have been trading at 
compared to the reported NAV per Share from 14 January 2019 and up to the Last Trading 
Day:  
 

2Q2019: 
S$0.331 

3Q2019: 
S$0.328 

4Q2019: 
S$0.271 

1Q2020: 
S$0.267 

Offer Price: S$0.179 

NAV per Share 
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Discount of the average Share price to the NAV per 
Share for the relevant periods 

(%) 

Maximum 48.1 
Minimum 46.0 
Mean 47.0 
Median 46.9 

  

The Company  
(implied by the Offer Price) 

28.8 
(based on NAV per Share as at 30 November 2019) 

 
37.5 

(based on RNAV per Share as at 30 November 2019) 
 

 
From the above, we note that: 
 
(a) the Shares have been trading at significant discounts to the respective reported NAV per 

Share for the relevant periods of between 46.0% and 48.1%, with the mean and median 
discounts of 47.0% and 46.9% respectively; 

 
(b) the discount of 28.8% implied by the Offer Price to the NAV per Share as at 30 November 

2019 is lower than the mean and median discounts, as overall, the Offer Price is higher 
than the historical traded Share Price; and 

 
(c) as the RNAV per Share is higher than the NAV per Share due mainly to the revaluation 

surpluses arising from the valuation of the properties, the discount of 37.5% implied by 
the Offer Price to the RNAV per Share as at 30 November 2019 is therefore wider than 
the Offer Price to NAV per Share. Notwithstanding the above, the discount of the Offer 
Price compared to RNAV per Share is still lower than the mean and median discounts, 
as shown in the table above. 

 
7.4 Comparison with precedent non-privatisation takeover offers of companies listed on the 

SGX-ST 
 

It is the present intention of the Offeror to maintain the listing status of the Company on the 
SGX-ST following the completion of the Offer, although the Offeror has also reserved its right 
to re-evaluate its positon, taking into account, among other things, the level of acceptances it 
receives and the prevailing market conditions at the relevant time.  
 
Therefore, for the purpose of assessing the Offer Price, we have compared the financial terms 
of the Offer with those of recent non-privatisation takeover offers that were announced since 
January 2018 and completed as at the Latest practicable Date, where the offeror has indicated 
similar intentions to maintain the listing status of the offeree company and these companies 
continued to be listed on the SGX-ST after the close of their respective offers (“Precedent Non-
Privatisation Takeover Offers”). These Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers pertain 
to target companies which are engaged in different businesses, including property development 
and property related activities, but exclude real estate investment trusts and business trusts. 
 
In total, there are 9 of such Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers, of which 2 are 
engaged in property development and/or property related activities. These takeover offers 
could be conditional or unconditional with respect to the level of acceptances for the offer. 
 
The analysis serves as a general indication of the relevant premium/discount that the offerors 
had paid in order to acquire the target companies without having regard to their specific industry 
characteristics or other considerations, and the comparison sets out:  
 
(a) the premium or discount represented by each of the respective offer prices to the last 

transacted prices and VWAPs over the 1-month and 3-month periods prior to the 
announcement of the Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers; and  
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(b) the premium or discount represented by each of the respective offer prices to the NAV or 

NTA of the respective target companies. We note that certain transactions had 
undertaken revaluations and/or adjustments to their assets which may have a material 
impact on their latest announced book values. In this respect, we have compared the 
offer price with the revalued NAV, revalued NTA or adjusted NAV or adjusted NTA of the 
Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers, where applicable.  

 
We wish to highlight that the target companies listed in the Precedent Non-Privatisation 
Takeover Offers as set out in the analysis below may not be directly comparable to the 
Company or the Group in terms of market capitalisation, size of operations, composition of 
business activities, asset base, geographical spread, track record, operating and financial 
leverage, risk profile, liquidity, accounting policies, future prospects and other relevant criteria. 
Each transaction must be judged on its own commercial and financial merits. The premium or 
discount that an offeror pays in any particular Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers 
varies in different specific circumstances depending on, inter alia, factors such as the intention 
of the offeror, the potential synergy the offeror can gain by acquiring the target, the prevailing 
market conditions and sentiments, attractiveness and profitability of the target’s business and 
assets, the possibility of a significant revaluation of the assets to be acquired, the availability of 
substantial cash reserves, the liquidity in the trading of the target company’s shares, the 
presence or absence of competing bids for the target company, and the existing and desired 
level of control in the target company. The list of the Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover 
Offers is by no means exhaustive and as such any comparison made only serves as an 
illustration. Conclusions drawn from the comparisons made may not necessarily reflect the 
perceived or implied market valuation of the Company. 
 
Shareholders should note that the above comparison with the Precedent Non-Privatisation 
Takeover Offers is purely for illustrative purposes only. 
  

     
Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price 

over/(to)  

Name of 
company 
 
 

Sector 
 
 

Date of 
announcement 

 
 

 

Last 
transacted 
price prior 

to 
announce-

ment  
(%) 

 

1-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

3-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

P/NAV 
(times) 

 
       
CH Offshore 
Ltd. 
 

Offshore support service 
provider in oil and gas 

26 Jul 2018 0.0 (11.0) (11.6) 0.5(1) 

Chew's Group 
Limited 
 

Food products 22 Aug 2018 26.2(10) 30.9(10) 33.4(10) 1.2(2) 

Sunrise Shares 
Holding Ltd. 

Trading and distribution of 
electrical products, the 
manufacture and assembly 
of electrical distribution and 
control equipment, and the 
provision of property 
consultancy and 
management services in 
the real estate and 
hospitality industries. 
 

06 Dec 2018 21.4 30.8 36.0 0.3(3) 

Thakral 
Corporation 
Limited 

Real estate related 
investment and marketing 
and distribution of brands in 
beauty, wellness and 
lifestyle categories 
 

04 Mar 2019 11.1 17.1 18.1 0.5(4) 

Sevak Limited Distribution of operator 
products and distribution 
services, ICT distribution 
and managed services, and 
mobile devices 
retail business.  
 

21 Mar 2019 5.9(11) 9.3(11) 9.8(11) 1.1(5) 
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Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price 

over/(to)  

Name of 
company 
 
 

Sector 
 
 

Date of 
announcement 

 
 

 

Last 
transacted 
price prior 

to 
announce-

ment  
(%) 

 

1-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

3-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

P/NAV 
(times) 

 
Ying Li 
International 
Real Estate 
Limited 
 

Property developer 03 Apr 2019 0.7 5.7 10.5 0.3(6) 

JEP Holdings 
Limited 

Provision of solutions for 
precision machining and 
engineering services 
 

14 May 2019 (12.8) (4.6) (5.2) 0.7(7) 

ISEC 
Healthcare Ltd. 

Regional provider of a 
comprehensive suite of 
medical eye care services 
with ambulatory surgical 
centres 
 

26 Aug 2019 5.9(12) 11.3(12) 15.1(12) 7.7(8)(13) 

DLF Holdings 
Limited 

Engaged in the business of 
mechanical and electrical 
engineering project 
development and turnkey 
contracting services. 
 
 

20 Sep 2019 (56.2)(13) (54.4)(13) (54.4)(13) 18.6(9)(13) 

       

High     26.2 30.9 36.0 18.6 

Low   (56.2) (54.4) (54.4) 0.3 

Mean   7.3 11.2 13.3 0.7 

Median     5.9 10.3 12.8 0.5 

       
 
Company 
(implied by 
the Offer 
Price) 

 

 
09 Jan 2020 

(Pre-Conditional 
Offer 

Announcement 
Date) 

 
 

 
8.0 

 
12.1 

 
19.6 

 
0.6  

(P/RNAV) 
 

 
Source: SGX-ST announcements and circulars to shareholders in relation to the Precedent Non-Privatisation 

Takeover Offers  
 
Notes: 
 
(1) Based on the revalued NAV per share of CH Offshore Ltd. as at 30 June 2018; 
 
(2) Based on the adjusted NAV per share of Chew's Group Limited as at 31 March 2018; 
 
(3) Based on the NAV per share of Sunrise Shares Holding Ltd. as at 30 June 2018; 
 
(4) Based on the NAV per share of Thakral Corporation Limited as at 31 December 2018; 
 
(5) Based on the NAV per share of Sevak Limited as at 31 December 2018; 
 
(6) Based on the revalued NAV per share of Ying Li International Real Estate Limited as at 31 December 2018; 
 
(7) Based on the revalued NAV per share of JEP Holdings Limited as at 31 December 2018; 
 
(8) Based on the NTA per share of ISEC Healthcare Ltd. as at 30 September 2019; 
 
(9) Based on the revalued NAV per share of DLF Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2019; 
 
(10) The benchmark VWAP share prices of Chew’s Group Limited used by the IFA to compute the premium of the 

offer price above market share prices were based on the date of the announcement of the term sheet on 8 June 
2018 instead of the date of the offer announcement on 22 August 2018;  
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(11) The benchmark VWAP share prices of Sevak Limited used by the IFA to compute the premium of the offer 
price above market share prices were based on 1 February 2019, being the holding announcement date. The 
takeover transaction of Sevak Limited is a partial offer; 

 
(12) The benchmark VWAP share prices of ISEC Healthcare Ltd. used by the IFA to compute the premium of the 

offer price to market share prices were based on 2 July 2019, being the last full trading day prior to the holding 
announcement date, instead of the pre-conditional offer announcement date; and 

 
(13) Excluded as statistical outlier in the mean and median computations.  

 
Based on the above, we note that: 

 
(a) The premia implied by the Offer Price over the last transacted price and the VWAP for 

the 1-month period and 3-month period prior to the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement 
Date are within the range and higher than the mean and median of the corresponding 
premia of the Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers;  

 
(b) The P/RNAV ratio of 0.6 times implied by the Offer Price is within the range, and between 

the mean and median of the corresponding P/NAV ratios of the Precedent Non-
Privatisation Takeover Offers; and 

 
(c) With respect to the target companies which are engaged in property related businesses 

in the Precedent Non-Privatisation Takeover Offers, namely Thakral Corporation Limited 
and Ying Li International Real Estate Limited, the premia implied by the Offer Price over 
the last transacted price and the VWAP for the 1-month period and 3-month period prior 
to the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date are higher than the mean statistics of 
these 2 target companies. The P/RNAV ratio of 0.6 times implied by the Offer Price is 
also higher than the mean statistics of these 2 target companies as shown below: 

 

     
Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price 

over/(to)  

Name of 
company 
 
 

Sector 
 
 

Date of 
announcement 

 
 

 

Last 
transacted 
price prior 

to 
announce-

ment  
(%) 

 

1-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

3-month 
VWAP 
prior to 

announce-
ment  
(%) 

 

P/NAV 
(times) 

 
       
Thakral 
Corporation 
Limited 

Real estate related 
investment and marketing 
and distribution of brands in 
beauty, wellness and 
lifestyle categories 
 

04 Mar 2019 11.1 17.1 18.1 0.5 

Ying Li 
International 
Real Estate 
Limited 
 

Property developer 03 Apr 2019 0.7 5.7 10.5 0.3 

Mean   5.9 11.4 14.3 0.4 

       
 
Company 
(implied by 
the Offer 
Price) 

 

 
09 Jan 2020 

(Pre-Conditional 
Offer 

Announcement 
Date) 

 

 
8.0 

 
12.1 

 
19.6 

 
0.6  

(P/RNAV) 
 

 
7.5 Comparison of valuation ratios of selected listed companies which are broadly 

comparable to the Group 
 

The Group is principally engaged in property development and property related businesses with 
a market capitalisation of S$80 million implied by the Offer Price.  
 
For the purpose of assessing the Offer Price, we have attempted to compare the P/NAV and 
P/RNAV ratios of the Company implied by the Offer Price with those of selected companies 
listed on the SGX-ST that are involved in businesses which can be considered as broad proxies 
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to the principal business of the Group, that is, listed companies that are engaged in property 
development and property related businesses (“Comparable Peer Companies”). For a 
meaningful comparison, we have selected Comparable Peer Companies with a market 
capitalisation of up to S$500 million as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date, as 
broad proxies to the Group.  
 
There are 14 of such Comparable Peer Companies, of which 3 are loss making for T12M. The 
Group was also loss-making for T12M.  

 
We have had discussions with Management about the suitability and reasonableness of the 
selected Comparable Peer Companies acting as a basis for comparison with the Group. 
Relevant information has been extracted from Bloomberg L.P., publicly available annual reports 
and/or public announcements of the selected Comparable Peer Companies. We make no 
representations or warranties, expressed or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. The accounting policies of the selected Comparable Peer Companies with 
respect to the values for which the assets, revenue or cost are recorded may differ from that of 
the Group.  
 
We wish to highlight that the selected Comparable Peer Companies are not exhaustive and it 
should be noted that there may not be any listed company that is directly comparable to the 
Group in terms of location, business activities, customer base, size of operations, asset base, 
geographical spread of activities, geographical markets, track record, financial performance, 
operating and financial leverage, future prospects, liquidity, quality of earnings, accounting 
policies, risk profile and other relevant criteria. As such, any comparison made herein is 
necessarily limited and it may be difficult to place reliance on the comparison of valuation 
statistics for the selected Comparable Peer Companies. Therefore, any comparison made 
serves only as an illustrative guide. 
 
A brief description of the selected Comparable Peer Companies, as extracted from Bloomberg 
L.P. is set out below: 
 
Company name 
 

Principal Business 

 
Top Global Limited 
(“Top Global”) 

 
Top Global develops real estate and offers support services.  Top Global primarily 
develops mixed use projects with lifestyle amenities. Top Global operates 
throughout Asia. 
 

Pollux Properties Ltd. 
(“Pollux”) 

Pollux is a property developer.  Pollux focuses on the development of residential and 
commercial properties. 
 

SLB Development Ltd. 
(“SLB”) 

SLB operates as a property development company. SLB develops industrial, 
commercial, and retail properties. 
 

World Class Global Limited 
(“World Class Global”) 

World Class Global provides property development services. World Class Global 
constructs residential buildings, as well as offers property investment services. 
World Class Global serves customers worldwide. 
 

Hatten Land Limited  
(“Hatten Land”) 

Hatten Land operates as a property developer. Hatten Land develops malls, hotels, 
and residential properties. Hatten Land serves customers in Singapore and 
Malaysia. 
 

Heeton Holdings Limited 
(“Heeton Holdings”) 
 

Heeton Holdings develops and sells private residential properties.  Heeton Holdings 
also manages and invests in residential, retail, and commercial properties. 

Sing Holdings Limited  
(“Sing Holdings”) 

Sing Holdings develops real estate.  Sing Holdings develops residential, 
commercial, and industrial properties and retains a stake in certain properties. 
 

Hwa Hong Corporation 
Limited  
(“Hwa Hong”) 
 

Hwa Hong is an investment holding company. Hwa Hong’s subsidiaries operate in 
general insurance, warehouse rental, packing of edible oil products, general trading 
in consumer products, and property management and development activities. 
 

Hiap Hoe Limited  
(“Hiap Hoe”)  

Hiap Hoe is an integrated property developer. Hiap Hoe develops luxury and mid-
tier residential properties. Hiap Hoe also seeks out civil engineering and construction 
contracts but its main focus is developing its own residential properties. 
 

SingHaiyi Group Ltd. 
(“SingHaiyi”) 

SingHaiyi is a diversified real estate company focused on property development, 
real estate investment and property management services. The group also holds a 
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Company name 
 

Principal Business 

diversified portfolio of income-generative assets in the commercial and retail sectors, 
with geographical reach into USA and widening exposure in Asia. 
 

Stamford Land Corporation 
Ltd  
(“Stamford Land”) 
 

Stamford Land is an investment holding company.  Stamford Land owns and 
manages hotels and travel agencies.  Stamford Land also develops and invests in 
properties. 

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited 
(“Tuan Sing”) 

Tuan Sing an investment holding company with interest mainly in property 
development, property investment and hotel ownership. 
 

Chip Eng Seng Corp Ltd. 
(“Chip Eng Seng”) 

Chip Eng Seng specializes in building construction activities in the private and public 
sector.  Chip Eng Seng also owns, develops, and invests in properties. 
 

Roxy-Pacific Holdings Limited 
(“Roxy-Pacific”) 
 

Roxy-Pacific, through its subsidiaries, develops and sells residential properties. 
Roxy-Pacific also owns and invests in hotels. 

Source: Bloomberg L.P. 
 
For the purpose of our evaluation and for illustration, we have made comparison between the 
Group and the selected Comparable Peer Companies using the P/NAV ratio or NAV approach 
to show the extent to which the value of each share is backed by its net assets. The NAV 
approach of valuing a group of companies is based on the aggregate value of all the assets of 
the group in their existing condition, after deducting the sum of all liabilities of the group. 
 

Comparable Peer 
Companies  

 
 

Last financial year end 
 

 

 
Market capitalisation as at 
the Pre-Conditional Offer 

Announcement Date   
(S$' million) 

 

P/NAV(1)             
(times) 

 

Top Global 31 Dec 2018 58.49  0.2 

Pollux 31 Mar 2019 91.06  0.5 

SLB 31 May 2019 107.73  0.7 

World Class Global 31 Dec 2018 119.06  1.0 

Hatten Land 30 Jun 2019 122.65  1.0(2) 

Heeton Holdings  31 Dec 2018 151.20 0.4 

Sing Holdings 31 Dec 2018 160.40  0.6 

Hwa Hong 31 Dec 2018 215.38  1.1 

Hiap Hoe 31 Dec 2018 371.74  0.5 

SingHaiyi 31 Mar 2019 388.12  0.6 

Stamford Land 31 Mar 2019 391.13  0.8 

Tuan Sing 31 Dec 2018 391.46  0.4 

Chip Eng Seng 31 Dec 2018 481.56  0.6 

Roxy Pacific 31 Dec 2018 495.51  1.0 
    

High    1.1 

Low   0.2 

Mean   0.7 

Median   0.6 

    
    

Company  
(implied by the Offer 
Price) 
 

31 May 2019 79.99 0.7 
(based on NAV as 

at 30 Nov 2019) 
 

0.6 
 (based on RNAV 

as at 30 Nov 2019) 
    

 

Source: Bloomberg L.P., annual reports and latest publicly available financial information on the Comparable Peer 
Companies as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date 
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Notes: 
 
(1) The P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Peer Companies are computed based on (a) their market capitalisations 

as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date; and (b) their NAV values as set out in their latest available 
published financial statements as at the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date; and 
 

(2) Based on the foreign exchange rate of S$1.00:MYR3.017 on the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date as 
extracted from Bloomberg L.P.. The reporting currency of Hatten Land is in MYR. 

 
Based on the above, we note that: 
 
(a) The P/NAV ratio of 0.7 times implied by the Offer Price is within the range, at the mean 

and higher than the median of the P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Peer Companies.  
 
(b) The P/RNAV ratio of 0.6 times implied by the Offer Price is within the range, at the median 

and lower than the mean of the P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Peer Companies. This 
comparison may not directly comparable as the published NAV information on these 
Comparable Peer Companies may not have incorporated revaluation surpluses on their 
property assets; and 

 
(c) When compared against Comparable Peer Companies which are loss-making for T12M, 

namely SLB, Hiap Hoe and Singhaiyi, the P/RNAV ratio of 0.6 times implied by the Offer 
Price is within the range of P/NAV ratios of these loss-making Comparable Peer 
Companies of between 0.5 times and 0.7 times. 

 
7.6 Dividend track record of the Company 

 
We set out below information on the dividends per Share declared by the Company in respect 
of the last three financial years and up to the Latest Practicable Date:  
 

 
Cash dividends declared 
 

FY2017 
 

FY2018 
 

FY2019 
 

6M2020 
 

Interim tax exempt dividend per Share (S$)  0.0015 0.0025  -  -  

Final tax exempt dividend per Share (S$) - 0.0015  -  -  

Total 0.0015  0.0040  -  -  

Average Share price(1) (S$) 0.1967  0.1915  0.1744  0.1511  

Dividend yield(2) (%) 0.76  2.09  -  -  

 
Source: Bloomberg L.P., the Company’s annual reports and announcements on SGXNET 
 

 Notes: 
 
(1) Based on the daily closing price of the Shares for the respective financial year/period; and 
 
(2) Computed based on total dividends per Share divided by the average Share price. 
 
Based on the above, we note that the Company had declared and paid dividends for FY2017 
and FY2018 with the total dividend per Share declared ranging from S$0.0015 to S$0.0040 per 
annum, and the dividend yield ranging from approximately 0.76% to 2.09% per annum. 
 
For FY2019 and 6M2020, the Company did not declare any dividends on grounds of prudence.  
 
We note that the Group had reported losses attributable to equity holders of the Company for 
FY2017, FY2018, FY2019 and 6M2020.  
 
The Company does not have a formal dividend policy. The Company had disclosed in its annual 
report that the form, frequency and amount of any proposed dividend will take into consideration 
the Group’s operating results, financial position, committed capital expenditure, working capital 
requirements and any other relevant considerations the Board may deem appropriate.  
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We wish to highlight that the above dividend analysis of the Company serves only as an 
illustrative guide and is not an indication of the Company’s future dividend policy.  
 
Following the change of controlling Shareholder from TI to the Offeror, the Company’s future 
dividend policy and any proposed dividends going forward will be determined by the Offeror 
and new board of directors of the Company that may be re-constituted.  
   

7.7 Other relevant considerations in relation to the Offer 
 
7.7.1 Unconditional Offer, no increase in Offer Price and Shut-Off Notice given 
  
 The Offer is unconditional in all respects. Accordingly, all valid acceptances tendered by 

Shareholders in respect of the Offer Shares by the close of the Offer will be accepted by the 
Offeror and will be paid for in cash.  

  
 Shareholders should note that the Offer Price is final. As the Offeror has stated that it does not 

intend to revise the Offer Price, it will not be allowed to amend or increase the Offer Price.  
 

The Offeror has also given the Shut-Off Notice for the Offer to close on 5.30 p.m. on 20 March 
2020. 
 
Shareholders should note that acceptances of the Offer received after 5.30 p.m. on 20 March 
2020 will be rejected.  
 

7.7.2 Likelihood of competing offers is remote 
  
 Prior to the Acquisitions by the Offeror, the attempts by TI to dispose of part or all of its interest 

in the Company had not been successful as noted in our analysis in Section 7.1 of this Letter. 
The Offer is a consequence of the successful completion of the Acquisitions by the Offeror and 
the disposal by TI of its entire interest in the Company. As at the Offer Announcement Date, 
the Offeror has acquired majority control of the Company.  

 
The Directors have confirmed that, as at the Latest Practicable Date, apart from the Offer being 
made by the Offeror, no alternative offer or proposal from any third party has been received. 
We also note that there is no publicly available evidence of any alternative offer for the Shares 
from any third party.  

 
 As the Offeror has already acquired statutory control of the Company as at the Latest 

Practicable Date, the likelihood of a competing offer for the Shares is remote. 
 
7.7.3 New controlling Shareholder  
 

The Offer is made in compliance with the Code.  
 
Regardless of the outcome of the Offer, the Offeror has already secured its dominant position 
as the new controlling Shareholder with a shareholding interest of 68.78% in the Company as 
at the Offer Announcement Date. The Offeror will therefore be able to pass all ordinary 
resolutions of the Company, except where such resolutions pertain to Interested Person 
Transactions (as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) where the Offeror and its 
associates are deemed as Interested Persons (as defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST) 
in the proposed transactions and will have to abstain from voting on these proposed 
transactions. 

 
7.7.4 Offeror’s intention for the listing status of the Company 
 
 It is the Offeror’s present intention to maintain the listing status of the Company on the SGX-

ST.  
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If the Company remains listed on the SGX-ST, Shareholders who did not accept the Offer will 
continue with the Company under the new leadership of the Offeror and the reconstituted Board 
following the cessation/resignations of Directors who are representatives of TI.  

 
It should also be noted that the Offeror has disclosed that it reserves the right to re-evaluate its 
position on the listing status of the Company, taking into account, amongst other things, the 
level of acceptances received by the Offeror and the prevailing market conditions at the relevant 
time. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the Offeror will take steps to preserve the listing 
status of the Company on the SGX-ST if the Company does not meet the free float requirements 
under the Listing Manual. 

 
7.7.5 Commentary by the Company in the results announcement for 6M2020 

  
The Company had made the following comments in relation to its business outlook in its 
announcement dated 9 January 2020 on the unaudited results of the Group for 6M2020:  
 

“Amidst the continued uncertainties in the global macro-environment, the operating 
environment in Singapore for the property market is expected to remain challenging and 
could affect the performance of the Group. Any delays in achieving 100% sales and/or 
completion of the Group’s existing properties which are subject to regulatory timelines and 
(if applicable) failure to obtain extensions thereof could also adversely affect the Group’s 
performance. The performance of the Group’s overseas markets are also expected to be 
affected by local economic developments as well as foreign exchange fluctuations.  
 
Moving forward, the Group will take a cautious approach when seeking opportunities to 
acquire new land sites and in making any investments. It will focus on improving its 
operations and sales, realising value in its investments as well as reducing its gearing. The 
Group will continually assess the market situation and refine its sales strategies where 
necessary.” 

 
In view of the cessation of quarterly reporting and change of financial year end as set out in 
Section 7.2.5 of this Letter, Shareholders should look out for the commentary by the Company 
on its business outlook in its next results announcement for the 10-month period from 1 June 
2019 to 31 March 2020 to be announced on the SGXNET by 30 May 2020, being its first full 
year results after the change of the financial year end. 

  
 
8. COMMERCIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH TI  
 

In connection with the Acquisitions, the Company will enter into certain commercial 
arrangements with TI upon completion of the Acquisitions as summarised in Section 1.2 of this 
Letter. The SIC has confirmed that the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA 
do not constitute a special deal under Rule 10 of the Code, subject to the IFA to the Company 
publicly stating in its opinion that the terms of these transactions are fair and reasonable so far 
as Shareholders are concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the Code.   
 
The Acquisitions were completed on 3 February 2020.  
 
We have been appointed as the IFA to opine on the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease 
and the TSA. 
 
The details of the commercial arrangements with TI are set out below and our evaluation and 
opinion on the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New Lease and the TSA are set out in Section 9 of 
this Letter. 
 

8.1 TEE Industrial Disposal 
 
(a) In conjunction with the Acquisitions, the Company had, on 3 February 2020, entered into 

the conditional sale and purchase agreement for the sale of TEE Industrial, a wholly-
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owned subsidiary of the Company, to TI. The principal activity of TEE Industrial is the 
owning and leasing of the premises in TEE Building. 

 
The Company has stated that the TEE Industrial Disposal will help strengthen the 
financial position of the Group and reduce its leverage. The Group will also have more 
flexibility to redeploy its resources to other property development projects and for working 
capital purposes.  

 
The existing lease for TEE Building was entered into between TEE Industrial and JTC 
Corporation as the head lessor of the land on which TEE Building is located, and it 
includes a condition that TI is required to hold not less than 51% in TEE Industrial. 
Following the completion of the Acquisitions, since TI no longer own any Shares and 
consequently any interest in TEE Industrial, TEE Industrial has sought, and JTC 
Corporation has provided, TEE Industrial a grace period of up to 30 July 2020 to complete 
the TEE Industrial Disposal to TI.   

 
The TEE Industrial Disposal is conditional on, inter alia: (i) approvals of shareholders of 
TI and the Company; (ii) the discharge by TI of the outstanding mortgage loan of TEE 
Industrial amounting to S$15.78 million as at 30 November 2019 (“Mortgage Loan”); and 
(iii) our opinion that the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal are fair and reasonable 
pursuant to Rule 10 of the Code.  

 
With respect to the EGM to be held by TI, pursuant to the PCK Undertaking, Mr Phua 
Chian Kin will vote in favour of the purchase of TEE Industrial by TI.  

 
The Company is also required to convene an EGM to seek Shareholders’ approval for 
the TEE Industrial Disposal as a major transaction under Chapter 10 of the Listing 
Manual. 

 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, TI and the Company have not convened their 
respective EGMs to approve the purchase and the sale, as the case may be, of TEE 
Industrial.  

 
We understand from the Company that the discharge of the Mortgage Loan by TI will 
enable the Company to withdraw its corporate guarantee which it had extended to Hong 
Leong Finance Limited (“HLF”) as part of the security for the Mortgage Loan. The TEE 
Building is mortgaged to HLF for the Mortgage Loan.   

 
(b) TEE Industrial owns a 6-storey industrial property with an aggregate gross floor area of 

5,164 square metres (“sq m”) located at 25 Bukit Batok Street 22, Singapore 659591, 
which is known as TEE Building. Other than the owning and leasing of TEE Building, TEE 
Industrial does not have any other business.   

 
The TEE Building is on lease from JTC Corporation for a period of 30 years lease 
commencing from 1 May 1992 with an option to renew for a further term of 30 years.  

 
The Company had commissioned JLL to carry out an independent valuation of TEE 
Building. Based on JLL’s independent valuation report dated 11 December 2019, JLL 
had opined the market value of the unexpired leasehold interest of TEE Building, free 
from all encumbrances, to be S$21.50 million as at 30 November 2019 (“TEE Building 
Valuation”). JLL had determined the TEE Building Valuation using the direct comparison 
method and income capitalisation method.  

 
In the direct comparison method, JLL had determined the valuation based on direct 
comparison with recent transactions of comparable properties within the vicinity, after 
making due adjustments for differences between the property and the comparable 
properties. In the income method, JLL had estimated the gross rental income less the 
necessary expenses such as property tax and land rental to derive a net rental income. 
This is then capitalized at an appropriate yield rate for the remaining period of the lease 
to arrive at the current market value.  
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JLL had noted that the plot ratio of the property has not been fully utilized as at the date 
of their valuation. Their valuation of S$21.50 million is on the assumption that the property 
is fully utilized, subject to formal planning approval from the relevant authorities, less off 
the construction cost of the additions and alterations.  

 
(c) The TEE Building which is classified as investment property in the books of TEE Industrial 

is marked-to-market based on the TEE Building Valuation of S$21.50 million as at 30 
November 2019. This had resulted in an impairment loss of S$0.50 million on the change 
in fair value of the property in the profit and loss statement of TEE Industrial for 6M2020. 
TEE Industrial had recorded a net loss after taxation of S$0.22 million for 6M2020. 

 
The NAV of TEE Industrial is in the negative position of S$0.88 million as at 30 November 
2019. TEE Industrial has a nominal paid-up capital of S$1 comprising one share. 

 
The total assets of TEE Industrial of S$S$26.60 million as at 30 November 2019 comprise 
mainly the TEE Building at S$21.50 million. The total liabilities of TEE Industrial of 
S$27.48 million as at 30 November 2019 comprise the outstanding Mortgage Loan of 
S$15.78 million and outstanding payables owing from TEE Industrial to the Company of 
S$9.23 million. 

 
(d) In view of TEE Industrial’s negative NAV position, the Company will dispose of TEE 

Industrial to TI for a nominal amount of S$1 for the one share of TEE Industrial. 
 
 In addition, on completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal, TI will repay or procure the 

repayment of all outstanding payables owing by TEE Industrial to the Company as at that 
date less the negative NAV of TEE Industrial based on its latest management accounts 
then. The Company and TI had agreed that the extent of the amount of negative NAV 
shall not exceed S$1.0 million.     

 
 Based on the management accounts of TEE Industrial as at 30 November 2019, the 

Group will receive cash consideration of S$8.35 million upon the completion of the 
TEE Industrial Disposal comprising S$1 for the one sale of TEE Industrial, and the net 
settlement of outstanding payables of S$9.23 million less the negative NAV of S$0.88 
million.  

 
 As at 3 February 2020, an amount of S$8.50 million is held in escrow pending completion 

of the TEE Industrial Disposal. In the event that the cash consideration is more than the 
escrow amount of S$8.50 million, TI will pay the difference to the Company based on the 
Company’s written notification to TI at least 3 business days prior to the date of 
completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal.  

 
8.2 New Lease 

 
(a) TEE Industrial currently leases certain premises in TEE Building to TI, PBT Engineering 

Pte. Ltd. and Trans Equatorial Engineering Pte. Ltd. (which are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of TI), and the Company. These leases expire on 29 February 2020. As an 
interim measure, parties to the commercial arrangements have agreed that these leases 
will continue on the existing rental terms up to and including the date of completion of the 
TEE Industrial Disposal. 

 
The SIC has confirmed that the above Lease Extensions do not constitute a special deal 
under Rue 10 of the Code. 

 
(b) However, upon completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal, TEE Industrial will enter into 

the New Lease with the Company in relation to the premises that the Company is 
currently using in the TEE Building. The New Lease pertains to an area of approximately 
8,052.8 square feet (“sq ft”) which will be rented out to the Company for S$17,716.16 
per month (“Rental Rate”).  
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The Rental Rate was derived from the market rental of S$2.20 per sq ft per month as 
concluded in the rental valuation report by SREC dated 27 December 2019. In arriving 
at its opinion, SREC had taken into consideration the rental rates of similar properties in 
the vicinity and made the necessary comparison and adjustments before arriving at the 
Rental Rate. 

 
The New Lease will help minimize disruptions to the Company’s operations subsequent 
to the TEE Industrial Disposal. 

 
(c) The New Lease will be for a term of 6 months, with an option to renew for a further term 

of 6 months at the same Rental Rate of S$17,716.16 per month. There shall be no further 
option to renew. 

 
(d) The Company shall upon the execution of the New Lease, deposit with TEE Industrial, 

as the landlord of the property, a security deposit of an amount equivalent to one (1) 
month’s rent in cash (“Security Deposit”). 

 
(e) The Company has the right to terminate the New Lease for any reason whatsoever at 

any time during the term of the New Lease by giving to TEE Industrial, as the landlord of 
the property, at least one (1) month’s written notice of termination. Upon expiry of such 
notice, the lease and the term shall be terminated without any compensation whatsoever 
to the landlord and the Company shall deliver vacant possession of the premises to the 
landlord in accordance with the terms of the New Lease agreement.   

 
8.3 TSA 

 
(a) TI has been providing certain IT, human resources and general administrative services 

to the Company. The Company requires the continued provision of these services for a 
period as well as the provision of certain transitional services from TI following the 
completion of the Acquisitions. 

 
Hence, on completion of the Acquisitions, the Company has entered into the TSA with TI 
for TI to provide certain transitional services to the Company (“Transitional Services”), 
to minimize disruptions to the Company’s operations subsequent to the completion of the 
Acquisitions.  

 
These Transitional Services include, inter alia:  

 
(i) IT/technology services such as server storage, networks/internet/emails, software 

support (including for accounting/payroll), trouble shootings, IT miscellaneous 
support (“IT/Technology Services”); 

 
(ii) human resources services such as payroll, recruitment, consultancy, personal data 

protection (“Human Resources”); 
 
(iii) general administration services such as cleaning, reception, courier services, 

telephone system administration (“General Administrative”); and 
 
(iv) migration services through the development and implementation of a plan to 

transition the foregoing transitional services from being provided by TI to the 
Company (or as the Company may arrange) including providing resources, sharing 
of information/technical know-how as well as testing of IT systems and 
troubleshooting (“Migration Services”).   

 
(b) Each of the Transitional Services is for an initial period of 6 months commencing from 3 

February 2020, with an option to extend for a further 6 months by notice in writing to TI, 
as the service provider, of not less than 10 business days before the expiry of the initial 
6-month term (“Service Term”). 
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(c) The Company may terminate one or more of the Transitional Services during the Service 
Term by giving prior written notice of at least one (1) month to TI, as the service provider, 
specifying the Transitional Services that the Company wishes to terminate (“Terminated 
Service”) and the date of termination of such Terminated Service. 

 
In addition, if the service provider has completed any Transitional Service prior to the end 
of the relevant Service Term and the Company confirms in writing that it no longer 
requires that Transitional Service, the service provider may terminate that Transitional 
Service immediately by providing written notice to the Company, specifying the 
Terminated Service and the date of termination. 

 
(d) The Company will pay the following service fees for the Transitional Services (“Service 

Fees”) as follows: 
 

Transitional Services Service Fees payable  
IT/Technology Services 
 

S$2,580 per month 

Human Resources 
 

S$2,760 per month 

General Administrative  
 

S$1,860 per month 

Migration Services S$250 per day per manpower 
 
This does not include all third-party costs (such as 
hardware/software expenditure, license fees, etc.) 
which are to be paid by the Company to the third parties 
directly. 

 
If there are proposed changes to the scope, nature, volume or execution of any of the 
Transitional Services, the service provider will within a reasonable time provide a written 
estimate of the impact of the changes including the variations of the Service Fees. 
 
If the cost of providing the Transitional Services changes to a material extent (including 
any change as a result of the change in the Transaction Services), the service provider 
will substantiate the proposed changes, and the proposed changes in the Service Fees 
will be subject to the Company’s approval (which shall not be unreasonably withheld). 
 
The Company had disclosed in its announcement on 3 February 2020 that the services 
rendered under the TSA will be charged at cost.  

 
 
9. OUR EVALUATION OF THE TEE INDUSTRIAL DISPOSAL, THE NEW LEASE AND THE 

TSA 
  
Our evaluation of the TEE Industrial Disposal, New Lease and the TSA pursuant to Rule 10 of 
the Code is as follows: 
 

9.1 TEE Industrial Disposal 
 

The basis of determining the cash consideration for the TEE Industrial Disposal after taking into 
account the recent independent market valuation of TEE Building is reasonable as TEE 
Industrial is essentially an asset backed company, owning and leasing the single property, TEE 
Building. 
 
TEE Industrial is in negative NAV position as its paid-up share capital is only a nominal amount 
of S$1 and has accumulated losses of S$0.88 million as at 30 November 2019. Technically, 
TEE Industrial is in negative net worth and hence its one share has zero value. Hence, the one 
share is to be transferred to TI for a nominal sum of S$1. 
 
TEE Industrial has been a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As such, the Company 
could fund the operations of TEE Industrial by way of paid-up share capital and/or inter-
company loans or advances, which are usually interest-free and with no fixed terms of 



A-41

APPENDIX A – LETTER FROM THE IFA
TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER  

PROVENANCE CAPITAL PTE. LTD. 41 
 

repayment. Either method of funding or combination of such funding options is common funding 
options between the parent company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, has no material impact 
to the Group and is not prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its Shareholders. Such 
inter-company loans or advances are seen as quasi-equity to the subsidiary company. 
Accordingly, losses incurred by such subsidiary company will affect the recoverable amount of 
the inter-company loans or advances by the parent company. In the case where the subsidiary 
company is funded by equity instead of inter-company loans, the losses incurred will result in 
reducing the net equity or NAV of the company. In terms of ranking in the return of monies in 
the event of a liquidation of the company, inter-company loans and advances are normally 
regarded as unsecured creditors which will rank ahead of equity but will rank after all secured 
debts of the company.  
 
We note that in the case of TEE Industrial, the operations of TEE Industrial which holds TEE 
Building are funded mainly by way of the Mortgage Loan and the outstanding payables owing 
from TEE Industrial to the Company. The Mortgage Loan are secured on the property, TEE 
Building, and the corporate guarantee from the Company, while the amount owing to the 
Company are interest free and has no fixed repayment terms. Following from our analysis of 
the funding options above, outstanding payables owing to the Company can be considered as 
quasi-equity, and the accumulated losses incurred by TEE Industrial will reduce the recoverable 
amount of the outstanding payables owing from TEE Industrial to the Company.   
 
Hence, the cash consideration which is derived ultimately by deducting the accumulated losses 
of TEE Industrial against the outstanding payables owing to the Company is reasonable, as the 
one share of TEE Industrial has zero value given the negative NAV of the company and is to 
be transferred to TI at a nominal sum of S$1. 
 
The extent of the deduction of accumulated losses or negative NAV is capped at S$1.0 million. 
As at 30 November 2019, the negative NAV of TEE Industrial was S$0.88 million. Management 
is of the opinion that the negative NAV position of TEE Industrial as at 30 November 2019 is 
not expected to deviate materially by the time of the completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal. 
The above cap is also to the advantage of the Company as it limits the Company’s exposure to 
further losses, if any, that TEE Industrial may incur after 30 November 2019 and up to the date 
of completion of the TEE Industrial Disposal.  
 
Pursuant to the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the outstanding Mortgage Loan will be 
fully repaid or refinanced by TI. This will release the Company of its obligations under the 
corporate guarantee which it had extended to HLF for the Mortgage Loan.  
 
Accordingly, the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal are fair and reasonable so far as 
Shareholders are concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. 
 

9.2 New Lease 
 

The basis of determining the Rental Rate for the premises to be leased back to the Company 
following the TEE Industrial Disposal which is based on SREC’s independent assessment of 
the fair market rental rate is at arm’s length and reasonable. 
 
The New Lease is for the interim period of up to 1 year (6 months plus option to renew for 
another 6 months period) and does not have any option to renew further. In addition, the 
Company has the right to terminate the New Lease at any time and for any reasons by giving 
at least one (1) month’s written notice of termination. This is consistent with the intent of the 
Company that the New Lease is to help minimize disruptions to the Company’s operations 
subsequent to the TEE Industrial Disposal.   
 
The Security Deposit is commonly required by landlord for property leases. The Security 
Deposit of 1 month for the duration of the New Lease of up to 12 months is reasonable in that 
context. 
 
As an illustration, based on the Rental Rate, if the Company were to lease the premises for the 
full 12 months period, the Company would pay total rent of S$212,594 to TI. 
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Accordingly, the terms of the New Lease are fair and reasonable so far as Shareholders are 
concerned in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. 
 

9.3 TSA 
 
TI has been providing certain IT/Technology, Human Resources and General Administrative 
services to the Company pursuant to a master service agreement dated 1 June 2016, the terms 
of which have not changed since then. The fees chargeable per month by TI to the Company 
for the IT/Technology, Human Resources and General Administrative services are S$2,150, 
S$2,300 and S$1,550, totalling S$6,000 per month.  
 
In addition to the above services, TI has provided to the Company services in relation to 
strategic planning and business development, tax, accounts, communications and public affairs, 
corporate legal, business control and risk, and management (“Strategic Planning and Other 
Services”), which are also chargeable on a monthly basis to the Company, and at a higher 
amount of S$17,000 per month in view of the nature and scope of these services.  
 
With the completion of the Acquisitions, the Offeror had identified the need for TI to continue to 
provide IT/Technology, Human Resources and General Administrative services to the 
Company for an interim period to minimize disruptions to the Company’s operations subsequent 
to the completion of the Acquisitions. However, the Offeror does not require the continuation of 
the Strategic Planning and Other Services from TI but has identified the need for TI to assist in 
the Migration Services following the completion of the Acquisition.  
 
Hence, the Transitional Services have been identified to pertain to IT/Technology, Human 
Resources, General Administrative and Migration Services and the Service Fees payable by 
the Company for these Transitional Services are set out in the table in Section 8.3(d) above, 
totalling S$7,200 per month.  
 
We have had a discussion with Management and representative from TI to understand the 
basis of the Service Fees payable for the Transitional Services. They are as follows: 
 
(a) the Service Fees for IT/Technology, Human Resources and General Administrative 

under the TSA are 20% higher than the existing fees to take into account inflation, higher 
staff cost and expanded scope of work on compliance matters as the existing rates have 
not been revised over the last 3½ years and the scope of work has not been reviewed 
since then;  
 

(b) as a cross-check, TI had estimated the costings of each of these departments based on 
the head-count, payroll and related cost, office rental and equipment depreciation, etc 
and apportionment of the monthly cost allocation to the Company, and had arrived at the 
monthly fees higher than the Service Fees payable under the TSA; 

 
(c) in respect of the Migration Services, the Company and TI envisage that in view of the 

nature of the services, the Company would require approximately 1 to 2 staff from the IT 
and HR departments over a period of 1 to 2 days to assist the Company to migrate the 
IT systems and handover all such services currently serviced by TI to the employees in 
the Company. As such, total fees for the Migration Services would be small, of up to 
S$2,000 in total.  

 
As an illustration, if the Company were to utilise the TSA services (IT/Technology, Human 
Resources and General Administrative) for the full Service Term of 12 months (6 months plus 
option to renew for another 6 months period) and the maximum estimated time and resources 
required for the Migration Services, a total of S$88,400 would be payable by the Company to 
TI. 
  
Pursuant to the TSA, the Company has the right to terminate any of the Transitional Services 
during the Service Term by giving at least one (1) month’s written notice of termination. TI, as 
the service provider, can also terminate any of the Transitional Services if TI and the Company 



A-43

APPENDIX A – LETTER FROM THE IFA
TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER  

PROVENANCE CAPITAL PTE. LTD. 43 
 

agree that the Transitional Service(s) has/have been completed prior to the end of the Service 
Term and the Company no longer requires that particular Transitional Service(s). 
 
The above is consistent with the intent of the Company that the TSA is to help minimize 
disruptions to the Company’s operations subsequent to the completion of the Acquisitions, and 
is on a “need-to” basis as such Transitional Services can be terminated once it is no longer 
required by the Company. 
 
Accordingly, the terms of the TSA are fair and reasonable so far as Shareholders are concerned 
in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. 
 
 

10. OUR RECOMMENDATION TO THE DIRECTORS ON THE OFFER AND OUR OPINION ON 
 THE TEE INDUSTRIAL DISPOSAL, NEW LEASE AND TSA PURSUANT TO RULE 10 OF 
 THE CODE 

In arriving at our recommendation in respect of the Offer, we have taken into account, reviewed 
and deliberated on the following key considerations which we considered to be pertinent in our 
assessment of the Offer:  
 
(a) Market quotation and trading activity of the Shares; 
 
(b) Financial analysis of the Group; 
 
(c) Historical Share price performance compared to the reported NAV per Share; 
 
(d) Comparison with precedent non-privatisation takeover offers of companies listed on the 

SGX-ST; 
 
(e) Comparison of valuation ratios of selected listed companies which are broadly 

comparable to the Group; 
 
(f) Dividend track record of the Company; and 
 
(g) Other relevant considerations in relation to the Offer. 
 
Based on our analysis and after having considered carefully the information available to 
us as at the Latest Practicable Date, overall, we are of the view that the financial terms 
of the Offer are fair and reasonable. Accordingly, we advise the Directors to recommend 
Shareholders to ACCEPT the Offer. 
 
Overall, based on our evaluation of the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the New 
Lease and the TSA, our understanding from Management of the commercial 
arrangements with TI and the information made available to us as at the Latest 
Practicable Date, we are of the opinion that the terms of the TEE Industrial Disposal, the 
New Lease and the TSA are fair and reasonable so far as the Shareholders are concerned 
in the context of Rule 10 of the Code. 
 
In rendering the above advice, we have not given regard to the specific investment objectives, 
financial situation, tax position, risk profiles or particular needs and constraints of any individual 
Shareholder. As each individual Shareholder may have different investment objectives and 
profiles, we would advise that any individual Shareholder who may require specific advice in 
relation to his investment objectives or portfolio should consult his legal, financial, tax or other 
professional adviser immediately. The Directors should advise Shareholders that the opinion 
and advice of Provenance Capital should not be relied upon by any Shareholder as the sole 
basis for deciding whether or not to reject the Offer. 

 
Our recommendation on the Offer is addressed to the Directors for their benefit, in connection 
with and for the purposes of their consideration of the Offer and may not be used or relied on 
for any other purposes (other than for the purpose of the Offer) without the prior written consent 
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of Provenance Capital. The recommendation to be made by the Directors to Shareholders in 
respect of the Offer shall remain the responsibility of the Directors. 
 
This Letter is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of Singapore, and is 
strictly limited to the matters stated herein and does not apply by implication to any other matter.  
 

 
Yours faithfully 
For and on behalf of 
PROVENANCE CAPITAL PTE. LTD. 
 
 
 
Wong Bee Eng      
Chief Executive Officer     



1. DIRECTORS

The names, addresses and descriptions of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date are set
out below:

Name Address Description

Er. Dr. Lee Bee Wah c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Non-Executive Chairman and 
TEE Building Independent Director
Singapore 659591

Mr. Phua Cher Chew(1) c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Executive Director and CEO
TEE Building 
Singapore 659591

Dr. Tan Khee Giap c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Independent Director
TEE Building 
Singapore 659591

Mr. Chin Sek Peng c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Independent Director
TEE Building 
Singapore 659591

Dato Paduka Timothy Ong c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Non-Executive Director
Teck Mong(1) TEE Building 

Singapore 659591

Mr. Neo Weng Meng, Edwin(1) c/o 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 Non-Executive Director
TEE Building 
Singapore 659591

Note:

(1) On 3 February 2020, the Company announced the cessation of Mr. Phua Cher Chew, Dato Paduka Timothy Ong
Teck Mong and Mr. Neo Weng Meng, Edwin as Directors with effect from the date falling immediately after the
despatch of this Circular. Mr. Phua Cher Chew will also cease as the CEO with effect from 3 August 2020.

2. REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY

The registered office of the Company is at 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore
659591.

3. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 18 December 2012 and is listed on the Main
Board of the SGX-ST. The Company is a regional real estate developer and investor, with a
presence in Singapore, Malaysia, Australia and New Zealand. The Group undertakes residential,
commercial and industrial property development projects, as well as invests in income-generating
properties such as hotels in Australia and short-term workers’ accommodation in New Zealand.

4. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

4.1 Number and class of Shares

The Company has only one class of Shares, being ordinary shares. The Shares are quoted and
listed on the Main Board of the SGX-ST. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the total issued and
paid-up share capital of the Company is approximately S$142,238,075 comprising 446,876,000
Shares. The Company does not hold any treasury shares.
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4.2 Rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting

The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting are contained in the
Constitution. An extract of the relevant provisions in the Constitution relating to the rights of
Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting is reproduced in Appendix F of this
Circular. The Constitution is available for inspection at the registered address of the Company at 25
Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591. Capitalised terms and expressions not
defined in the extract have the meanings ascribed to them in the Constitution and/or the
Companies Act.

4.3 Number of Shares issued since the end of the last financial year

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no new Shares have been issued by the Company since 31 May
2019, being the end of the last financial year.

4.4 Convertible instruments

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no outstanding instruments convertible into, rights to
subscribe for, and options in respect of, Shares and securities which carry voting rights affecting
Shares.

5. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5.1 Consolidated statements of comprehensive income

A summary of the audited consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group for
FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019 and the unaudited financial information of the Group for 2QFY2020
and 1HFY2020 is set out below.

Audited
Unaudited Unaudited Audited FY2018 Audited
2QFY2020 1HFY2020 FY2019 (Restated) FY2017
(S$’000) (S$’000) (S$’000) (S$’000) (S$’000)

Revenue 16,314 37,013 100,520 109,161 94,690 

Net (loss)/profit before tax (6,518) (8,087) (26,154) (9,423) 3,305 

Net (loss)/profit after tax (6,787) (8,200) (25,823) (8,999) 289 

Loss per share (cents) (1.56) (1.94) (5.33) (1.95) (0.23) 

Net dividends per share (cents) – – – 0.40 0.15 

The above summary should be read together with the annual reports and relevant financial
statements, copies of which are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company at
25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591 during normal business hours.

The unaudited financial information of the Group for 2QFY2020 is set out in fuller detail in
Appendix E of this Circular.

APPENDIX B – ADDITIONAL GENERAL INFORMATION

B-2



5.2 Statement of financial position

A summary of the audited consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 May
2019 is set out below.

Group
31 May 2019 31 May 2018 1 June 2017

Note (S$’000) (S$’000) (S$’000)
(Restated) (Restated)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11 25,021 28,997 34,068
Trade receivables 12 17,725 8,258 6,300
Other receivables 13 9,397 19,222 12,285
Inventories 46 58 27
Loans receivable from associates 14 10,839 14,376 25,860
Development properties 15 175,883 197,727 129,052
Contract assets 4 34,682 41,232 29,122
Completed properties and land held for sale 16 42,974 48,342 47,584

316,567 358,212 284,298
Non-current assets held for sale 17 – 47,617 47,481

Total current assets 316,567 405,829 331,779

Non-current assets
Other receivables 13 – – 6,000
Investment in associates 18 5,409 11,932 40,269
Property, plant and equipment 20 40,320 370 735
Investment properties 21 31,442 33,905 35,812
Deferred tax assets 22 3,861 4,343 3,561

Total non-current assets 81,032 50,550 86,377

Total assets 397,599 456,379 418,156

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank loans 23 1,994 6,499 1,499
Trade payables 24 17,781 31,731 24,187
Other payables 25 14,456 18,966 21,867
Contract liabilities 4 5,387 4,513 3,879
Finance lease 26 13 13 12
Long-term borrowings 27 87,436 97,658 45,530
Financial guarantee liabilities 28 130 186 200
Term notes 29 – – 29,939
Income tax payables 37 541 3,522

Total current liabilities 127,234 160,107 130,635
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Group
31 May 2019 31 May 2018 1 June 2017

Note (S$’000) (S$’000) (S$’000)
(Restated) (Restated)

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 22 386 1,025 374
Finance lease 26 13 27 38
Long-term borrowings 27 130,201 128,999 112,248
Financial guarantee liabilities 28 105 235 301
Loans from non-controlling interests 30 9,736 8,056 3,680

Total non-current liabilities 140,441 138,342 116,641

Equity
Share capital 31 142,238 142,238 142,238
Currency translation reserve 32 (361) 571 –
Merger reserve 33 (5,969) (5,969) (5,969)
Capital reserve 34 (6) (6) (6)
Accumulated (losses)/profits (14,610) 9,900 19,711

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the company 121,292 146,734 155,974

Non-controlling interests 35 8,632 11,196 14,906

Total equity 129,924 157,930 170,880

Total liabilities and equity 397,599 456,379 418,156

The above summary should be read together with the annual report for FY2019, the audited
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group for FY2019, which are set out in
Appendix D of this Circular, and the related notes thereto.

5.3 Significant accounting policies

A summary of the significant accounting policies of the Group is set out in Note 2 to the audited
financial statements of the Group for FY2019, which are reproduced in Appendix D of this
Circular.

Save as disclosed in this Circular and publicly available information on the Group (including but not
limited to that contained in the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2019 and Sections
4 and 5 of the unaudited financial information of the Group for 2QFY2020), there are no significant
accounting policies or any points from the notes to the financial statements which are of major
relevance for the interpretation of the accounts.

5.4 Changes in accounting policies

As set out in the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2019, the Group has adopted
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)”) for the first time for financial
year ended 31 May 2019.

The Group has adopted SFRS(I) 16, the accounting standard for leases which is effective for
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 June 2019.

SFRS(I) 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model. A lessee is required to recognise all
leases on its statement of financial position to reflect its rights to use the leased assets (“ROU”
assets) and the associated obligations for lease payments (lease liabilities), with limited exemptions
for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value items. In addition, SFRS(I) 16
replaces the straight-line operating lease expenses with depreciation charge of ROU assets and
interest expenses on lease liabilities.
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The Group has adopted SFRS(I) 16 using the modified retrospective approach as of 1 June 2019,
with no restatement of comparative information. Upon adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on 1 June 2019, the
Group recognised right-of-use assets of S$2,049,000 and lease liabilities (current and non-current)
of S$2,049,000.

Save as disclosed above and in this Circular, as at the Latest Practicable Date, there has been no
change in the accounting policies of the Group since the date of its audited consolidated financial
statements for FY2019 which will cause the figures set out in Sections 5.1 and 5.2 of Appendix B
to this Circular to be not comparable to a material extent.

6. MATERIAL CHANGES IN FINANCIAL POSITION

Save: 

(a) as disclosed in this Circular and publicly available information on the Company (including but
not limited to announcements released by the Company in respect of the change in its
financial year end from 31 May to 31 March as announced on 18 February 2020, and its
financial results such as the unaudited financial information of the Group for 2QFY2020 as
announced on 9 January 2020 and set out in Appendix E of this Circular, or which may be
released by the Company subsequent to the despatch date of this Circular); and 

(b) in respect of properties disposed by the Group in its ordinary course of business subsequent
to the despatch date of this Circular (including the potential sale of the office building at Third
Avenue, of which the Company is currently in discussions with a potential buyer for sale at
an agreed selling price of MYR63.0 million (S$20.62 million1) subject to the finalisation of the
terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement, and which the potential buyer has
paid to the Group an amount equivalent to 2% of the agreed selling price as earnest deposit.
Based on the agreed selling price, the said property would be sold at below its net book
value of S$26.8 million as at 30 November 2019, and after deducting commission and selling
expenses, the property is expected to be sold at a loss of S$6.51 million), 

there are no known material changes in the financial position of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date since 31 May 2019, being the date to which the Company’s last published audited
financial statements were made up.

Note:

1. Based on the foreign exchange rate of S$1.00 : MYR3.055 prevailing on 30 November 2019 as used by the Group
in the preparation of the financial results of the Group for 1HFY2020.

7. VALUATION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES

The Company has commissioned independent valuations of the Subject Properties.  As disclosed
in the Valuation Reports and/or Certificates, the basis of valuation is market value. Copies of the
Valuation Reports and/or Certificates are set out in Appendix G of this Circular.  The Valuation
Reports and/or Certificates in respect of the Subject Properties are available for inspection at the
registered address of the Company at 25 Bukit Batok Street 22, Singapore 659591.

Under Rule 26.3 of the Code, the Company is required, inter alia, to make an assessment of any
potential tax liabilities which would arise if the Subject Properties, which are the subject of a
valuation given in connection with the Offer, were to be sold at the amount of the valuation.  Based
on information provided to the Company by the respective Valuers, in a hypothetical scenario
where the Subject Properties are sold, the Group may incur potential tax liability at the relevant tax
rates in the respective jurisdictions.  As an illustration, the Company has advised that the
applicable corporate income tax rate for the properties in Singapore is 17.0% and for Australia is
30.0%.  However, the Company is of the view that there is no potential tax liability on the disposal
of TEE Building in Singapore and Workotel and Thistle Guest House in New Zealand as any gain
on disposal is capital in nature and is not subject to tax in these jurisdictions.
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As announced by the Company on 3 February 2020, the Company has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with TEE International for the sale of the entire issued and paid-up share
capital of TEE Industrial, which wholly-owns the TEE Building, to TEE International.

8. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF THE COMPANY AND THE DIRECTORS

8.1 Shareholdings and dealings

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) the Company does not have any direct or deemed interests in any Offeror Securities;

(b) none of the Directors has any direct or deemed interests in any Offeror Securities:

(c) each of the Company and the Directors have not dealt for value in any Offeror Securities
during the Relevant Period;

(d) save as disclosed below and in this Circular, none of the Directors has any direct or deemed
interests in any Company Securities:

Interests in Shares

Name Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of Shares %(1) No. of Shares %(1)

Er. Dr. Lee Bee Wah 2,159,033 0.48 – –

Mr. Phua Cher Chew 4,379,537 0.98 – –

Mr. Neo Weng Meng, Edwin 61,100 0.01 – –

Dato Paduka Timothy Ong 
Teck Mong

664,885 0.15 – –

Dr. Tan Khee Giap – – – –

Mr. Chin Sek Peng 260,000 0.06 100,000 0.02

Note:

(1) Based on the issued share capital of the Company of 446,876,000 Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at
the Latest Practicable Date.

(e) save for the open market purchases of 47,200 Shares on 19 August 2019 for S$7,080 and
14,600 Shares on 20 August 2019 for S$2,190 by Er. Dr. Lee Bee Wah, none of the Directors
has dealt for value in any Company Securities during the Relevant Period.

8.2 Directors’ intentions in relation to the Offer

The following Directors who have direct and/or deemed interests in the Shares, have, taking into
account their respective personal investment objectives, informed the Company of their intentions
in respect of the Offer as follows:

(a) Er. Dr Lee Bee Wah has informed the Company that she intends to tender the 2,159,033
Shares held by her in acceptance of the Offer;

(b) Mr. Phua Cher Chew has informed the Company that he intends to tender the 4,379,537
Shares held by him in acceptance of the Offer;

(c) Mr. Chin Sek Peng has informed the Company that he intends to tender the 260,000 Shares
held by him in acceptance of the Offer and his spouse intends to tender the 100,000 Shares
held by her in acceptance of the Offer;
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(d) Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong has informed the Company that he intends to tender
the 664,885 Shares held by him in acceptance of the Offer; and

(e) Mr. Neo Weng Meng, Edwin has informed the Company that he intends to reject the Offer in
respect of the 61,100 Shares held by him.

8.3 Directors’ service contracts

As at the Latest Practicable Date, (a) there are no service contracts between any Director or
proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries with more than 12 months to run,
which the employing company cannot, within the next 12 months, terminate without payment of
compensation; and (b) there are no such service contracts entered into or amended between any
of the Directors or proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the period
between the start of six months preceding the Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date and the
Latest Practicable Date.

8.4 Arrangements affecting directors

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) there are no payments or other benefits which will be made or given to any Director or any
director of any corporation, which is by virtue of Section 6 of the Companies Act, deemed to
be related to the Company, as compensation for loss of office or otherwise in connection
with the Offer;

(b) save for the resignations of Mr. Phua Cher Chew, Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong and
Mr. Neo Weng Mong, Edwin as Directors with effect from the date falling immediately after
the despatch of this Circular, and Mr. Phua Cher Chew’s resignation as the CEO with effect
from 3 August 2020, there are no agreements or arrangements made between any Director
and any other person in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the Offer; and

(c) none of the Directors has a material personal interest, whether direct or indirect, in any
material contract entered into by the Offeror.

9. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS OF THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

None of the IFA or any of the funds whose investments are managed by the IFA on a discretionary
basis, owns or controls any Company Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date, or has dealt with
any Company Securities during the Relevant Period.

10. MATERIAL CONTRACTS WITH INTERESTED PERSONS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there have been no material contracts (not being contracts
entered into during the ordinary course of business carried on by the Company) entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries with Interested Persons during the three years preceding the
Pre-Conditional Offer Announcement Date.

11. MATERIAL LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is engaged in any material litigation or
arbitration proceedings, as plaintiff or defendant, which might materially and adversely affect
the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole; and

(b) the Directors are not aware of any litigation, claim or proceeding pending or threatened
against the Company or any of its subsidiaries or of any fact likely to give rise to any
proceeding which might materially and adversely affect the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.
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APPENDIX C – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND AMCORP

The following information on the Offeror has been extracted from Appendix C of the Offer Document and
set out below.

“APPENDIX C – INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

1. DIRECTORS

The names, addresses and descriptions of all the directors of the Offeror as at the Latest
Practicable Date are as set out below:

Name Address Description

Soo Kim Wai c/o 138 Cecil Street Director
#12-01A
Cecil Court 
Singapore 069538

Lum Sing Fai c/o 138 Cecil Street Director
#12-01A
Cecil Court 
Singapore 069538

Hooi Toong Wan c/o 138 Cecil Street Director
#12-01A
Cecil Court 
Singapore 069538

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SHARE CAPITAL

The Offeror is a private company limited by shares and was incorporated in the Republic of
Singapore on 27 June 2018. Its principal activity is that of investment holding. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Offeror is US$1.00, comprising 1
ordinary share, held by Amcorp.

3. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL POSITION

3.1 Set out below is a summary of certain financial information extracted from the Offeror’s audited
financial statements for the financial period commencing from 27 June 2018, being the date of the
Offeror’s incorporation, and ending on 31 March 2019 (“FP2019”). As the Offeror was
incorporated on 27 June 2018, it has no audited financial statements prior to the Offeror’s audited
financial statements for FP2019. Since the Offeror’s audited financial statements for FP2019,
there have not been any interim financial statements prepared by the Offeror. The financial
information referred to in this paragraph should be read in conjunction with the Offeror’s audited
financial statements for FP2019. A copy of the Offeror’s audited financial statements for FP2019
are available for inspection at the registered office of the Offeror.



3.2 Income Statements

Summary statements of profit or loss

FP2019
(Audited)

(S$)

Revenue –

Exceptional items –

Other operating expenses (5,139)

Loss before income tax (5,139)

Income tax –

Loss for the financial period / total comprehensive loss (5,139)
for the financial period

Minority interests –

Net loss per share (5,139)

Net dividends per share –

3.3 Balance Sheet

Summary statements of financial position

As at 31 March 2019
(Audited)

(S$)

ASSETS

Current assets

Prepayment 5,325

Cash and cash equivalents 27,862

TOTAL ASSETS 33,187

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserve

Share capital 1

Accumulated losses (5,139)

Current liabilities

Other payables 38,325

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 33,187

APPENDIX C – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND AMCORP

C-2



4. MATERIAL CHANGES IN FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the making and financing of the Acquisitions and the
Offer, there has been no known material change in the financial position of the Offeror since the
date of its last published audited financial statements, for the financial period ended 31 March
2019.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies of the Offeror are disclosed in Note 3 to the Offeror’s audited
financial statements for FP2019. Copies of the Offeror’s audited financial statements for FP2019
are available for inspection at the registered office of the Offeror.

6. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There have been no changes to the significant accounting policies of the Offeror since 31 March
2019, being the date of the last published audited financial statements of the Offeror, which would
cause the figures set out in this Appendix C to be not comparable to a material extent.

7. REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of the Offeror is at 138 Cecil Street, #12-01A Cecil Court, Singapore
069538.”
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The following information on Amcorp has been extracted from Appendix D of the Offer Document and set
out below.

“APPENDIX D – INFORMATION ON AMCORP

1. DIRECTORS

The names, addresses and descriptions of all the directors of Amcorp as at the Latest Practicable
Date are as set out below:

Name Address Description

Tan Sri Azman Hashim c/o 2-01, Block B, Amcorp Tower Executive Chairman
AMCORP Trade Centre, 
18 Jalan Persiaran Barat 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor, Malaysia

Soo Kim Wai c/o 2-01, Block B, Amcorp Tower Group Managing Director
AMCORP Trade Centre,
18 Jalan Persiaran Barat 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor, Malaysia

Shalina Azman c/o 2-01, Block B, Amcorp Tower Deputy Group Managing 
AMCORP Trade Centre, Director
18 Jalan Persiaran Barat 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor, Malaysia

Shahman Azman c/o 2-01, Block B, Amcorp Tower Director
AMCORP Trade Centre,
18 Jalan Persiaran Barat 
46050 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor, Malaysia

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SHARE CAPITAL

Amcorp is a public company limited by shares and was incorporated in Malaysia on 26 April 1910.
Its principal activity is that of investment holding.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the issued and paid-up share capital of Amcorp is RM1,637.9
million which is made up of:

(a) RM1,424.0 million ordinary shares, comprising 1,071.7 million ordinary shares (including
11.7 million treasury shares) and

(b) RM213.9 million redeemable preference shares, comprising 80,930 redeemable preference
shares.

3. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL POSITION

3.1 Set out below is a summary of certain financial information extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2019, FY2018 and FY2017 of Amcorp (collectively,
“Amcorp’s Financial Statements”). The financial information referred to in this paragraph should
be read in conjunction with Amcorp’s Financial Statements and the accompanying notes as set
out therein. A copy of Amcorp’s Financial Statements is available for inspection at the registered
office of the Offeror.
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3.2 Consolidated Income Statements

Summary consolidated statements of profit or loss

FY2018
FY2019 (Restated) FY2017

(RM’000) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Revenue 420,227 462,239 446,029

Share of results of joint ventures 30,937 203,989 18,109

Share of results of associates 197,428 147,909 175,698

Exceptional items – – –

Profit before taxation 337,683 437,523 112,278

Profit for the financial year 315,978 378,537 48,764

Profit for the financial year attributable to: -

Owner of the parent 262,498 298,721 11,814

Non-controlling interests 53,480 79,816 36,950

Earnings per share attributable to equity 
holder of the Company: -

Basic (sen) 24.76 28.18 1.11

Diluted (sen) 24.76 28.18 1.11

Net dividends per share (sen) – – –

Note: The audited financial statements for FY2019 and FY2018 (Restated) were prepared in accordance with MFRS,
whilst the audited financial statements for FY2017 were prepared in accordance with FRS.

3.3 Consolidated Balance Sheets

Summary consolidated statements of financial position

As at
31 March 2019 

(RM’000) (Audited)

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 280,818

Investment properties 102,270

Investments in joint ventures 696,148

Investments in associates 2,413,809

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 77,406

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 392

Financial investments at amortised cost 420

Inventories 72,754

Loan receivables 1,681,204

Long term receivables 9,402

Deferred tax assets 83,727

5,418,350
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As at
31 March 2019 

(RM’000) (Audited)

Current assets
Financial investments at amortised cost 377

Inventories 206,622

Loans receivables 159,552

Trade receivables 23,317

Other receivables 59,713

Contract assets 18,463

Tax recoverable 3,830

Deposits, cash and bank balances 1,310,148

1,782,022

TOTAL ASSETS 7,200,372

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owner of the parent

Share capital 1,373,616

Treasury shares (12,701)

Reserves 2,298,750

3,659,665

Non-controlling interests 525,989

TOTAL EQUITY 4,185,654

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 1,857,275

Hire purchase and lease creditors 3,662

Long term payables 4,204

Deferred tax liabilities 2,134

1,867,275
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As at
31 March 2019 

(RM’000) (Audited)

Current Liabilities

Redeemable preference shares 264,267

Borrowings 716,565

Hire purchase and lease creditors 1,935

Trade payables 45,999

Other payables 75,616

Contract liabilities 14,803

Amount due to holding company 7,734

Amount due to a related company 1

Derivative liabilities 8,741

Current tax liabilities 11,782

1,147,443

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,014,718

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,200,372

4. MATERIAL CHANGES IN FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as a result of the making and financing of the Acquisitions
and the Offer and as disclosed in Amcorp’s Financial Statements, and any other information on
Amcorp which is publicly announced, there have been no known material changes in the financial
position of Amcorp since the date of the last published audited consolidated financial statements
of Amcorp.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

5.1 Amcorp’s audited consolidated financial statements for FY2017 were prepared in accordance with
FRS.

In FY2019, Amcorp adopted the new MFRS framework for its financial period beginning on 1 April
2018. Its audited consolidated financial statements for FY2019 have been prepared in accordance
with MFRS, IFRS and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. This was the first
set of financial statements of Amcorp prepared in accordance with the MFRS, including MFRS 1
First-time Adoption of MFRS.

In addition to the new MFRS framework, Amcorp adopted MFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9
as issued by IASB in July 2014) in FY2019.
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5.2 The financial impact arising from the transition to MFRS and adoption of MFRS 9 as disclosed in
Note 4 to Amcorp’s audited consolidated financial statements for FY2019 is summarised below.

(a) Adoption of MFRS 9

Upon adoption of MFRS 9 on 1 April 2018:

(i) Amcorp has made an irrevocable election to classify certain equity investments
previously classified as financial investments available-for-sale as financial
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income;

(ii) Re-measured certain unquoted equity investments at fair value;

(iii) Classified all financial assets previously classified as loans and receivables and held-
to-maturity as financial investments at amortised cost; and

(iv) Adopted a forward looking expected credit loss model in recognition of impairment
provision for financial assets.

Amcorp has elected the exemption under MFRS 1 which allows Amcorp not to restate
comparative information in the year of initial application. In Amcorp’s audited consolidated
financial statements for FY2019, it continued to apply FRS 139 Financial Statements:
Recognition and Measurement and FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures for FY2018
figures and FY2018 figures have not been restated to comply with MFRS 9. Adjustments to
align the carrying amounts of financial assets under FRS 139 and MFRS 9 are recognised
in the retained earnings or the relevant reserves as at 1 April 2018.

(b) Adoption of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers

(i) The adoption of MFRS 15 affected Amcorp’s recognition of revenue and cost of sales
for its property development activities, whereby:

(ii) It had deferred the recognition of the revenue from sales of properties where it was
not able to determine the probability that it would be able to collect the consideration
to which it would be entitled and if it does not have enforceable rights to payment for
performance completed to date;

(iii) Sales related expenses had been capitalised and expensed by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation; and

(iv) Purchasers’ cost borne by Amcorp in securing contracts with customers would be
accounted for as a reduction against the gross development value of the projects.

In Amcorp’s audited consolidated financial statements for FY2019, Amcorp has applied
MFRS 15 retrospectively in its opening MFRS statements of financial position at the
transition date of 1 April 2017 and throughout all year presented. Comparative figures,
including consolidated statements of profit or loss for FY2018 have been restated to give
effect to these changes.

The significant accounting policies of Amcorp are disclosed in Note 5 to Amcorp’s audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2019. A copy of Amcorp’s audited consolidated financial
statement for FY2019 is available for inspection at the registered office of the Offeror, during
normal business hours.
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6. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

There have been no changes to the significant accounting policies of Amcorp since 31 March
2019, being the date of the last audited consolidated financial statement of Amcorp, except for
the adoption of the following new MFRS, amendments to MFRS and Issues Committee (“IC”)
Interpretation that are effective for the financial period starting 1 April 2019:

MFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to MFRS 3 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015 – 2017 Cycle

Amendments to MFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Prepayments Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to MFRS 11 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015 – 2017 Cycle

Amendments to MFRS 123 Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015 – 2017 Cycle

Amendments to MFRS 128 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Adoption of the above new MFRS, amendments and IC Interpretation will not have any material
effect to the figures set out in this Appendix D and will not cause the figures set out in this
Appendix D to be not comparable to a material extent.

7. REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of Amcorp is at 2-01, Block B, Amcorp Tower, AMCORP Trade Centre, 18
Jalan Persiaran Barat, 46050 Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia.”
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APPENDIX D – AUDITED CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR FY2019

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2019 which are set out below have 
been reproduced from the Company’s annual report for FY2019, and were not specifically prepared for 
inclusion in this Circular.

All capitalised terms used in Note 2 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
FY2019 set out below shall have the same meanings given to them in the annual report of the Company 
for FY2019.

A copy of the annual report of the Company for FY2019 is available for inspection at the registered 
address of the Company at 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591, during normal 
business hours until the Closing Date.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Number of ordinary shares

Name of directors
  and companies in which
  interests are held

Shareholdings registered in
their own names

Shareholdings in which a director  
is deemed to have an interest

At At At At At At

1.6.2018 31.5.2019 21.06.2019 1.6.2018 31.5.2019 21.06.2019

Holding company

TEE International Limited

Ordinary shares

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – – – –

Warrants to subscribe for ordinary
  shares at the exercise price of
  $0.189 - $0.215 each

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

The Company

TEE Land Limited

Ordinary shares

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

SHARE OPTIONS
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

AUDIT COMMITTEE
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

Basis for Opinion 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Code of Professional 

Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities

Key Audit Matters 

Recognition of revenue from sales of residential and mixed-use properties

Description of key audit matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Recognition of revenue from sales of residential and mixed-use properties (cont’d)

Our audit procedures to address the key audit matter

Valuation of development properties and completed properties and land held for sale 

Description of key audit matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Valuation of development properties and completed properties and land held for sale (cont’d)

Our audit procedures to address the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Description of key audit matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Valuation of investment properties (cont’d)

Our audit procedures to address the key audit matter

Other Information

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group

2019

$’000

Revenue 100,520

(90,079)

Gross profit 10,441

1,353

(6,903)

(12,858)

(9,358)

(8,037)

(792)

Loss before tax (26,154)

331

Loss for the financial year (25,823)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

(1,513)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year (27,336)

Loss attributable to:

(23,840)

(1,983)

(25,823)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

(24,772)

(2,564)

(27,336)

Loss per share for loss attributable
  to equity holders of the Company

 (5.33)

 (5.33)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

25,021

17,725

9,397

46

10,839

175,883

34,682

42,974

316,567

–

Total current assets 316,567

Non-current assets

– –

5,409

40,320

31,442

3,861

Total non-current assets 81,032

Total assets 397,599

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

1,994

17,781

14,456

5,387

13

87,436

130

– –

37

Total current liabilities 127,234
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

Non-current liabilities

386

13

130,201

105

9,736

Total non-current liabilities 140,441

Equity

142,238

(361) –

(5,969)

(6)

(14,610)

121,292

8,632

Total equity 129,924

Total liabilities and equity 397,599
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Company

31.5.2019

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

459

110,877

– –

Total current assets 111,336

Non-current assets

13,229

32,446

Total non-current assets 45,675

Total assets 157,011

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

495 –

13,269

– –

646

– –

8

Total current liabilities 14,418

Non-current liability

459

Total non-current liability 459

Equity

142,238

(104)

Total equity 142,134

Total liabilities and equity 157,011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

S
ha

re
ca

pi
ta

l

Cu
rr

en
cy

tr
an

sl
at

io
n

re
se

rv
e

M
er

ge
r

re
se

rv
e

Ca
pi

ta
l

re
se

rv
e

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

pr
ofi

ts

Eq
ui

ty
at

tr
ib

ut
ab

le
to

 e
qu

it
y

ho
ld

er
s 

of
th

e 
Co

m
pa

ny

N
on

-
co

nt
ro

ll
in

g
in

te
re

st
s

To
ta

l
eq

ui
ty

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

$’
00

0
$’

00
0

G
ro

up

–
–

–

–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–



D-18

APPENDIX D – AUDITED CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR FY2019

74

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
capital

Accumulated
(losses)/profits

Total
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

–

–

Balance at 31 May 2019 142,238 (104) 142,134

–

–
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group
2019
$’000

Operating activities
(26,154)

792
2,191
2,135
2,872 –

–
–

3,600
5

181
665 –

–
–

542
(30) –

3,800
433

(186)
–

(349)
8,037

(1,466)

(9,562)
4,960

8
6,549

(5,725)
31,032

(13,418)
(3,422)

874
744

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 10,574

(432)
56

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 10,198

Investing activities
286 –

(257)
(46) –

–
2,131

–
–

3,221
(347)
482

Net cash from investing activities 5,470
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group
2019
$’000

Financing activities

(7,819)
495

(5,000)
34,935

(42,255)
(5,400)
5,400

(12)
–
–
–

1,680
–

(1,787) –
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (19,763)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,095)

28,997
119

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 11) 25,021

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:

– –

– – –
– –

–

– –
–

– –
1,994 26 217,637 – 219,657
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Corporate information

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

 Use of estimates and judgements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards

First-time Adoption of SFRS(I)

Summary of quantitative impact

Reconciliation of the Group’s total comprehensive income reported in accordance with FRS to SFRS(I)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Year ended 31 May 2018

FRS
Framework SFRS(I) 1 SFRS(I) 15

SFRS(I)
Framework

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue –

–

Gross profit –

–

Loss before tax –

–

Loss for the financial year –

Total comprehensive loss for the financial  
  year

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the Group’s equity reported in accordance with FRS to SFRS(I)

Statement of financial position

FRS
Framework SFRS(I) 1 SFRS(I) 15

SFRS(I)
Framework

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

As at 31 May 2018

Current assets

–

–

– –

–

Non-current assets

–

Current liabilities

–

– –

Equity

–

–

As at 1 June 2017

Current assets

–

– –

Non-current assets

–

Current liabilities

–

– –

Equity

– –

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

Reconciliation of the Group’s statement of cash flows reported in accordance with FRS to SFRS(I)

Consolidated statement of cashflows 

Year ended 31 May 2018
FRS

Framework SFRS(I) 1 SFRS(I) 15
SFRS(I)

Framework
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Operating activities
–
–

–
–

– –
–
–
–

– –
–
– –
– –

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities –

Financing activities
–
– –

Net cash from financing activities –

Group
As previously Amount As

reported reclassified reclassified
$’000 $’000 $’000

Operating activities

Financing activities
–

Net cash from financing activities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

 Explanatory notes to reconciliation

SFRS(I)

Currency translation reserve 

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

 Explanatory notes to reconciliation (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

 Explanatory notes to reconciliation (cont’d)

SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments

Classification and measurement
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

 Explanatory notes to reconciliation (cont’d)

 SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Classification and measurement (cont’d)

Group SFRS(I) 9 measurement category

Original
carrying
amount

Amortised
cost

$’000 $’000

At 1 June 2018

SFRS(I) 9 measurement category

Loans and receivables 

Company SFRS(I) 9 measurement category

Original
carrying
amount

Amortised
cost

$’000 $’000

At 1 June 2018

FRS 39 measurement category

Loans and receivables 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d)

New and revised standards (cont’d)

 Explanatory notes to reconciliation (cont’d)

 SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

 Impairment

Allowance for
impairment

under FRS 39
as at

31 May 2018 Remeasurement

ECL under
SFRS(I) 9

as at
1 June 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

–

SFRS(I) 16 Leases

Leases
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Revenue

Sales of development properties 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(b) Revenue (cont’d)

 Revenue from hotel operations

 Rental income

 Dividend income

 Interest income

(c) Subsidiaries

(d) Basis of consolidation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(d) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

(e) Associates
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(e) Associates (cont’d)

(f) Non-current assets held for sale

(g) Property, plant and equipment
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(g) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

 Depreciation

Years

(h) Investment properties

 

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

(j) Development properties/completed properties and land held for sale

(k) Inventories

(l) Financial assets

The accounting policy for financial assets before 1 June 2018 are as follows:

Classification
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Financial assets (cont’d)

The accounting policy for financial assets before 1 June 2018 are as follows (cont’d):

 Recognition and derecognition

Initial measurement

Subsequent measurement

 Impairment

 Offset

 The accounting policy for financial assets from 1 June 2018 onwards are as follows:

 Recognition and derecognition
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Financial assets (cont’d)

 The accounting policy for financial assets from 1 June 2018 onwards are as follows (cont’d):

 Classification and measurement

 Impairment
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(l) Financial assets (cont’d)

 Impairment (cont’d)

 The accounting policy for financial assets from 1 June 2018 onwards are as follows (cont’d):

 Offset

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n) Financial liabilities

(o) Financial guarantees
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p) Provisions for other liabilities

(q) Share capital

(r) Leases

 When Group entity is the lessee:

 Finance leases

 Operating leases

 When Group entity is the lessor:

 Operating leases
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(s) Government grants

(t) Employee benefits

 Employee leave entitlement

 Defined contribution plans

(u) Borrowing costs

(v) Income taxes
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(v) Income taxes (cont’d)

(w) Dividends

(x) Segment reporting

(y) Foreign currencies

 Functional and presentation currency 

 Transactions and balances
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(y) Foreign currencies (cont’d)

 Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

 Non-current asset held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies (cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Revenue from sales of development properties 

Development properties/completed properties and land held for sale
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Valuation of investment properties

Impairment of investment in associates and subsidiaries

Calculation of allowance for impairment loss for financial assets at amortised cost and financial guarantee contracts 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Revenue

Group

2019

$’000

90,808

7,310

2,402

100,520

Sales of
development properties Hotel operations Rental income Total

2019 2019 2019 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Primary
  geographical
  markets

77,879 – – 1,204 79,083

12,493 – – – – 12,493

– – 7,310 – – 7,310

– – – – 1,198 1,198

436 – – – – 436

90,808 7,310 2,402 100,520

Major product 
  or service line 

90,372 – – – – 90,372

436 – – – – 436

– – 7,310 – – 7,310

– – – – 2,402 2,402

90,808 7,310 2,402 100,520

Timing of revenue
  recognition

436 331 – – 767

90,372 6,979 2,402 99,753

90,808 7,310 2,402 100,520
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Revenue (cont’d)

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation

Contract assets and contract liabilities 

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

34,682

(5,387)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Other operating income

Group

2019

$’000

349

30 –

–

–

–

186

88

316 –

384

1,353

6 Other operating expenses
 

Group

2019

$’000

1,026 –

542

–

–

3,600

2,191

5

181

665 –

728 –

420 –

9,358

7 Finance costs
 

Group

2019

$’000

8,036

–

1

8,037
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 Loss before tax

Group

2019

$’000

114

81

24

(29)

41

51

(3)

294

148

266

4,405

–

2,135

2,872 –

3,800

433

–

165

9 Tax credit

Group

2019

$’000

109

(268)

(576)

374

30

(331)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Tax credit (cont’d)

Group

2019

$’000

(26,154)

792

(25,362)

(4,312)

1,837

2,645

(26)

30

(477)

106

(134)

(331)

10 Loss per share

Group

2019

(23,840)

446,876

(5.33)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 Cash and cash equivalents

31.5.2019

$’000

Group

3,709

2

2,944

18,366

–

25,021

Company

457

2

459

12 Trade receivables
 

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

15,543

2,193

(11) –

17,725
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 Other receivables

31.5.2019
$’000

Group

Current

33
– –

2,109
739

– –

204
1,828
1,113
3,374

803
1,632

58 – –

11,893
(3,736)
8,157
1,240

9,397

Non-current

– –

9,397

Company
Current

980
15

110,409
140

111,544
(667) – –

110,877

Non-current

13,229
124,106

2019
$’000

2,827
2,213

(3,800)
1,240
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13 Other receivables (cont’d)
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14 Loans receivable from associates

31.5.2019
$’000

Group
11,504

(665) – –
10,839

Company
– –

15 Development properties 

Group
31.5.2019

$’000

167,420
8,463

175,883

Name of
property/Location Description Tenure

Estimated
percentage

of
completion

Year to be
completed/

Expected 
completion

Land 
area

(sq m)

Gross
floor 
area

(sq m)

Group’s
interest in
property

(%)

α

α

α

α
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15 Development properties (cont’d)

16 Completed properties and land held for sale
  

Group

2019

$’000

54,618

534 –

26,416

(34,333)

(209) –

47,026

(4,052)

42,974

Name of
Property/location Description Tenure

Land area
(sq m)

Gross
floor area

(sq m)

Group’s
interest in
property

(%)

–
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16 Completed properties and land held for sale (cont’d)

17 Non-current asset held for sale
 

Group

2019

$’000

47,617

(47,617) –

–

–

–

–

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Address of properties
Tenure of
property Existing use

Gross
floor area

(sq m)

Group’s
effective interest

(%)
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18 Investment in associates

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

– –

1,724

2,800

4,524

4,756

(3,871) –

5,409

Name of associate/
Place of incorporation and operation Principal activity

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

31.5.2019

%

20.0

20.0

32.0

20.0

45.0

20.0

– –
(formerly known as Chewathai Limited)

45.0

35.0

30.0

–
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18 Investment in associates (cont’d)

Name of associate/
Place of incorporation and operation Principal activity

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

31.5.2019

%

– –

– –

Group

2019

$’000

271 –

3,600

–

3,871

inter alia
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18 Investment in associates (cont’d)

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

135,722

(118,285)

17,437

4,524

5,290

(3,883)

(792)

2,131
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18
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19 Investment in subsidiaries

Company

31.5.2019

$’000

30,178

(2,117)

4,385

32,446

Company

2019

$’000

1,253

864

2,117

Name of subsidiary/
Place of incorporation 
and operation Principal activity

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

31.5.2019

%

100

100

100

100

100

100
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of subsidiary/
Place of incorporation 
and operation Principal activity

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

31.5.2019
%

100

100

100

100

  (formerly known as TEE
  Vista Pte. Ltd.)

51

(formerly known as Ley
  Choon Development Pte Ltd)

100

60 –

Held by TEE Property
  Pte. Ltd.

65

100

60

Held by Klang City
  Development Pte. Ltd.

60
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name of subsidiary/
Place of incorporation 
and operation Principal activity

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

31.5.2019

%

Held by TEE Hospitality
  Pte. Ltd.

100

55

55

75.1

Held by Teematic Private
  Limited

75.1

Incorporation of TEE Forward Pte. Ltd.
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

 

Name of subsidiary
Place of incorporation

and operation

Effective equity interest
and voting power held by
non-controlling interests

31.5.2019

%

24.9

45.0

45.0

  (formerly known as TEE Vista Pte. Ltd.) 49.0

40.0 –

Name of subsidiary Profit/(loss) allocated
to non-controlling

interests

Accumulated
non-controlling

interests

2019 31.5.2019

$’000 $’000

(144) (99)

156 –

(1,146) 8,773

  (formerly known as TEE Vista Pte. Ltd.) 476 632

(1,387) (748) –

62 74

(1,983) 8,632
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

TEE Oceania
Pte Limited

and its
subsidiaries

JPJ
Properties

Pty Ltd

Potts Point
Hospitality

Pty Ltd

Development
35

Pte. Ltd.

TEE
Forward
Pte. Ltd.

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Summarised statements of financial position

31.5.2019

–

– –

–

– –

(964) – 19,499 1,290 (1,870)

(99) – 8,773 632 (748)

–

– –

–

– –

–

– – –

–

–
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

TEE Oceania
Pte Limited

and its
subsidiaries

JPJ
Properties

Pty Ltd

Potts Point
Hospitality

Pty Ltd

Development
35

Pte. Ltd.

TEE
Forward
Pte. Ltd.

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Summarised income statement

2019

–

– –

– –

– –

Summarised statement of cash flows

2019

– – –

–

5 (367) 140 4,672 396
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19 Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

TEE Oceania
Pte Limited

and its
subsidiaries

JPJ
Properties

Pty Ltd

Potts Point
Hospitality

Pty Ltd

Development
35

Pte. Ltd.

TEE
Forward
Pte. Ltd.

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Summarised income statement

2018

– –

– –

– –

– –

Summarised statement of cash flows

2018

– –
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20
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20 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

31.5.2019

$’000

4,277

30,571

5,320

40,168

21 Investment properties
 

Group

2019

$’000

33,905

46 –

(318)

(2,191)

31,442
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21 Investment properties (cont’d)

Name of property/Location Tenure Description
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21 Investment properties (cont’d)

31.5.
2019

31.5.
2019

$’000

7,188 10.00%

$250 - 
$500

22,000 $3,500 -
$4,900

2,254 $3,600 - 
$8,000

97.00%

$2,700/ 
week

$2,500/ 
week

91.00%

6.00%
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22 Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)

Recognition
profits from 
properties

under
development Tax losses Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

386 (3,861) (3,475)

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

386

(3,861)

(3,475)
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23 Bank loans

24 Trade payables

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

13,276

1,238

3,267

17,781

25 Other payables

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

157

153

2,218

3,387

5,523

–

958

2,060

14,456
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25 Other payables (cont’d)

Company

31.5.2019

$’000

–

12,637

– –

605

– –

27

13,269

26 Finance lease

Group

Minimum lease
payments

Present value of
lease payment

31.5.2019 31.5.2019

$’000 $’000

14 13

13 13

27 26

(1) – – –

26 26

13

13

26
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27 Long-term borrowings
 

Group
31.5.2019

$’000

217,637
(87,436)

130,201

Company
31.5.2019

$’000

– –
– –
– – –

28 Financial guarantee liabilities
 

Group Company
31.5.2019 31.5.2019

$’000 $’000

130 646
105 459
235 1,105

Group Company
2019 2019
$’000 $’000

2,467 7,900
– 492

2,467 8,392

2,046 5,966
186 1,321

2,232 7,287
235 1,105
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28 Financial guarantee liabilities (cont’d)

Financial Instruments

29 Term notes

30 Loans from non-controlling interests

31 Share capital

Number of ordinary shares

31.5.2019 31.5.2019

$’000

Group and Company

Issued and paid up

446,876,000 142,238

32 Currency translation reserve

33 Merger reserve
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34 Capital reserve

35 Non-controlling interests

36 Dividends

Group and Company

2019

$’000

670 –

–

670

37 Significant related party transactions

Group

2019

$’000

295

(626)

(578)

Group

2019

$’000

–

(2,131)

(115)

(186)

(86)
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37 Significant related party transactions (cont’d)

Group
2019
$’000

1,388
63

1,451

38 Operating lease commitments and contingent liabilities

Group
2019
$’000

551
670

1,221

Group
2019
$’000

97
386

2,694
3,177
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38 Operating lease commitments and contingent liabilities (cont’d)

39 Segment information
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39 Segment information (cont’d)

Corporate and
others

Property
development

Hotel
operations

Investment
properties Group

31.5.2019 31.5.2019 31.5.2019 31.5.2019 31.5.2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets

– – –

–

Segment liabilities

–

Other segment items

– – –

– – –

– – –

–

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

–

– – –
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39 Segment information (cont’d)

Corporate and
others

Property
development

Hotel
operations

Investment
properties

Group

– – –

–

–

Other segment items

– – –

– – –

– – –

– –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– –

– – –

– – –



D-84

APPENDIX D – AUDITED CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR FY2019

140

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 Segment information (cont’d)

 Geographical information:

Revenue

2019

$’000

79,083

1,198

7,310

436

12,493

100,520

Non-current assets

31.5.2019

$’000

27,478

7,227

40,168 – –

44

2,254

77,171

 Information about major customers:
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40 Financial instruments

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Group Company

31.5.2019 31.5.2019

$’000 $’000

Financial assets:

– –

58,830 – – 124,550 – –

Financial liabilities:

260,826 14,852

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
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40 Financial instruments

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Foreign exchange risk 

SGD NZD THB

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31 May 2019

– 6 35

– 2,873 3

(21,900) – (22)

(21,900) 2,879 16

–

–

–

– –

–

 Foreign exchange risk sensitivity
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Foreign exchange risk sensitivity (cont’d)

 Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate sensitivity

 

 Credit risk 
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Credit risk (cont’d)

Description of evaluation of financial assets Basis for recognition and measurement of ECL

 Significant increase in credit risk
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (cont’d)

Definition of default

 Credit-impaired financial assets
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Estimation techniques and significant assumptions

Trade
receivables

(Note 12)

Other
receivables

(Note 13)

Loans
receivables

from associates
(Note 14)

$’000 $’000 $’000

Group

–

11

Other
receivables

(Note 13)
$’000

Company

–

667
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Trade receivables and contract assets

31.5.2019

$’000

38,162

4

589

17

13,635

52,407

31.5.2019

$’000

49,621

589

2,197

52,407
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Contract
assets

Trade
receivables

$’000 $’000

Group

–

–

–

–

Loans receivable from associates

Non-trade receivables from subsidiaries
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

ther financial assets at amortised cost

Group
12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss allowance Net carrying 
amount

$’000 $’000 $’000

–

–

–

–

–

Company

–

–

Financial guarantee
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of financial assets

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial assets that are either past due and/or impaired

Group

–

Group
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of financial assets

Group

–

Group

Group

–
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Liquidity and cash flow risks 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years
After

5 years Adjustment Total

% p.a. $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31.5.2019

– – – –

–

–

– –

– – – –

–

–

– –
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

 Liquidity and cash flow risks 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years
After

5 years Adjustment Total

% p.a. $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

– – – –

–

– –

– –

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years Adjustment Total

% p.a. $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

31.5.2019

– – –

– –

–

246,023 1,027 (232,198) 14,852

– – –

–

–

–

– – –

–

–
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40 Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Liquidity and cash flow risks (cont’d)

Non-derivative financial assets

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

On
demand
or within

1 year

Within
2 to

5 years Adjustment Total

% p.a. $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31.5.2019

– – –

–

–

– – –

–

–

– –

–

Company

31.5.2019

– –

– – –

– – –

– –

– –
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41 Fair value of assets and liabilities

 (a) Fair value hierarchy

(b) Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

31.5.2019

Non-financial assets

– – 31,442 31,442

31.5.2018

Non-financial assets

– –

Non-financial assets

– –

(c) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value
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42 Capital management

Group

31.5.2019

$’000

397,599

229,393

121,292

 0.58

 1.89

43 Authorisation of financial statements
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TEE Land Limited 
Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore 
Company Registration No: 201230851R 
 

Unaudited Second Quarter Financial Statement and Dividend Announcement for the 
Period Ended 30 November 2019 
 

 
PART I - INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR ANNOUNCEMENTS OF QUARTERLY (Q1, Q2 & Q3), HALF-YEAR AND FULL YEAR 
RESULTS 

 
1(a)(i) An income statement for the group together with a comparative statement for the corresponding 

period of the immediately preceding financial year 
 
 

 The Group  The Group  
 S$'000 Increase/ S$'000 Increase/ 

 Second Quarter Ended (Decrease) Half Year Ended (Decrease) 

 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 
  Restated   Restated  

Revenue  16,314 21,705 (24.8) 37,013 55,886 (33.8) 
Cost of sales (12,155) (17,720) (31.4) (28,879) (48,965) (41.0) 

Gross profit 4,159 3,985 4.4 8,134 6,921 17.5 
Other operating income 165 257 (35.8) 863 794 8.7 
Selling and distribution costs (1,216) (1,938) (37.3) (2,977) (3,207) (7.2) 
Administrative expenses (2,358) (2,022) 16.6 (4,633) (4,174) 11.0 
Other operating expenses (5,360) (446) N.M. (5,440) (1,422) N.M. 
Share of results of associates (226) (257) (12.1) (445) (704) (36.8) 
Finance costs (1,682) (1,865) (9.8) (3,589) (3,914) (8.3) 

Loss before tax (6,518) (2,286) N.M. (8,087) (5,706) 41.7 
Income tax (expense)/credit (269) 163 N.M. (113) 405 N.M. 

Loss for the period (6,787) (2,123) N.M. (8,200) (5,301) 54.7 

(Loss)/profit attributable to:    
   Owners of the Company (6,966) (2,037) N.M. (8,656) (5,112)          69.3 
   Non-controlling interests 179 (86) N.M. 456 (189) N.M.
 (6,787) (2,123)  N.M. (8,200) (5,301) 54.7

 
 
1(a)(ii) A statement of comprehensive income for the group together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year 
 
 

 The Group  The Group  
 S$'000 Increase/ S$'000 Increase/ 

 Second Quarter Ended (Decrease) Half Year Ended (Decrease) 

 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 
  Restated   Restated  

Loss for the period (6,787) (2,123) N.M. (8,200) (5,301) 54.7 
Other comprehensive loss/(income) 
for the period: 

      

Currency translation differences (238) 145 N.M. (537) (569) (5.6) 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
period 

(7,025) (1,978) N.M. (8,737) (5,870) 48.8

 
 
 
N.M.-not meaningful 
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TEE Land Limited 
 
 
1(a)(ii) A statement of comprehensive income for the group together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year (Continued) 
 

 The Group  The Group  
 S$'000 Increase/ S$'000 Increase/ 

 Second Quarter Ended (Decrease) Half Year Ended (Decrease) 

 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 % 
  Restated   Restated  
Total comprehensive 
(loss)/income attributable to: 

      

   Owners of the Company (7,125) (2,047) N.M. (9,006) (5,583) 61.3 

   Non-controlling interests 100 69 44.9 269 (287) N.M. 

 (7,025)) (1,978) N.M.          (8,737) (5,870)          48.8 

 
1(a)(iii) Notes to the income statement 
 

 The Group  The Group  
 S$'000 Increase/ S$'000 Increase/ 

 Second Quarter Ended (Decrease) Half Year Ended (Decrease) 

 
30/11/2019 

 
30/11/2018 
Restated 

% 30/11/2019 
 

30/11/2018 
Restated 

% 

A Other operating income:       
 Interest income 67 63 6.3 137 183 (25.1) 
 Financial guarantee income 49 47 4.3 84 93 (9.7) 

 
Deposit forfeited for an aborted 

sale of properties 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

522 
 

316 
 

65.2 

 
Gain on disposal of asset held for 

sale 
- 31 N.M. - 31 N.M. 

  Others 49 116 (57.8) 120 171 (29.8) 

  165 257 (35.8) 863 794 8.7 

B Finance costs:       

   Loan interests 1,668 1,865 (10.6) 3,560 3,914 (9.0) 
   Lease liability 14 - N.M. 29 - N.M. 

  1,682 1,865 (9.8) 3,589 3,914 (8.3) 
        
C Other operating expenses:       

   Additional buyer’s stamp duty 4,680 - N.M. 4,680 - N.M. 

 
  Fair value loss on investment 
     property                                     

500 - N.M. 500 - N.M. 

 
  Foreign currency exchange  
     loss 

180 446 (59.6) 260 1,002 (74.1) 

 
  Option fee forfeited for aborted 
      purchase of land 

- - N.M. - 420 N.M. 

  5,360 446 N.M. 5,440 1,422 N.M. 
        
D Amortisation of capitalised 

contract costs 
645 1,155 (44.2) 1,311 1,849 (29.1) 

E Amortisation of show flat 
expenses 

272 16 N.M. 891 149 N.M. 

F Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 

439 95 N.M. 897 193 N.M. 

H Adjustment for over provision of 
income tax in respect of prior 
years  

(79) (58) 36.2 (79) (58) 36.2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
N.M.-not meaningful 
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TEE Land Limited 
 
1(b)(i) A statement of financial position (for the issuer and group), together with a comparative statement as 

at the end of the immediately preceding financial year 

  The Group 
S$'000 

The Company 
  S$'000 
  31/11/2019 31/05/2019 30/11/2019 31/05/2019 

ASSETS      
Current assets     
Cash and bank balances  23,084 25,021 884 459 
Trade receivables 10,436 17,725 - - 
Other receivables 8,867 9,397 110,837 110,877 
Loans receivable from associates 10,632 10,839 - - 
Inventories 45 46 - - 
Contract assets 31,210 34,682 - - 
Development properties 134,798 175,883 - - 
Completed properties and land held for sale 

 

66,974 42,974 - - 
Total current assets 286,046 316,567 111,721 111,336 
     
Non-current assets     
Investment in associates 5,000 5,409 - - 
Investment in subsidiaries - - 32,766 32,446 
Property, plant and equipment 38,292 40,320 - - 
Investment properties 30,793 31,442 - - 
Investment property – right-of-use asset 2,049 - - - 
Deferred tax assets 4,205 3,861 - - 
Other receivables - - 11,437 13,229 
Total non-current assets 80,339 81,032 44,203 45,675 
     
Total assets 366,385 397,599 155,924 157,011 

     
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY     
Current liabilities     
Bank loans  1,300 1,994 - 495 
Trade payables 16,618 17,781 - - 
Other payables 16,299 14,456 12,639 13,269 
Contract liabilities 9,301 5,387 -  
Finance lease 13 13 - - 
Long-term borrowings 66,086 87,436 - - 
Financial guarantee liabilities 145 130 573 646 
Income tax payable 404 37 - - 
Lease liability 39 - 85 8 
Total current liabilities 110,205 127,234 13,297 14,418 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Finance lease 7 13 - - 
Deferred tax liabilities 319 386 - - 
Long-term borrowings 124,706 130,201 - - 
Financial guarantee liabilities 42 105 245 459 
Loans from non-controlling interests 7,927 9,736 - - 
Lease liability 1,992 - - - 
Total non-current liabilities 134,993 140,441 245 459 
     
Capital, reserves and non-controlling interests     
Share capital 142,238 142,238 142,238 142,238 
Currency translation reserve (711) (361) - - 
Merger reserve (5,969) (5,969) - - 
Capital reserve (6) (6) - - 
Accumulated (losses)/profits (23,266) (14,610) 144 (104) 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 112,286 121,292 142,382 142,134 
Non-controlling interests 8,901 8,632 - - 
Total equity 121,187 129,924 142,382 142,134 
     
Total liabilities and equity 366,385 397,599 155,924 157,011 
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TEE Land Limited 
 
1(b)(ii) Aggregate amount of group’s borrowings and debt securities 
 
 Amount repayable in one year or less, or on demand 

        
   The Group   The Group  
   S$'000   S$'000  
   As at 30/11/2019   As at 31/05/2019  
  Secured  Unsecured Secured  Unsecured 
  67,399  - 88,948  495 
        

 Amount repayable after one year 

        
   The Group   The Group  
   S$'000   S$'000  
   As at 30/11/2019   As at 31/05/2019  
  Secured  Unsecured Secured  Unsecured 
  124,713  - 130,214  - 
        

 Details of any collateral 

The total secured borrowings included the following: 
(i) Obligations under finance lease secured on the motor vehicle of the Group; and  
(ii) Bank loans and long-term borrowings are secured by legal mortgages over the Group’s 

development properties, completed properties held for sale, property, plant and equipment, 
investment properties and corporate guarantee by the Company. 
 

Note: These borrowings exclude non-current loans from non-controlling interests 
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TEE Land Limited 
 
1(c) A statement of cash flows (for the group), together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year 

  The Group The Group 
  S$'000 S$'000 

  Second Quarter Ended Half Year Ended 

 
30/11/2019 

 
30/11/2018 
Restated 

30/11/2019 30/11/2018 
Restated 

Operating activities     
Loss before tax (6,518) (2,286) (8,087) (5,706) 
Adjustments for:      

Share of results of associates  226 257 445 704 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 439 95 897 193 
Amortisation of financial guarantee liabilities (49) (47) (84) (93) 
Amortisation of deferred capitalised contract costs 645 1,155 1,311 1,849 
Amortisation of show flat expenses 272 16 891 149 
Fair value loss on investment property 500 - 500 - 
Gain on disposal of asset held for sales - (31) - (31) 
Interest income (67) (63) (137) (183) 
Interest expenses from borrowings 1,668 1,865 3,560 3,914 
Interest expense from lease liability 14 - 29 - 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (2,870) 961 (675) 796 
Trade receivables 7,806 14,748 7,225 4,306 
Other receivables (268) (1,095) (1,708) 7,754 
Inventories - 4 - 5 
Development properties 6,031 (10,548) 12,767 (9,626) 
Completed properties and land held by sale 625 34,416 4,179 53,257 
Trade payables (1,002) 1,880 (1,107) (4,591) 
Other payables 3,987 (1,022) 2,397 (3,494) 
Contract assets (2,005) (37,900) 3,453 (40,368) 
Contract liabilities 1,472 690 3,914 (335) 
Unrealised currency translation loss 579 1,151 208 559 

Cash from operations 14,355 3,285 30,653 8,263 
Income tax paid (225) (77) (225) (300) 
Income tax refund - - 32 - 

Net cash generated from operating activities 14,130 3,208 30,460 7,963 

Investing activities     
Dividends received from associates - 240 - 2,131 
Sale proceed from non-current asset held for sale - 306 - 306 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3) (39) (23) (50) 
Addition to non-current asset held for sale - (96) - (134) 
Repayment of loans receivables from associates - 390 225 2,506 
Loans receivable from associates (18) (36) (18) (36) 
Interest received 8 49 64 339 

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (13) 814 248 5,062 

Financing activities     
Interest paid (2,016) (1,822) (4,029) (4,000) 
Drawdown of bank loan - - - 495 
Repayment of bank loans (694) (5,000) (694) (5,000) 
Drawdown of long-term borrowings - 28,235 4,500 28,235 
Repayment of long-term borrowings (19,078) (22,760) (30,590) (34,626) 
Repayment of obligation under finance lease (3) (3) (6) (6) 
Repayment of lease obligation (24) - (48) - 
Loans from non-controlling interests - 640 396 920 
Loans repayment to non-controlling interests - - (2,205) - 
Dividends paid - (670) - (1,787) 

Net cash used in financing activities (21,815) (1,380) (32,676) (15,769) 

     
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7,698) 2,642 (1,968) (2,744) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 30,756 23,662 25,021 28,997 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 26 38 31 89 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Note A) 23,084 26,342 23,084 26,342 
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TEE Land Limited 
 
1(c) A statement of cash flows (for the group), together with a comparative statement for the 

corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year (Continued) 

 
Note A: Cash and cash equivalents  

 The Group The Group 
 S$'000 S$'000 
 Second Quarter Ended Half Year Ended 
 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 
Cash at banks 5,333 8,495 5,333 8,495 
Cash on hand 3 4 3 4 
Fixed deposits 3,004 2,942 3,004 2,942 
Projects accounts (see Note below):     
 - Cash at banks 14,744 14,901 14,744 14,901 
Total cash and cash equivalents per statement of cash 
flows 

23,084 26,342 23,084 26,342 

 

Note: 
 
Projects accounts are subject to restrictions under the Housing Developers (Project Account) Rules (1997 
Ed). Withdrawals from these projects accounts are restricted to payments for project expenditure incurred 
until the completion of the project. 
 



E-7

APPENDIX E – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP  
FOR 2QFY2020

P
a
g
e
 7

 

T
E

E
 L

a
n

d
 L

im
it

e
d

 
 1

(d
)(

i)
 

A
 s

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

(f
o

r 
th

e
 i

s
s

u
e

r 
a

n
d

 g
ro

u
p

) 
s

h
o

w
in

g
 e

it
h

e
r 

(i
) 

a
ll

 c
h

a
n

g
e
s

 i
n

 e
q

u
it

y
 o

r 
(i

i)
 c

h
a

n
g

e
s

 i
n

 e
q

u
it

y
 o

th
e

r 
th

a
n

 t
h

o
s
e

 a
ri

s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 c
a

p
it

a
li

s
a

ti
o

n
 i

s
s

u
e

s
 a

n
d

 
d

is
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

 t
o

 s
h

a
re

h
o

ld
e

rs
, 

to
g

e
th

e
r 

w
it

h
 a

 c
o

m
p

a
ra

ti
v
e

 s
ta

te
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
th

e
 c

o
rr

e
s

p
o

n
d

in
g

 p
e

ri
o

d
 o

f 
th

e
 i
m

m
e

d
ia

te
ly

 p
re

c
e

d
in

g
 f

in
a

n
c

ia
l 

y
e

a
r 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
E

q
u

it
y 

 
 

 
 

C
u
rr

e
n
c
y
 

 
 

 
a
tt
ri
b

u
ta

b
le

 
N

o
n
- 

 

 
S

h
a
re

 
tr

a
n
s
la

ti
o

n
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 

M
e
rg

e
r 

A
c
c
u
m

u
la

te
d

 
to

 o
w

n
e
rs

 o
f 

c
o
n
tr

o
lli

n
g

 
 

 
c
a
p
it
a

l 
re

s
e
rv

e
 

re
s
e
rv

e
 

re
s
e
rv

e
 

(l
o
s
s
e
s
)/

p
ro

fi
ts

 
th

e
 c

o
m

p
a
n

y
 

in
te

re
s
ts

 
T

o
ta

l 

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 
S

$
'0

0
0

 

T
h

e
 G

ro
u

p
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

B
a
la

n
c

e
 a

t 
0

1
/0

6
/2

0
1
9

 
1
4
2
,2

3
8

 
(3

6
1
) 

(6
) 

(5
,9

6
9
) 

(1
4
,6

1
0
) 

1
2
1
,2

9
2

 
8
,6

3
2

 
1
2
9
,9

2
4

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

(L
o
s
s
)/

p
ro

fi
t 
th

e
 p

e
ri
o

d
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

(8
,6

5
6
) 

(8
,6

5
6
) 

4
5
6

 
(8

,2
0
0
) 

O
th

e
r 

c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 l
o
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

- 
c
u
rr

e
n
c
y 

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o
n
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
 o

n
 c

o
n
s
o

lid
a
ti
o
n

 
- 

(3
5
0
) 

- 
- 

- 
(3

5
0
) 

(1
8
7
) 

(5
3
7
) 

T
o
ta

l 
c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 (

lo
s
s
)/

in
c
o
m

e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 
- 

(3
5
0
) 

- 
- 

(8
,6

5
6
) 

(9
,0

0
6
) 

2
6
9

 
(8

,7
3
7
) 

B
a
la

n
c

e
 a

t 
3

0
/1

1
/2

0
1
9

 
1
4
2
,2

3
8

 
(7

1
1
) 

(6
) 

(5
,9

6
9
) 

(2
3
,2

6
6
) 

1
1
2
,2

8
6

 
8
,9

0
1

 
1
2
1
,1

8
7

 

  P
re

v
io

u
s
 C

o
rr

e
s
p

o
n

d
in

g
 P

e
ri

o
d

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

B
a
la

n
c

e
 a

t 
0

1
/0

6
/2

0
1
8

 
1
4
2
,2

3
8

 
(3

0
2
) 

(6
) 

(5
,9

6
9
) 

1
5
,5

8
4

 
1
5
1
,5

4
5

 
1
1
,8

5
6

 
1
6
3
,4

0
1

 

C
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 e

ff
e
c
ts

 o
f 

a
d
o
p
ti
n
g
 S

F
R

S
(I

) 
- 

8
7
3

 
- 

- 
(5

,6
8
4
) 

(4
,8

1
1
) 

(6
6
0
) 

(5
,4

7
1
) 

B
a
la

n
c

e
 a

t 
0

1
/0

6
/2

0
1
8
(r

e
s

ta
te

d
) 

1
4
2
,2

3
8

 
5
7
1

 
(6

) 
(5

,9
6
9
) 

9
,9

0
0

 
1
4
6
,7

3
4

 
1
1
,1

9
6

 
1
5
7
,9

3
0

 

L
o
s
s
 f

o
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 
- 

- 
- 

- 
(5

,1
1
2
) 

(5
,1

1
2
) 

(1
8
9
) 

(5
,3

0
1
) 

O
th

e
r 

c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 l
o
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

- 
c
u
rr

e
n
c
y 

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o
n
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
 o

n
 c

o
n
s
o

lid
a
ti
o
n

 
- 

(4
7
1
) 

- 
- 

- 
(4

7
1
) 

(9
8
) 

(5
6
9
) 

T
o
ta

l 
c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 l
o
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 
- 

(4
7
1
) 

- 
- 

(5
,1

1
2
) 

(5
,5

8
3
) 

(2
8
7
) 

(5
,8

7
0
) 

 D
iv

id
e
n

d
 p

a
id

 
- 

- 
- 

- 
(6

7
0
) 

(6
7
0
) 

- 
(6

7
0
) 

 B
a
la

n
c

e
 a

t 
3

0
/1

1
/2

0
1
8

 
1
4
2
,2

3
8

 
1
0
0

 
(6

) 
(5

,9
6
9
) 

4
,1

1
8

 
1
4
0
,4

8
1

 
1
0
,9

0
9

 
1
5
1
,3

9
0

 

 



E-8

APPENDIX E – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP  
FOR 2QFY2020

Page 8 

 
TEE Land Limited 
 
1(d)(i) A statement (for the issuer and group) showing either (i) all changes in equity or (ii) changes in equity 

other than those arising from capitalisation issues and distributions to shareholders, together with a 
comparative statement for the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year 
(Continued) 

 
 

  
Share 
capital 

Accumulated 
(losses)/profit

s 

 

  Total 

  S$’000 S$’000 S$’000 
The Company     
Balance at 01/06/2019  142,238 (104) 142,134 
Total comprehensive income for the period  - 248 248 

Balance at 30/11/2019 142,238 144 142,382 

 
Previous Corresponding Period 

    

Balance at 01/06/2018  142,238 2,411 144,649 
Total comprehensive loss for the period  - (564) (564) 
Dividends paid  - (670) (670) 

Balance at 30/11/2018 142,238 1,177 143,415 

 
 
1(d)(ii) Details of any changes in the company's share capital arising from rights issue, bonus issue, share 

buy-backs, exercise of share options or warrants, conversion of other issues of equity securities, 
issue of shares for cash or as consideration for acquisition or for any other purpose since the end of 
the previous period reported on. State the number of shares that may be issued on conversion of all 
the outstanding convertibles, if any, against the total number of issued shares excluding treasury 
shares and subsidiary holdings of the issuer, as at the end of the current financial period reported on 
and as at the end of the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year. State also 
the number of shares held as treasury shares and the number of subsidiary holdings, if any, and the 
percentage of the aggregate number of treasury shares and subsidiary holdings held against the total 
number of shares outstanding in a class that is listed as at the end of the current financial period 
reported on and as at the end of the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year. 

   

 The Company 

 No of shares Capital (S$’000) 

Balance at 31/8/2019 and 30/11/2019 446,876,000 142,238 
 

 
During the quarter ended 30/11/2019, there were no changes in the share capital of the Company. 
 
As at 30/11/2019 and 30/11/2018, there were no shares held as treasury shares and outstanding 
convertibles. 

 
 
1(d)(iii) To show the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares as at the end of the current 

financial period and as at the end of the immediately preceding year 
 

 The Group and the Company 

 30/11/2019 31/05/2019 

Total number of issued shares 446,876,000 446,876,000 

 
 
1(d)(iv) A statement showing all sales, transfers, disposal, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares as at 

the end of the current financial period reported on 
  

The Company does not have treasury shares during or as at the end of the current financial period 
reported on.  
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TEE Land Limited 
 
1(d)(v) A statement showing all sales, transfers, cancellation and/or use of subsidiary holdings as at the end 

of the current financial period reported on 
  

Not applicable. 
 
2 Whether the figures have been audited or reviewed, and in accordance with which auditing standard 

or practice 

 
The figures presented have not been audited or reviewed. 

 
3 Where the figures have been audited or reviewed, the auditors' report (including any qualifications or 

emphasis of a matter) 

 
Not applicable. 

 
4 Whether the same accounting policies and methods of computation as in the issuer's most recently 

audited annual financial statements have been applied 

              
Except as disclosed in Paragraph 5, the Group has adopted the same accounting policies and 
methods of computation for the current financial period as those adopted in the audited annual 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 May 2019. 
 

5 If there are any changes in the accounting policies and methods of computation, including any 
required by an accounting standard, what has changed, as well as the reasons for, and the effect of, 
the change  

  
The Group has adopted SFRS(I) 16, the accounting standard for leases which is effective for 
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 June 2019. 
 
SFRS(I) 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model. A lessee is required to recognise all 
leases on its statement of financial position to reflect its rights to use the leased assets (“ROU” 
assets) and the associated obligations for lease payments (lease liabilities), with limited 
exemptions for short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value items. In addition, 
SFRS(I) 16 replaces the straight-line operating lease expenses with depreciation charge of ROU 
assets and interest expenses on lease liabilities. 
 
The Group has adopted SFRS(I) 16 using the modified retrospective approach as of 1 June 2019, 
with no restatement of comparative information. Upon adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on 1 June 2019, the 
Group recognised right-of-use assets of S$2,049,000 and lease liabilities (current and non-current) 
of S$2,049,000. 
 

6 Earnings per ordinary share of the group for the current financial period reported on and the 
corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial year, after deducting any provision for 
preference dividends: (a) Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue; and 
(b) On a fully diluted basis (detailing any adjustments made to the earnings) 
 

 The Group The Group 
 Second Quarter Ended Half Year Ended 

 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 30/11/2019 30/11/2018 
  Restated  Restated 

Loss per ordinary share of the Group based 
on net loss attributable to owners of the 
Company: 

    

(i) Based on the weighted average number 
of shares (cents) 

(1.56) (0.46) (1.94) (1.14) 

(ii) On a fully diluted basis (cents) N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 
 
(iii)   Number of shares ('000)     

 
446,876 

 
446,876 

 
446,876 

 
446,876 

 
The Company does not have any dilutive instruments as at 30/11/2019. 
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TEE Land Limited 
 

 
7 Net asset value (for the issuer and group) per ordinary share based on the total number of issued 

shares excluding treasury shares of the issuer at the end of the: (a)  current financial period reported 
on; and (b)  immediately preceding financial year 
 

 The Group The Company 

 Cents Cents 

 As at As at As at As at 

 30/11/2019 31/5/2019 30/11/2019 31/5/2019 

Net asset value per ordinary share 25.1 27.1 31.9 31.8 
 

 
8 A review of the performance of the group, to the extent necessary for a reasonable understanding of 

the group's business.  It must include a discussion of the following: (a) any significant factors that 
affected the turnover, costs, and earnings of the group for the current financial period reported on, 
including (where applicable) seasonal or cyclical factors; and (b) any material factors that affected 
the cash flow, working capital, assets or liabilities of the group during the current financial period 
reported on 

 
Income Statement  
 
Second Quarter and Half Year ended 30 November 2019 (“2Q FY2020” and “1H FY2020”, 
respectively) against Second Quarter and Half Year ended 30 November 2018 (“2Q FY2019” 
and “1H FY2019”, respectively) 
  
Revenue for 2Q FY2020 decreased by S$5.4 million (24.8%) due mainly to lower revenue from 
development projects, namely 24One Residences and 183 Longhaus which obtained TOP in April 
and July 2019 respectively, lower sale of unsold units in Third Avenue, offset to some extent by 
progressive recognition of revenue from Rezi 35 and 35 Gilstead.  Revenue for 1H FY2020 
decreased by S$18.9 million (33.8%) due mainly to the same reasons, and also recognition of sale 
of only one unit of The Peak @ Cairnhill I (“Peak I”) compared to 10 units recognised in 1H FY2019.   
 
Similarly, cost of sales for 2Q FY2020 decreased by S$5.6 million (31.4%).  However, gross profit 
margin improved from 18.4% to 25.5% due to higher gross profit recorded from development 
projects, higher proportion of revenue from hotel and rental income (which has higher gross profit 
margin), and no sale of Peak I unit recognised compared to one unit in 2Q FY2019, sold at carrying 
value.  For 1H FY2019, cost of sales correspondingly decreased by $20.1 million (41.0%).  Gross 
profit margin increased from 12.4% to 22.0%, mainly for the same reasons, except that 10 units of 
Peak I were sold at carrying value in 1H FY2019 compared to only one in 1H FY2020.   
 
Other operating income for 2Q FY2020 decreased by S$0.1 million (35.8%) due mainly to lower 
management fee income from TRIO, lower administrative charge income from Third Avenue and 
the absence of gain from the disposal of one commercial unit in Larmont Hotel Building in 2Q 
FY2019.   
 

Selling and distribution costs for 2Q FY2020 decreased by S$0.7 million (37.3%) due mainly to 
lower sales commission arising from lower revenue for development projects, lower selling related 
expenses for Third Avenue, offset to some extent by higher show flat expenses, in particular for 
35 Gilstead.   
 

Administrative expenses for 2Q FY2020 increased by S$0.4 million (16.6%) due mainly to the 
depreciation charge for Larmont Hotel as the Hotel was reclassified from non-current asset held 
for sale to property, plant and equipment at year-end of FY2019.  This was offset to some extent 
by lower staff cost for the Malaysian subsidiary, arising from reduction of headcount as the sold 
units were progressively handed over to the buyers from December 2019.  Administrative 
expenses for 1H FY2020 increased by S$0.4 million (11.0%) for the same reasons, and also further 
offset by lower qualifying certificate charge for the lower number of unsold Peak I units in 2Q 
FY2020.   
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TEE Land Limited 
 

8. A review of the performance of the group, to the extent necessary for a reasonable understanding of 
the group's business.  It must include a discussion of the following: (a) any significant factors that 
affected the turnover, costs, and earnings of the group for the current financial period reported on, 
including (where applicable) seasonal or cyclical factors; and (b) any material factors that affected 
the cash flow, working capital, assets or liabilities of the group during the current financial period 
reported on (Continued) 

 

Income Statement (continued) 
 

Other operating expenses for 2Q FY2020 increased from S$0.4 million to S$5.4 million.  This was 
due mainly to the additional buyer’s stamp duty (“ABSD”) payable for a development project, as 
this project did not meet the required timeline for completion as disclosed under contingent 
liabilities in the annual report for FY2019, and fair value loss of TEE Building, offset by the lower 
unrealised exchange loss with the strengthening of the Malaysian Ringgit against the Singapore 
Dollar.  For 1H FY2020, other operating expenses increased from S$1.4 million to S$5.4 million 
due mainly to the same reasons, and further offset by the absence of deposit forfeited from the 
aborted purchase of Teck Guan Ville and realised exchange loss from the Thai Baht in 1H FY2019. 
 
Share of results of associates in 2Q FY2020 showed a lower loss of S$0.2 million compared to a 
loss of S$0.3 million in 2Q FY2019, due mainly to the capping of loss to our investment costs in a 
few of our associates.  This is also the reason for the decrease in loss from share of results of 
associates for 1H FY2020. 

 

As a result, the Group recorded a loss before tax of S$6.5 million in 2Q FY2020 compared to S$2.3 
million in 2Q FY2019. Similarly, the Group reported a loss before tax of S$8.1 million in 1H FY2020 
compared to S$5.7 million in 1H FY2019. 

 

Income tax expense for 2Q FY2020 increased from a tax credit of S$0.2 million in 2Q FY2019 to 
a tax expense of S$0.3 million due mainly to profit generated by certain subsidiaries in 2Q FY2020, 
offset to some extent by deferred tax asset being recognised.  This is also the reason for the 
income tax expense of S$0.1 million for 1H FY2020. 
 

Overall, the loss after tax increased to S$6.8 million in 2Q FY2020 compared with S$2.1 million in 
2Q FY2019. For 1H FY2020, the loss after tax increased from S$5.3 million in 1H FY2019 to S$8.2 
million in 1H FY2019. 
 

Statement of Financial Position  
 
Trade receivables decreased by S$7.3 million due mainly to collections received. 
 
Development properties decreased by S$41.1 million due mainly to the 10 commercial units of 183 
Longhaus being transferred to completed properties held for sale, as the development project 
received its Temporary Occupation Permit on 31 July 2019, and also development costs expensed 
off as we progressively recognised revenue based on percentage of completion of the 
development projects.  This was offset to some extent by addition to development costs as the 
construction of the development projects progressed. 
 
Completed properties and land held for sale increased by S$24.0 million due mainly to the transfer 
of commercial units of 183 Longhaus from development properties, as explained above. 
 
The investment property - right-of-use asset relates to the economic benefit from the lease of TEE 
Building for the duration of the lease period as required by the new accounting standard SFRS(I) 
16 Leases.  The corresponding liability is the lease liability (lease payments) under current and 
non-current liabilities. 
 
Bank loans decreased by S$0.7 million due to repayment of bank loans. 
 
Other payables increased by S$1.8 million due mainly to the ABSD payable as mentioned above, 
offset to some extent by the decrease in accrued expenses. 
 
Contract liabilities increased by S$3.9 million due mainly to deposits received from customers for 
the purchase of our development projects, mainly for Lattice One and 35 Gilstead, offset to some 
extent by the transfer to income statement as the deposits were being recognised as revenue. 
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TEE Land Limited 

 
8. A review of the performance of the group, to the extent necessary for a reasonable understanding of 

the group's business.  It must include a discussion of the following: (a) any significant factors that 
affected the turnover, costs, and earnings of the group for the current financial period reported on, 
including (where applicable) seasonal or cyclical factors; and (b) any material factors that affected 
the cash flow, working capital, assets or liabilities of the group during the current financial period 
reported on (Continued) 

 
Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
 
Long-term borrowings (current and non-current) decreased by S$26.8 million due mainly to 
repayment of bank loans from funds received from sale/milestone billings of development 
properties. 
 
The decrease in financial guarantee liabilities (current and non-current) was due mainly to financial 
guarantee income being recognised. 
 
The increase in income tax payable was due mainly to income tax provision made in 2Q FY2020, 
offset to some extent by income tax paid. 
 
The decrease in deferred tax liabilities was mainly due to transfers to income tax payable as the 
deferred liabilities became payable. 
 
Loans from non-controlling interests decreased by S$1.8 million due mainly to repayment of loan 
to the non-controlling interest of Development 35 Pte Ltd relating to the Rezi 35 project. 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 

 
Half Year ended 30/11/2019 (“1H FY2020”) 

 
Operating activities 
The Group generated cash of S$30.5 million from operating activities in 1H FY2020 due mainly to 
the decrease in development properties and completed properties and land held for sale, decrease 
in net receivables, increase in net payables, increase in contract liabilities from the development 
property sale deposits collected and decrease in contract assets from the recognition of 
development property revenue.  

 
Financing activities 
Net cash of S$32.7 million was used in financing activities in 1H FY2020 due mainly to net 
repayment of long-term borrowings, payment of interest and repayment of loan to a non-controlling 
interest. 
 
As a result, there was a net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of S$2.0 million, thereby 
bringing the total cash and cash equivalents amount to S$23.1 million as at 30 November 2019. 
 

9 Where a forecast, or a prospect statement, has been previously disclosed to shareholders, any 
variance between it and the actual results 
 

There was no forecast or any prospect statement previously disclosed to shareholders. 
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TEE Land Limited 
 

 
10 A commentary at the date of the announcement of the significant trends and competitive conditions 

of the industry in which the group operates and any known factors or events that may affect the group 
in the next reporting period and the next 12 months 

  
Amidst the continued uncertainties in the global macro-environment, the operating environment in 
Singapore for the property market is expected to remain challenging and could affect the 
performance of the Group. Any delays in achieving 100% sales and/or completion of the Group’s 
existing properties which are subject to regulatory timelines and (if applicable) failure to obtain 
extensions thereof could also adversely affect the Group’s performance. The performance of the 
Group’s overseas markets are also expected to be affected by local economic developments as 
well as foreign exchange fluctuations.  
 
Moving forward, the Group will take a cautious approach when seeking opportunities to acquire 
new land sites and in making any investments. It will focus on improving its operations and sales, 
realising value in its investments as well as reducing its gearing. The Group will continually assess 
the market situation and refine its sales strategies where necessary. 

 
11 Dividend 
 

(a) Current Financial Period Reported On 

             Any dividend declared for the current financial period reported on? No 
 
 
(b) Corresponding Period of the immediately Preceding Financial Year 

Any dividend declared for the corresponding period of the immediately preceding financial 
year? No 
 

 
 (c) Date payable 

 
Not applicable. 

 
 
(d) Books closure date 

 
Not applicable. 

 
 
12 If no dividend has been declared/recommended, a statement to that effect and the reason(s) for the 

decision 

 
No interim dividend has been declared for the current reporting period on grounds of prudence. 
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13 If the Group has obtained a general mandate from shareholders for IPTs, the aggregate value of such 

transactions as required under Rule 920(1)(a)(ii). If no IPT mandate has been obtained, a statement to 
that effect 

 
             Summary of Interested Person Transaction for financial period ended 30 November 2019: 
 

Name  of Interested Person 
Nature of 
Transaction 

Aggregate value of all 
interested person 

transactions during the 
financial year under 
review (excluding 

transactions less than 
$100,000 and 

transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920) 

Aggregate value of all 
interested person 

transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to 
Rule 920 (excluding 

transactions less than 
$100,000) 

       

TEE International Limited 
(Controlling shareholder of 
the Company) 

Rental income 602,000 - 

Management 
fees  

(148,000) - 

 
14 Confirmation by the Company Pursuant to Rule 720(1) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST 
  

The Company confirms that it has procured undertakings from all the Directors and Executive 
Officers (in the format set out in Appendix 7.7) pursuant to Rule 720(1) of the listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST. 

 
 
NEGATIVE ASSURANCE CONFIRMATION BY THE BOARD  
PURSUANT TO RULE 705(5) OF THE LISTING MANUAL 
 
We, Phua Cher Chew and Neo Weng Meng, Edwin, being two Directors of TEE Land Limited (the 
“Company”), do hereby confirm on behalf of the Directors of the Company that, to the best of our 
knowledge, nothing has come to the attention of the Board of Directors of the Company which may render 
the financial statements for the second quarter and half year ended 30 November 2019 to be false or 
misleading in any material aspect. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
Phua Cher Chew      Neo Weng Meng, Edwin 
Chief Executive Officer      Non-Executive Director 
and Executive Director                                                                     
 
 
 
Dated 9 January 2020 



APPENDIX F – EXTRACTS FROM THE COMPANY’S CONSTITUTION

F-1

The provisions in the Constitution relating to rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and
voting are reproduced below.

All capitalised terms used in the following extracts shall have the same meanings ascribed to them in the
Constitution and/or the Companies Act, a copy of which is available for inspection at the registered office
of the Company at 25 Bukit Batok Street 22 TEE Building Singapore 659591, during normal business
hours until the Closing Date.

(A) RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF CAPITAL 

ISSUE OF SHARES

3. (A) Subject to the Act and to these Articles, no shares may be issued by the Directors
without the prior approval of the Company in General Meeting pursuant to Section 161 of the Act,
but subject thereto and the terms of such approval, and to Article 5, and to any special rights
attached to any shares for the time being issued, the Directors may allot and issue shares or grant
options over or otherwise dispose of the same to such persons on such terms and conditions and
for such consideration and at such time and whether or not subject to the payment of any part of
the amount thereof in cash or otherwise as the Directors may think fit, and any shares may, subject
to compliance with Sections 70 and 75 of the Act, be issued with such preferential, deferred,
qualified or special rights, privileges, conditions or restrictions, whether as regards Dividend, return
of capital, participation in surplus assets and profits, voting, conversion or otherwise, as the
Directors may think fit, and preference shares may be issued which are or at the option of the
Company are liable to be redeemed, the terms and manner of redemption being determined by the
Directors in accordance with the Act, Provided Always that no options shall be granted over
unissued shares except in accordance with the Act and the Designated Stock Exchange’s listing
rules.

(B) The Directors may, at any time after the allotment of any share but before any person
has been entered in the Register of Members as the holder, recognize a renunciation thereof by
the allottee in favour of some other person and may accord to any allottee of a share a right to
effect such renunciation upon and subject to such terms and conditions as the Directors may think
fit to impose.

(C) Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue or by these Articles, all
new shares shall be issued subject to the provisions of the Statutes and of these Articles with
reference to allotment, payment of calls, lien, transfer, transmission, forfeiture or otherwise.

4. The Company shall not exercise any right in respect of treasury shares other than as
provided by the Act. Subject thereto, the Company may hold or deal with its treasury shares in the
manner authorised by, or prescribed pursuant to, the Act.

5. (A) Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in General
Meeting or except as permitted by the rules of the Designated Stock Exchange, all new shares
shall, before issue, be offered to such persons who as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive
notices from the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as far as the circumstances admit, to
the number of the existing shares to which they are entitled. The offer shall be made by notice
specifying the number of shares offered, and limiting a time within which the offer, if not accepted,
will be deemed to be declined, and, after the expiration of the aforesaid time or on the receipt of an
intimation from the person to whom the offer is made that he declines to accept the shares offered,
the Directors may dispose of those shares in such manner as they think most beneficial to the
Company. The Directors may likewise dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio
which the new shares bear to shares held by persons entitled to an offer of new shares) cannot, in
the opinion of the Directors, be conveniently offered under this Article 5(A).
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(B) Notwithstanding Article 5(A) above, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution in
General Meeting give to the Directors a general authority, either unconditionally or subject to such
conditions as may be specified in the Ordinary Resolution, to:-

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights,
bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that
might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the
creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other
instruments convertible into shares; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution may have ceased
to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the
Directors while the Ordinary Resolution was in force,

Provided that:-

(1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Ordinary Resolution
(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant
to the Ordinary Resolution) shall be subject to such limits and manner of calculation
as may be prescribed by the Designated Stock Exchange;

(2) in exercising the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution, the Company shall
comply with the provisions of the listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange for
the time being in force (unless such compliance is waived by the Designated Stock
Exchange) and these Articles; and

(3) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred
by the Ordinary Resolution shall not continue in force beyond the conclusion of the
Annual General Meeting of the Company next following the passing of the Ordinary
Resolution, or the date by which such Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held, or the expiration of such other period as may be prescribed
by the Act (whichever is the earliest).

(C) The Company may, notwithstanding Articles 5(A) and 5(B) above, authorise the
Directors not to offer new shares to Members to whom by reason of foreign securities laws, such
offers may not be made without registration of the shares or a prospectus or other document, but
to sell the entitlements to the new shares on behalf of such Members on such terms and conditions
as the Company may direct.

6. The Company may pay commissions or brokerage on any issue of shares at such rate or
amount and in such manner as the Directors may deem fit. Such commissions or brokerage may
be satisfied by the payment of cash or the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or partly in one
way and partly in the other.

7. Where any shares are issued for the purpose of raising money to defray the expenses of the
construction of any works or buildings or the provision of any plant which cannot be made
profitable for a lengthened period, the Company may pay interest on so much of that share capital
as is for the time being paid up for the period and charge the same to capital as part of the cost of
the construction of the works or buildings or the provision of the plant, subject to the conditions and
restrictions mentioned in the Act.

8. (A) Preference shares may be issued subject to such limitation thereof as may be
prescribed by the Designated Stock Exchange. In particular, the total number of issued preference
shares shall not exceed the total number of issued ordinary shares issued at any time. Preference
shareholders shall have the same rights as ordinary shareholders as regards receiving notices,
reports and balance-sheets and attending General Meetings of the Company, and preference



shareholders shall also have the right to vote at any General Meeting convened for the purpose of
reducing capital or winding-up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking of the Company or where
the proposal to be submitted to the General Meeting directly affects their rights and privileges or
when the Dividend on the preference shares is in arrear for more than six months.

(B) The Company has power to issue further preference capital ranking equally with, or in
priority to, preference shares already issued.

VARIATION OF RIGHTS

9. (A) Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares,
the variation or abrogation of the special rights attached to any class may, subject to the provisions
of the Act, only be made either with the consent in writing of the holders of three  quarters of the
total number of the issued shares of the class or with the sanction of a Special Resolution passed
at a separate General Meeting of the holders of the shares of the class (but not otherwise) and
may be so made either whilst the Company is a going concern or during or in contemplation of a
winding-up. To every such separate General Meeting all the provisions of these Articles relating to
General Meetings of the Company and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis mutandis apply,
except that the necessary quorum shall be two or more persons holding at least one-third of the
total number of the issued shares of the class present in person or by proxy or attorney and that
any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy or attorney may demand a poll and
that every such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every share of the class held by him where
the class is a class of equity shares within the meaning of Section 64(1) of the Act or at least one
vote for every share of the class where the class is a class of preference shares within the
meaning of Section 180(2) of the Act, Provided Always that where the necessary majority for such
a Special Resolution is not obtained at such General Meeting, the consent in writing, if obtained
from the holders of three-quarters of the total number of the issued shares of the class concerned
within two months of such General Meeting, shall be as valid and effectual as a Special Resolution
carried at such General Meeting.

(B) The provisions in Article 9(A) shall mutatis mutandis apply to any repayment of
preference capital (other than redeemable preference capital) and any variation or abrogation of
the rights attached to preference shares or any class thereof.

(C) The special rights attached to any class of shares having preferential rights shall not
unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue thereof be deemed to be varied by the
creation or issue of further shares ranking as regards participation in the profits or assets of the
Company in some or all respects pari passu therewith but in no respect in priority thereto.

ALTERATION OF SHARE CAPITAL

10. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution:-

(a) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital;

(b) sub-divide its shares, or any of them, provided always that in such subdivision the
proportion between the amount paid and the amount (if any) unpaid on each reduced
share shall be same as it was in the case of the share from which the reduced share
is derived;

(c) convert or exchange any class of shares into or for any other class of shares; and/or

(d) cancel the number of shares which at the date of the passing of the resolution in that
behalf have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person or which have been
forfeited and diminish the amount of its share capital by the number of the shares so
cancelled.
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11. (A) The Company may reduce its share capital or any other undistributable reserve in any
manner permitted, and with, and subject to, any incident authorised, and consent or confirmation
required, by law.

(B) The Company may purchase or otherwise acquire its issued shares subject to and in
accordance with the provisions of the Statutes and any applicable rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange (hereafter, the “Relevant Laws”), on such terms and subject to such conditions as the
Company may in General Meeting prescribe in accordance with the Relevant Laws. Any shares
purchased or acquired by the Company as aforesaid shall, unless held in treasury in accordance
with the Act, be deemed to be cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition by the Company.
On the cancellation of any share as aforesaid, the rights and privileges attached to that share shall
expire. In any other instance, the Company may hold or deal with any such share which is so
purchased or acquired by it in such manner as may be permitted by, and in accordance with the
Relevant Laws. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, upon cancellation of any share
purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company pursuant to these Articles and the Statutes, the
number of issued shares of the Company shall be diminished by the number of shares so
cancelled, and, where any such cancelled share was purchased or acquired out of the capital of
the Company, the amount of share capital of the Company shall be reduced accordingly.

SHARE CERTIFICATES

12. (A) Every certificate shall be issued under the Seal and shall bear the facsimile signatures
or the autographic signatures at least of any two Directors or one of the Director and the Secretary
or such other person as may be authorised by the Directors, and shall specify the number and
class of shares to which it relates and the amount paid up and the amount (if any) unpaid thereon.
The facsimile signatures may be reproduced by mechanical or other means provided the method or
system of reproducing signatures has first been approved by the Directors of the Company. No
certificate shall be issued representing shares of more than one class.

(B) The provisions in this Article and in Articles 13 to 16 (so far as they are applicable)
shall not apply to transfer of book-entry securities.

13. (A) The Company shall not be bound to register more than three persons as joint holders
of a share except in the case of executors, trustees or administrators of the estate of a deceased
Member.

(B) In the case of a share held jointly by several persons, the Company shall not be
bound to issue more than one certificate therefor and delivery of a certificate to any one of the joint
holders shall be sufficient delivery to all.

14. Every person whose name is entered as a Member in the Register of Members shall be
entitled, within ten market days (or such period as the Directors may determine having regard to
any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the Designated Stock Exchange from time to time)
after the closing date of any application for shares or (as the case may be) the date of lodgement
of a registrable transfer, to receive one certificate for all his shares of any one class or to several
certificates in reasonable denominations each for a part of the shares so allotted or transferred.

15. (A) Where a Member transfers part only of the shares comprised in a certificate or where
a Member requires the Company to cancel any certificate or certificates and issue new certificates
for the purpose of subdividing his holding in a different manner, the old certificate or certificates
shall be cancelled and a new certificate or certificates for the balance of such shares (in the case
of transfer) and the whole of such shares (in the case of sub-division) shall be issued in lieu thereof
and the Member shall pay (in the case of sub-division) a maximum fee of S$2.00 (or such other fee
as the Directors may determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the
Designated Stock Exchange from time to time) for each new certificate. Where some only of the
shares comprised in a share certificate are transferred, the new certificate for the balance of such
shares shall be issued in lieu thereof without charge.
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(B) Any two or more certificates representing shares of any one class held by any
Member may at his request be cancelled and a single new certificate for such shares issued in lieu
thereof without charge.

16. Subject to the provisions of the Statutes, if any share certificate shall be defaced, worn out,
destroyed, lost or stolen, it may be renewed on such evidence being produced and a letter of
indemnity (if required) being given by the shareholder, transferee, person entitled, purchaser,
member company of the Designated Stock Exchange or on behalf of its or their client or clients as
the Directors shall require, and in the case of defacement or wearing out, on delivery up of the old
certificate, and in any case on payment of such sum not exceeding S$2.00 (or such other fee as
the Directors may determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the
Designated Stock Exchange from time to time) as the Directors may from time to time require. In
the case of destruction, loss or theft, a shareholder or person entitled to whom such renewed
certificate is given shall also bear the loss and pay to the Company all expenses incidental to the
investigations by the Company of the evidence of such destruction or loss.

CALLS ON SHARES

17. The Directors may from time to time make calls upon the Members in respect of any moneys
unpaid on their shares but subject always to the terms of issue of such shares. A call shall be
deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call
was passed and may be made payable by instalments.

18. Each Member shall (subject to receiving at least fourteen days‘ notice specifying the time or
times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specified the
amount called on his shares. The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay
all calls in respect thereof. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Directors may determine.

19. If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment
thereof, the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on the sum from the day
appointed for payment thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding ten per
cent. per annum) as the Directors may determine but the Directors shall be at liberty in any case or
cases to waive payment of such interest in whole or in part.

20. Any sum which by the terms of issue of a share becomes payable upon allotment or at any
fixed date shall for all the purposes of these Articles be deemed to be a call duly made and
payable on the date on which by the terms of issue the same becomes payable. In the case of non-
payment, all the relevant provisions of these Articles as to payment of interest and expenses,
forfeiture or otherwise shall apply as if such sum had become payable by virtue of a call duly made
and notified.

21. The Directors may on the issue of shares differentiate between the holders as to the amount
of calls to be paid and the times of payment.

22. The Directors may if they think fit receive from any Member willing to advance the same all
or any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid upon the shares held by him and such payment in
advance of calls shall extinguish pro tanto the liability upon the shares in respect of which it is
made and upon the moneys so received (until and to the extent that the same would but for such
advance become payable) the Company may pay interest at such rate (not exceeding eight per
cent. per annum) as the Member paying such sum and the Directors may agree. Capital paid on
shares in advance of calls shall not, whilst carrying interest, confer a right to participate in profits.

FORFEITURE AND LIEN

23. If a Member fails to pay in full any call or instalment of a call on the due date for payment
thereof, the Directors may at any time thereafter serve a notice on him requiring payment of so
much of the call or instalment as is unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued
thereon and any expenses incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment.
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24. The notice shall name a further day (not being less than fourteen days from the date of
service of the notice) on or before which and the place where the payment required by the notice is
to be made, and shall state that in the event of non-payment in accordance therewith the shares on
which the call has been made will be liable to be made forfeit.

25. lf the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any share in
respect of which such notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before payment of all calls
and interest and expenses due in respect thereof has been made, be made forfeit by a resolution
of the Directors to that effect. Such forfeiture shall include all Dividends declared in respect of the
forfeit share and not actually paid before forfeiture. The Directors may accept a surrender of any
share liable to be made forfeit hereunder.

26. A share so made forfeit or surrendered shall become the property of the Company and may
be sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was before such forfeiture or
surrender the holder thereof or entitled thereto or to any other person upon such terms and in such
manner as the Directors shall think fit, and at any time before a sale, re-allotment or disposal, the
forfeiture or surrender may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors shall think fit. The Directors
may, if necessary, authorise some person to transfer a share so made forfeit or surrendered to any
such other person as aforesaid.

27. A Member whose shares have been made forfeit or surrendered shall cease to be a Member
in respect of such shares but shall notwithstanding the forfeiture or surrender remain liable to pay
to the Company all moneys which at the date of forfeiture or surrender were presently payable by
him to the Company in respect of such shares with interest thereon at eight per cent. per annum
(or such lower rate as the Directors may determine) from the date of forfeiture or surrender until
payment and the Directors may at their absolute discretion enforce payment without any allowance
for the value of such shares at that time of forfeiture or surrender or waive payment in whole or in
part.

28. The Company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid
share) and Dividends from time to time declared in respect of such shares. Such lien shall be
restricted to unpaid calls and instalments upon the specific shares in respect of which such
moneys are due and unpaid, and to such amounts as the Company may be called upon by law to
pay in respect of the shares of the Member or deceased Member. The Directors may waive any lien
which has arisen and may resolve that any share shall for some limited period be exempt wholly or
partially from the provisions of this Article 28.

29. The Company may sell in such manner as the Directors think fit any share on which the
Company has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless some sum in respect of which the lien exists
is presently payable nor until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice in writing stating and
demanding payment of the sum presently payable and giving notice of intention to sell in default
shall have been given to the holder for the time being of the share or the person entitled thereto by
reason of his death or bankruptcy.

30. The net proceeds of such sale after payment of the costs of such sale shall be applied in or
towards payment or satisfaction of the debts or liabilities (including unpaid calls and accrued
interest and expenses) and any residue shall be paid to the person entitled to the shares at the
time of the sale or to his executors, administrators or assigns, as he may direct. For the purpose of
giving effect to any such sale, the Directors may authorise some person to transfer the shares sold
to the purchaser.

31. A statutory declaration in writing that the declarant is a Director or the Secretary of the
Company and that a share has been duly made forfeit or surrendered or sold to satisfy a lien of the
Company on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein
stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. Such declaration and the receipt
by the Company of the consideration (if any) given for the share on the sale, re-allotment or
disposal thereof together with the share certificate delivered to a purchaser (or where the
purchaser is a Depositor, the Depository Register) or allottee thereof shall (subject to the execution
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of a transfer if the same be required) constitute a good title to the share and the person to whom
the share is sold, re-allotted or disposed of shall be registered as the holder of the share, or where
such person is a Depositor, the Company shall procure that his name be entered in the Depository
Register in respect of the share so sold, re-allotted or disposed of. Such person shall not be bound
to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected
by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, surrender, sale, re-
allotment or disposal of the share.

TRANSFER OF SHARES

32. All transfers of shares shall be effected by written instruments of transfer in the form for the
time being approved by the Directors and the Designated Stock Exchange and a transfer in the
form for the time being approved by the Directors and the Designated Stock Exchange shall be
accepted. The instrument of transfer of any share shall be signed by or on behalf of both the
transferor and the transferee and be witnessed, provided always that an instrument of transfer in
respect of which the transferee is the CDP shall be effective although not signed or witnessed by or
on behalf of the CDP. The transferor shall be deemed to remain the holder of the shares concerned
until the name of the transferee is entered in the Register of Members in respect thereof.

33. The Registers of Members and of Transfers may be closed at such times and for such
periods as the Directors may from time to time determine, Provided Always that such Registers
shall not be closed for more than thirty days in any year, and that the Company shall give prior
notice of each such closure, as may be required, to the Designated Stock Exchange, stating the
period and purpose or purposes for which such closure is made.

34. (A) There shall be no restriction on the transfer of fully paid up shares (except where
required by law or by the rules, bye-laws or listing rules of the Designated Stock Exchange) but the
Directors may in their discretion decline to register any transfer of shares upon which the Company
has a lien, and in the case of shares not fully paid up, may refuse to register a transfer to a
transferee of whom they do not approve, Provided Always that in the event of the Directors refusing
to register a transfer of shares, the Company shall within ten market days (or such period as the
Directors may determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the
Designated Stock Exchange from time to time) after the date on which the application for a transfer
of shares was made, serve a notice in writing to the applicant stating the facts which are
considered to justify the refusal as required by the Statutes.

(B) The Directors may decline to register any instrument of transfer unless:-

(a) such fee not exceeding S$2.00 (or such other fee as the Directors may
determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the
Designated Stock Exchange from time to time) as the Directors may from time
to time require is paid to the Company in respect thereof;

(b) the amount of proper duty (if any) with which each instrument of transfer is
chargeable under any law for the time being in force relating to stamps is paid;

(c) the instrument of transfer is deposited at the Office or at such other place (if
any) as the Directors may appoint accompanied by a certificate of payment of
stamp duty (if stamp duty is payable on such instrument of transfer in
accordance with any law for the time being in force relating to stamp duty), the
certificates of the shares to which it relates, and such other evidence as the
Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other person on
his behalf, the authority of the person so to do; and

(d) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares.

35. All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.
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36. The Company shall be entitled to destroy all instruments of transfer which have been
registered at any time after the expiration of six years from the date of registration thereof and all
Dividend mandates and notifications of change of address at any time after the expiration of six
years from the date of recording thereof and all share certificates which have been cancelled at
any time after the expiration of six years from the date of the cancellation thereof and it shall
conclusively be presumed in favour of the Company that every entry in the Register of Members
purporting to have been made on the basis of an instrument of transfer or other document so
destroyed was duly and properly made and every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid
and effective instrument duly and properly registered and every share certificate so destroyed was
a valid and effective certificate duly and properly cancelled and every other document hereinbefore
mentioned so destroyed was a valid and effective document in accordance with the recorded
particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company, Provided Always that:-

(a) the provisions aforesaid shall apply only to the destruction of a document in good faith
and without notice of any claim (regardless of the parties thereto) to which the
document might be relevant;

(b) nothing herein contained shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any
liability in respect of the destruction of any such document earlier than as aforesaid or
in any other circumstances which would not attach to the Company in the absence of
this Article; and

(c) references herein to the destruction of any document include references to the
disposal thereof in any manner.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

37. (A) In case of the death of a Member whose name is registered in the Register of
Members, the survivors or survivor, where the deceased was a joint holder, and the executors or
administrators of the deceased, where he was a sole or only surviving holder, shall be the only
person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares.

(B) In the case of the death of a Member who is a Depositor, the survivors or survivor,
where the deceased is a joint holder, and the executors or administrators of the deceased, where
he was a sole or only surviving holder and where such executors or administrators are entered into
the Depository Register in respect of any shares to the deceased Member, shall be the only
person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares.

(C) Nothing herein contained shall release the estate of a deceased holder (whether sole
or joint) from any liability in respect of any share held by him.

38. Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a
Member may (subject as hereinafter provided) upon supplying to the Company such evidence as
the Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share, elect either to be registered
himself as holder of the share or to have another person nominated by him registered as the
transferee thereof. If the person so becoming entitled elects to be registered himself, he shall
deliver or send to the Company a notice in writing signed by him stating that he so elects. If he
elects to have another person registered he shall testify his election by executing to that person a
transfer of the share. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of these Articles relating to the
right to transfer and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or
transfer as aforesaid as if the death or bankruptcy of the Member had not occurred and the notice
or transfer were a transfer executed by such Member.

39. Save as otherwise provided by or in accordance with these Articles, a person becoming
entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a Member (upon supplying to the
Company such evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share)
shall be entitled to the same Dividends and other advantages as those to which he would be
entitled if he were the registered holder of the share except that he shall not be entitled in respect
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thereof (except with the authority of the Directors) to exercise any right conferred by membership in
relation to General Meetings of the Company until he shall have been registered as a Member in
respect of the share.

40. There shall be paid to the Company in respect of the registration of any probate or letters of
administration or certificate of death or stop notice or power of attorney or other document relating
to or affecting the title to any shares or otherwise for making any entry in the Register of Members
affecting the title to any shares such fee not exceeding S$2.00 (or such other fee as the Directors
may determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by the Designated
Stock Exchange from time to time) as the Directors may from time to time require.

CENTRAL DEPOSITORY SYSTEM

41. A reference to a Member shall be a reference to a registered holder of shares in the
Company, or where such registered holder is CDP, the Depositors on behalf of whom CDP holds
the shares, Provided that:-

(a) a Depositor shall only be entitled to attend any General Meeting and to speak and
vote thereat if his name appears on the Depository Register maintained by CDP forty-
eight (48) hours before the General Meeting as a Depositor on whose behalf CDP
holds shares in the Company, the Company being entitled to deem each such
Depositor, or each proxy of a Depositor who is to represent the entire balance
standing to the Securities Account of the Depositor, to represent such number of
shares as is actually credited to the Securities Account of the Depositor as at such
time, according to the records of CDP as supplied by CDP to the Company, and
where a Depositor has apportioned the balance standing to his Securities Account
between two proxies, to apportion the said number of shares between the two proxies
in the same proportion as previously specified by the Depositor in appointing the
proxies; and accordingly no instrument appointing a proxy of a Depositor shall be
rendered invalid merely by reason of any discrepancy between the proportion of
Depositor’s shareholding specified in the instrument of proxy, or where the balance
standing to a Depositor’s Securities Account has been apportioned between two
proxies the aggregate of the proportions of the Depositor’s shareholding they are
specified to represent, and the true balance standing to the Securities Account of a
Depositor as at the time of the General Meeting, if the instrument is dealt with in such
manner as is provided above;

(b) the payment by the Company to CDP of any Dividend payable to a Depositor shall to
the extent of the payment discharge the Company from any further liability in respect
of the payment;

(c) the delivery by the Company to CDP of provisional allotments or share certificates in
respect of the aggregate entitlements of Depositors to new shares offered by way of
rights issue or other preferential offering or bonus issue shall to the extent of the
delivery discharge the Company from any further liability to each such Depositor in
respect of his individual entitlement; and

(d) the provisions in these Articles relating to the transfers, transmissions or certification
of shares shall not apply to the transfer of book-entry securities (as defined in the
Statutes).

EXCLUSION OF EQUITIES

42. Except as required by the Statutes or law, no person shall be recognized by the Company as
holding any share upon any trust, and the Company shall not be bound by or compelled in any way
to recognize (even when having notice thereof) any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest
in any share, or any interest in any fractional part of a share, or (except only as by these Articles or
by the Statutes or law otherwise provided) any other right in respect of any share, except an
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absolute right to the entirety thereof in the registered holder and nothing in these Articles contained
relating to CDP or to Depositors or in any depository agreement made by the Company with any
common depository for shares shall in any circumstances be deemed to limit, restrict or qualify the
above.

STOCK

43. The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution convert any paid-up shares into
stock and may from time to time by like resolution reconvert any stock into paid-up shares of any
denomination.

44. The holders of stock may transfer the same or any part thereof in the same manner and
subject to the same Articles as and subject to which the shares from which the stock arose might
previous to conversion have been transferred (or as near thereto as circumstances admit) but no
stock shall be transferable except in such units as the Directors may from time to time determine.

45. The holders of stock shall, according to the amount of stock held by them, have the same
rights, privileges and advantages as regards Dividend, return of capital, voting and other matters,
as if they held the shares from which the stock arose; but no such privilege or advantage (except
as regards participation in the profits or assets of the Company) shall be conferred by an amount
of stock which would not, if existing in shares, have conferred such privilege or advantage, and no
such conversion shall affect or prejudice any preference or other special privileges attached to the
shares so converted.

(B) RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF VOTING 

GENERAL MEETINGS

46. An Annual General Meeting shall be held once in every year, at such time (within a period of
not more than fifteen months after the holding of the last preceding Annual General Meeting) and
place as may be determined by the Directors. All other General Meetings shall be called
Extraordinary General Meetings. The interval between the close of a financial year of the Company
and the date of the Company’s Annual General Meeting shall not exceed four months or such other
period as prescribed by the Act and the byelaws and listing rules of the Designated Stock
Exchange or other legislation applicable to the Company from time to time.

47. The Directors may whenever they think fit, and shall on requisition in accordance with the
Statutes, proceed with proper expedition to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

48. Any Annual General Meeting and any Extraordinary General Meeting at which it is proposed
to pass a Special Resolution or (save as provided by the Statutes) a resolution of which special
notice has been given to the Company, shall be called by twenty-one days’ notice in writing at the
least and an Annual General Meeting or any other Extraordinary General Meeting, by fourteen
days’ notice in writing at the least. The period of notice shall in each case be exclusive of the day
on which it is served or deemed to be served and of the day on which the General Meeting is to be
held and shall be given in manner hereinafter mentioned to all Members other than such as are not
under the provisions of these Articles entitled to receive such notices from the Company, Provided
that a General Meeting notwithstanding that it has been called by a shorter notice than that
specified above shall be deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed:-

(a) in the case of an Annual General Meeting by all the Members entitled to attend and
vote thereat; and
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(b) in the case of an Extraordinary General Meeting by a majority in number of the
Members having a right to attend and vote thereat, being a majority together holding
not less than 95 per cent. of the total voting rights of all the Members having a right to
vote at thereat;

Provided also that the accidental omission to give notice to or the non-receipt of notice by
any person entitled thereto shall not invalidate the proceedings at any General Meeting. At least
fourteen days’ notice of any General Meeting shall be given by advertisement in the daily press and
in writing to the Designated Stock Exchange, Provided Always that in the case of any Extraordinary
General Meeting at which it is proposed to pass a Special Resolution, at least twenty-one days’
notice in writing of such Extraordinary General Meeting shall be given to the Designated Stock
Exchange.

49. (A) Every notice calling a General Meeting shall specify the place and the day and hour of
the meeting, and there shall appear with reasonable prominence in every such notice a statement
that a Member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead
of him and that a proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

(B) In the case of an Annual General Meeting, the notice shall also specify the meeting as
such.

(C) In the case of any General Meeting at which business other than routine business
(“special business”) is to be transacted, the notice shall specify the general nature of such
business, and if any resolution is to be proposed as a Special Resolution, the notice shall contain a
statement to that effect.

50. Routine business shall mean and include only business transacted at an Annual General
Meeting of the following classes, that is to say:-

(a) declaring Dividends;

(b) receiving and adopting the accounts, the reports of the Directors and Auditors and
other documents required to be attached or annexed to the accounts;

(c) appointing or re-appointing Directors to fill vacancies arising at the meeting on
retirement whether by rotation or otherwise;

(d) re-appointing the retiring Auditors (unless they were last appointed otherwise than by
the Company in General Meeting);

(e) fixing the remuneration of the Auditors or determining the manner in which such
remuneration is to be fixed; and

(f) fixing the Directors fees.

51. Any notice of a General Meeting to consider special business shall be accompanied by a
statement regarding the effect of any proposed resolution on the Company in respect of such
special business.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

52. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, failing whom the Deputy Chairman, shall preside as
chairman at a General Meeting. If there be no such Chairman or Deputy Chairman, or if at any
General Meeting neither be present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the
meeting and willing to act, the Directors present shall choose one of their number (or, if no Director
be present or if all the Directors present decline to take the chair, the Members present shall
choose one of their number) to be chairman of the General Meeting.



F-12

APPENDIX F – EXTRACTS FROM THE COMPANY’S CONSTITUTION

53. No business other than the appointment of a Chairman shall be transacted at any General
Meeting unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. Save as
herein otherwise provided, the quorum at any General Meeting shall be two Members present in
person or by proxy, provided that (i) a proxy representing more than one Member shall only count
as one Member for purpose of determining if the quorum aforesaid is present; and (ii) where a
Member is represented by more than one proxy, such proxies of such Member shall only count as
one Member for purposes of determining if the quorum aforesaid is present.

54. If within thirty minutes from the time appointed for a General Meeting (or such longer interval
as the chairman of the meeting may think fit to allow) a quorum is not present, the meeting, if
convened on the requisition of Members, shall be dissolved. In any other case it shall stand
adjourned to the same day in the next week (or if that day is a public holiday then to the next
business day following that public holiday) at the same time and place or such other day, time or
place as the Directors may by not less than ten days’ notice appoint.

55. The chairman of any General Meeting at which a quorum is present may with the consent of
the meeting (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time (or sine
die) and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except
business which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment
took place. Where a General Meeting is adjourned sine die, the time and place for the adjourned
meeting shall be fixed by the Directors. When a General Meeting is adjourned for thirty days or
more or sine die, not less than seven days’ notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in like
manner as in the case of the original meeting.

56. Save as hereinbefore expressly provided, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an
adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned General Meeting.

57. If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall in good
faith be ruled out of order by the chairman of the General Meeting, the proceedings on the
substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling. In the case of a
resolution duly proposed as a Special Resolution, no amendment thereto (other than a mere
clerical amendment to correct a patent error) may in any event be considered or voted upon.

58. At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a
show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands)
demanded by:-

(a) the chairman of the meeting; or

(b) not less than two Members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote; or

(c) any Member present in person or by proxy, or where such a Member has appointed
two proxies any one of such proxies, or any number or combination of such Members
or proxies, holding or representing as the case may be not less than one-tenth of the
total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote at the General Meeting;
or

(d) any Member present in person or by proxy, or where such a Member has appointed
two proxies any one of such proxies, or any number or combination of such Members
or proxies, holding shares conferring a right to vote at the General Meeting, of which
an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than 10 per cent. of the total
sum paid up on all the share conferring that right,

Provided Always that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of the chairman of the
meeting or on a question of adjournment. A demand for a poll may be withdrawn only with the
approval of the meeting.
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59. Unless a poll is required, a declaration by the chairman of the General Meeting that a
resolution has been carried, or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an
entry to that effect in the minute book, shall be conclusive evidence of that fact without proof of the
number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against such resolution. If a poll is required, it
shall be taken in such manner (including the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) as the
chairman of the General Meeting may direct, and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the
resolution of the meeting at which the poll was demanded. The chairman of the General Meeting
may (and if so directed by the meeting shall) appoint scrutineers and may adjourn the meeting to
some place and time fixed by him for the purpose of declaring the result of the poll.

60. In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of
the General Meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall
be entitled to a casting vote.

61. A poll demanded on any question shall be taken either immediately or at such subsequent
time (not being more than thirty days from the date of the Meeting) and place as the chairman of
the Meeting may direct. No notice need be given of a poll not taken immediately. The demand for a
poll shall not prevent the continuance of the General Meeting for the transaction of any business
other than the question on which the poll has been demanded.

VOTES OF MEMBERS

62. Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting attached by or in accordance with
these Articles to any class of shares, and to Article 4, each Member entitled to vote may vote in
person or by proxy. On a show of hands every Member who is present in person or by proxy shall
have one vote (provided that in the case of a Member who is represented by two proxies, only one
of the two proxies as determined by that Member or, failing such determination, by the Chairman of
the General Meeting (or by a person authorised by him) in his sole discretion shall be entitled to
vote on a show of hands) and on a poll every Member who is present in person or by proxy shall
have one vote for every share of which he holds or represents. For the purposes of determining the
number of votes which a Member, being a Depositor, or his proxy may cast at any General Meeting
on a poll, the references to shares held or represented shall, in relation to shares of that Depositor,
be the number of shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours
before the time of the relevant General Meeting as certified by CDP to the Company. A Member
who is bankrupt shall not, while his bankruptcy continues, be entitled to exercise his rights as a
Member, or attend, vote or act at any General Meeting.

63. ln the case of joint holders of a share, any one of such persons shall be entitled to vote, but
if more than one of such persons is present at a meeting, the vote of the senior who tenders a
vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other
joint holders and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names
stand in the Register of Members or, as the case may be, the order in which the names appear in
the Depository Register in respect of the joint holding.

64. Where in Singapore or elsewhere a receiver or other person (by whatever name called) has
been appointed by any court claiming jurisdiction in that behalf to exercise powers with respect to
the property or affairs of any Member on the ground (however formulated) of mental disorder, the
Directors may in their absolute discretion, upon or subject to production of such evidence of the
appointment as the Directors may require, permit such receiver or other person on behalf of such
Member, to vote in person or by proxy at any General Meeting, or to exercise any other right
conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company.

65. No Member shall be entitled in respect of shares held by him to vote at a General Meeting
either personally or by proxy or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to
General Meetings if any call or other sum payable by him to the Company in respect of such
shares remains unpaid. Conversely, a member shall be entitled in respect of shares held by him to
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vote at a General Meeting either personally or by proxy or to exercise any other right conferred by
membership in relation to General Meetings if all call or other sums payable by him to the
Company in respect of such shares have been paid.

66. No objection shall be raised as to the admissibility of any vote except at the General Meeting
or adjourned General Meeting at which the vote objected to is or may be given or tendered and
every vote not disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection shall
be referred to the chairman of the General Meeting whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

67. On a poll, votes may be given either personally or by proxy and a person entitled to more
than one vote need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.

68. (A) A Member shall not be entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend and vote at
the same General Meeting, provided that if the Member is a Depositor, the Company shall be
entitled and bound:-

(a) to reject any instrument of proxy lodged if the Depositor, is not shown, to have any
shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the
time of the relevant General Meeting as certified by CDP to the Company; and

(b) to accept as the maximum number of votes which in aggregate the proxy or proxies
appointed by the Depositor is or are able to cast on a poll a number which is the
number of shares entered into against the name of that Depositor in the Depository
Register as at 48 hours before the time of the relevant General Meeting as certified by
CDP to the Company, whether that number is greater or smaller than the number
specified in any instrument of proxy executed by or on behalf of that Depositor.

(B) Where a Member appoints more than one proxy, the Member shall specify the
proportion of his shares to be represented by each such proxy, failing which the nomination shall
be deemed to be alternative.

(C) A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

69. (A) An instrument appointing a proxy for any Member shall be in writing in any usual or
common form or in any other form which the Directors may approve and:-

(a) in the case of an individual Member, shall be signed by the Member or his attorney
duly authorised in writing; and

(b) in the case of a Member which is a corporation shall be either given under its common
seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney duly authorised in writing or a duly
authorised officer of the corporation.

(B) The signatures on an instrument of proxy need not be witnessed. Where an instrument
appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of a Member by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney
or a duly certified copy thereof shall (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with
the instrument of proxy pursuant to the next following Article, failing which the instrument of proxy
may be treated as invalid.

70. An instrument appointing a proxy must be left at such place or one of such places (if any) as
may be specified for that purpose in or by way of note to or in any document accompanying the
notice convening the General Meeting (or, if no place is so specified, at the Office) not less than
forty-eight hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting or
(in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same day as the meeting or adjourned
meeting) for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used, and in default shall not be treated as
valid. The instrument shall, unless the contrary is stated thereon, be valid as well for any
adjournment of the General Meeting as for the meeting to which it relates, Provided that an
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instrument of proxy relating to more than one meeting (including any adjournment thereof) having
once been so delivered for the purposes of any meeting shall not require again to be delivered for
the purposes of any subsequent meeting to which it relates.

71. An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in
demanding a poll and to speak at the General Meeting.

72. A vote cast by proxy shall not be invalidated by the previous death or insanity of the principal
or by the revocation of the appointment of the proxy or of the authority under which the
appointment was made provided that no intimation in writing of such death, insanity or revocation
shall have been received by the Company at the Office at least one hour before the
commencement of the General Meeting or adjourned General Meeting or (in the case of a poll
taken otherwise than at or on the same day as the meeting or adjourned meeting) the time
appointed for the taking of the poll at which the vote is cast.

73. Subject to these Articles and the Statutes, the Directors may, at their sole discretion, approve
and implement, subject to such security measures as may be deemed necessary or expedient,
such voting methods to allow Members who are unable to vote in person at any General Meeting
the option to vote in absentia, including but not limited to voting by mail, electronic mail or facsimile.

CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES

74. Any corporation which is a Member of the Company may by resolution of its Directors or
other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any
General Meeting. The person so authorised shall be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf
of such corporation as the corporation could exercise if it were an individual Member of the
Company and such corporation shall for the purposes of these Articles (but subject to the Act) be
deemed to be present in person at any such meeting if a person so authorised is present thereat.

(C) RIGHTS IN RESPECT OF DIVIDENDS 

DIVIDENDS

123. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution declare Dividends but no such Dividend shall
exceed the amount recommended by the Directors.

124. If and so far as in the opinion of the Directors, the profits of the Company justify such
payments, the Directors may declare and pay the fixed Dividends on any class of shares carrying a
fixed Dividend expressed to be payable on fixed dates on the half-yearly or other dates prescribed
for the payment thereof and may also from time to time declare and pay interim Dividends on
shares of any class of such amounts and on such dates and in respect of such periods as they
think fit.

125. Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class of shares and except as
otherwise permitted under the Act-

(a) all Dividends in respect of shares must be paid in proportion to the number of shares
held by a Member, but where shares are partly paid, all Dividends must be
apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the
partly paid shares; and

(b) all Dividends must be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts so paid or
credited as paid during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the
Dividend is paid.

For the purposes of this Article, an amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of a call
is to be ignored.
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126. (A) No Dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profits available for distribution under
the provisions of the Statutes. The payment by the Directors of any unclaimed dividends or other
moneys payable on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute the
Company a trustee in respect thereof. All Dividends remaining unclaimed after one year from
having been first payable may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Directors for the benefit
of the Company, and any Dividend or any such moneys unclaimed after six (6) years from having
been first payable shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company provided always that the
Directors may at any time thereafter at their absolute discretion annul any such forfeiture and pay
the Dividend so forfeited to the person entitled thereto prior to the forfeiture. If CDP returns any
such Dividend or moneys to the Company, the relevant Depositor shall not have any right or claim
in respect of such Dividend or moneys against the Company if a period of six years has elapsed
from the date of the declaration of such Dividend or the date on which such other moneys are first
payable.

(B) A payment by the Company to CDP of any Dividend or other moneys payable to a
Depositor shall, to the extent of the payment made, discharge the Company from any liability to the
Depositor in respect of that payment.

127. No Dividend or other monies payable on or in respect of a share shall bear interest as
against the Company.

128. (A) The Directors may retain any Dividend or other monies payable on or in respect of a
share on which the Company has a lien and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the
debts, liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists.

(B) The Directors may retain the Dividends payable upon shares in respect of which any
person is under the provisions as to the transmission of shares hereinbefore contained entitled to
become a Member, or which any person is under those provisions entitled to transfer, until such
person shall become a Member in respect of such shares or shall transfer the same.

129. The waiver in whole or in part of any Dividend on any share by any document (whether or
not under seal) shall be effective only if such document is signed by the Member (or the person
entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder) and delivered to the
Company and if or to the extent that the same is accepted as such or acted upon by the Company.

130. The Company may upon the recommendation of the Directors by Ordinary Resolution direct
payment of a Dividend in whole or in part by the distribution of specific assets (and in particular of
paid-up shares or debentures of any other company) and the Directors shall give effect to such
resolution. Where any difficulty arises with regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle the
same as they think expedient and in particular, may issue fractional certificates, may fix the value
for distribution of such specific assets or any part thereof, may determine that cash payments shall
be made to any Member upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all
parties and may vest any such specific assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Directors.

131. Any Dividend or other monies payable in cash on or in respect of a share may be paid by
cheque or warrant sent through the post to the registered address appearing in the Register of
Members or (as the case may be) the Depository Register of the Member or person entitled
thereto (or, if two or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may
be) entered in the Depository Register as joint holders of the share or are entitled thereto in
consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder, to any one of such persons) or to such
person and such address as such Member or person or persons may by writing direct.

Every such cheque or warrant shall be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent
or to such person as the holder or joint holders or person or persons entitled to the share in
consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder may direct and payment of the cheque or
warrant by the banker upon whom it is drawn shall be a good discharge to the Company. Every
such cheque or warrant shall be sent at the risk of the person entitled to the money represented
thereby.
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132. If two or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may be)
the Depository Register as joint holders of any share, or are entitled jointly to a share in
consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder, any one of them may give effectual receipts
for any Dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the share.

133. Any resolution declaring a Dividend on shares of any class, whether a resolution of the
Company in General Meeting or a resolution of the Directors, may specify that the same shall be
payable to the persons registered as the holders of such shares in the Register of Members or (as
the case may be) the Depository Register at the close of business on a particular date and
thereupon the Dividend shall be payable to them in accordance with their respective holdings so
registered, but without prejudice to the rights inter se in respect of such Dividend of transferors and
transferees of any such shares.

BONUS ISSUES AND CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES

134. (A) The Directors may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution of the Company
(including any Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Article 5(8)):

(a) issue bonus shares for which no consideration is payable to the Company to the
persons registered as holders of shares in the Register of Members or (as the case
may be) the Depository Register at the close of business on:

(i) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specified
therein or determined as therein provided); or

(ii) in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Article 5(B)) such
other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their then
holdings of shares; and/or

(b) capitalise any sum standing to the credit of any of the Company‘s reserve accounts or
other undistributable reserve or any sum standing to the credit of profit and loss
account by appropriating such sum to the persons registered as holders of shares in
the Register of Members or (as the case may be) in the Depository Register at the
close of business on:

(i) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specified
therein or determined as therein provided); or

(ii) (in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Article 5(8)) such
other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their then
holdings of shares and applying such sum on their behalf in paying up in full
unissued shares (or, subject to any special rights previously conferred on any
shares or class of shares for the time being issued, unissued shares of any
other class not being redeemable shares) for allotment and distribution credited
as fully paid up to and amongst them as bonus shares in the proportion
aforesaid.

(B) The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give
effect to any such bonus issue or capitalisation under this Article 134, with full power to the
Directors to make such provisions as they think fit for any fractional entitlements which would arise
on the basis aforesaid (including provisions whereby fractional entitlements are disregarded or the
benefit thereof accrues to the Company rather than to the Members concerned). The Directors may
authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the Members interested into an agreement with the
Company providing for any such bonus issue or capitalisation and matters incidental thereto and
any agreement made under such authority shall be effective and binding on all concerned.
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(C) In addition and without prejudice to the powers provided for by this Article 134, the
Directors shall have power to issue shares for which no consideration is payable and to capitalise
any undivided profits or other moneys of the Company not required for the payment or provision of
any Dividend on any shares entitled to cumulative or non-cumulative preferential Dividends
(including profits or other moneys carried and standing to any reserve or reserves) and to apply
such profits or other moneys in paying up in full, in each case on terms that such shares shall,
upon issue, be held by or for the benefit of participants of any share incentive or option scheme or
plan implemented by the Company and approved by Members in General Meeting and on such
terms as the Directors shall think fit.
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Savills Valuations Pty Ltd | ABN 73 151 048 056  
Printed: 14/02/2020  2 
 

Executive Summary 
Larmont Sydney by Lancemore & Office Suites, 2-14 Kings Cross Road, Potts Point 

Name of Responsible Entity TEE Land Limited 
Instructions We have been instructed to undertake a retrospective valuation in connection with the mandatory 

unconditional cash offer by Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. for TEE Land Limited. 
No responsibility is accepted by the Valuer and/or Valuation Firm in the event that the applicant to 
which this Report is addressed, or any other agreed additional reliant party(s) noted in this Report, 
relies, uses, distributes, publishes and /or otherwise represents anything contained in the Report for 
any other purpose apart from that expressly noted previously.  
All investigations have been conducted independently and without influence from a third party in any 
way. 

Interest Valued We assessed the Unencumbered Freehold Strata Title on the following basis: 
 Market Value As Is of the hotel subject to the HMA as at 30 November 2019  
 Market Value of the Strata Office Suites subject to the Existing Leases as at 30 November 2019 
 Market Value assuming a Sale In-One-Line of the Individual Strata Office Allotments as at 30 

November 2019. 

Purpose of Valuation This valuation report has been prepared in connection with the mandatory unconditional cash offer by 
Amcorp Supreme Pte. Ltd. for TEE Land Limited. 

Property Description The Larmont Hotel Sydney by Lancemore comprises an upscale hotel with 103 guest rooms which 
underwent a significant internal refurbishment in 2017 and presents in good condition. The hotel forms 
part of a mixed-use strata title complex and shares the reception area with the commercial office 
tenancies.  
In addition to the hotel allotment, the applicant also owns various other lots within the building including 
Lot 2 which is located on the ground floor and utilised as the hotel restaurant which is leased to a third 
party, Lot 3 comprises a mezzanine tenancy and is occupied by Body Mind Life Yoga Studio, four 
individual office suites (encompassing 211m² and a 22m² parking space) and various parking spaces. 
The property is located within the inner eastern Sydney suburb of Potts Point in close proximity to 
Kings Cross Train Station and approximately 2 kilometres east of the Sydney Central Business 
Precinct.  

Tenancy Details The four office suites are occupied under individual short term lease agreements. The restaurant is 
occupied under a three year lease expiring 30 June 2022 with an option for a further three years whilst 
the yoga studio is occupied under four year lease expiring 31 March 2023 with an option for a further 
four years. The hotel is operated by Lancemore Group under a management agreement.  

Critical Assumptions See Critical Assumptions 

Title Hotel - Lots 2, 3, 5, 18 and 19 in Strata Plan 79156 and Lot 78 in Strata Plan 95963 
Offices - Lots 10 (car space lot), 31, 54, 55 and 61 in Strata Plan 79156  

Strata Area 4,876m² including parking 

Site Area 1,110m² (base parcel)  

Zoning Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

Valuation Approach Discounted Cash Flow, Income Capitalisation and Direct Comparison 

Date of Inspection 9 January 2020 
Date of Valuation 30 November 2019 
Number of Hotel Rooms 103 

Last Sale $23,200,000 December 2014, with subsequent acquisition of various Strata Lots 

Owner Potts Point Hospitality Pty Limited 

Brand/Manager Julpet Pty Ltd under the Lancemore brand 
Continued overleaf. 
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Savills Valuations Pty Ltd | ABN 73 151 048 056  
Printed: 14/02/2020  3 
 

Executive Summary (cont.) 
Larmont Sydney by Lancemore & Office Suites, 2-14 Kings Cross Road, Potts Point 

Strata Office Lots Gross Realisation In-One-Line 
Net Passing Income $88,990 per annum  $84,778 per annum  

Net Income Used for Valuing $88,990 per annum  $84,778 per annum  

Passing Initial Yield 3.69%  4.00%  

Equated Market Yield 3.69%  4.00%  

$Rate /m² of Strata Area $10,343/m²  $9,013/m²  

Adopted Market Value $2,410,000 (*) $2,100,000 (*) 
Hotel Budget, Historic Trade & 
Savills Forecasts 

 
Component Larmont Hotel  Subject to HMA  
YE May 2019 EBITDA $2,307,670  
CY December 2020 EBITDA 
(Savills Forecast) 

$2,483,557  

Terminal Yield 5.25%  
DCF Discount Rate 6.75%  

Income Capitalisation Rate 5.25%  

10 Year IRR 6.10%  

Passing Yield 4.81%  

Initial Yield  
(Savills CY 2020 Forecast) 

5.17%  

Adopted Market Value  $48,000,000 (*)  
Capital Rate Per Room $466,019 per room  

Prepared by James Cassidy AAPI  Peer Review  Adrian Archer  
Certified Practising Valuer   National Director 

  Savills Valuations Pty Ltd   Savills Hotels 
(*) This valuation amount is exclusive of a Goods and Services Tax and is expressed in $AUD. 

We advise that this summary must be read by the nominated party(ies) in conjunction with the attached report (including appendices) of which this summary 
forms part.  This valuation summary should not be relied upon in isolation for finance or any other purposes.  Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation.  Savills will not be liable for loss of business revenue, contracts, savings or consequential losses as a result of any 
reliance on the opinions expressed in this report. 

Cashflow Summary
Actual Actual Actual Forecast

PERIOD ENDING 31-May-17 31-May-18 31-May-19 31-May-20 Dec-20 Dec-21 Dec-22 Dec-23 Dec-24
Number of Bedrooms 92 103 103 103 103 103 103 103 103
Occupancy Rate 73.9% 80.1% 84.8% 87.8% 85.3% 84.8% 84.9% 85.0% 84.8%
Average Daily Rate $184.38 $195.81 $211.47 $212.89 $211.33 $215.89 $221.24 $226.80 $233.10
RevPAR $136.26 $156.85 $179.22 $186.85 $180.23 $183.18 $187.82 $192.86 $197.74
change % 15.1% 14.3% 4.3% 1.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.5%
($000s)
Total Revenue 5,315.0 6,841.8 7,534.1 7,628.7 7,396.9 7,518.1 7,708.5 7,915.3 8,097.9
change % 28.7% 10.1% 1.3% 1.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.3%
Total Departmental Costs 1,971.9 2,972.0 2,788.6 2,626.5 2,497.8 2,538.7 2,603.0 2,672.8 2,730.9
change % 50.7% -6.2% -5.8% 1.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.2%
Gross Operating Income 3,343.1 3,869.8 4,745.5 5,002.3 4,899.1 4,979.4 5,105.5 5,242.5 5,367.0
change % 15.8% 22.6% 5.4% 1.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.4%
Total Undistributed Expenses 1,101.4 1,379.2 1,290.9 1,350.6 1,250.1 1,308.1 1,341.3 1,377.3 1,409.0
change % 25.2% -6.4% 4.6% 4.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.3%
Gross Operating Profit 2,241.7 2,490.6 3,454.5 3,651.6 3,649.1 3,671.2 3,764.2 3,865.2 3,957.9
change % 11.1% 38.7% 5.7% 0.6% 2.5% 2.7% 2.4%
Total Fixed Costs 949.2 988.0 1,146.9 1,157.0 1,165.5 1,183.8 1,210.3 1,240.1 1,267.7
change % 4.1% 16.1% 0.9% 1.6% 2.2% 2.5% 2.2%
EBITDAR 1,292.5 1,502.6 2,307.7 2,494.6 2,483.6 2,487.4 2,553.9 2,625.1 2,690.3
Rent Payable 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Rent Receivable 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
EBITDA 1,292.5 1,502.6 2,307.7 2,494.6 2,483.6 2,487.4 2,553.9 2,625.1 2,690.3
change % 16.3% 53.6% 8.1% 0.2% 2.7% 2.8% 2.5%
EBITDA Per No of Bedrooms 14.0 14.6 22.4 24.2 24.1 24.1 24.8 25.5 26.1
Total Management Fees 295.1 336.0 427.0 445.0 439.9 444.1 455.3 467.5 478.6
Total FF&E Reserve 159.4 205.3 226.0 228.9 221.9 225.5 231.3 237.5 242.9
Capital Expenditure 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Savills ForecastsHistorical Performance
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Savills (NZ) Ltd
Level 6, 41 Shortland Street

Auckland 1010
T: +64 (0) 9 951 5340

savills.co.nz
 
 

13 February 2020 
 
 
 
  
Teematic Private Limited 
25 Bukit Batok Street 22 
Singapore 659591 
 
 
lawrence.toh@teeland.com.sg  
 
 
Ref: GW20027540 
 
 
Dear Sir 
 
Re:  Valuation of 15-21 Main South Road and 29 Ballantyne Avenue, Upper Riccarton, Christchurch 
 
1. Instructions 

We refer to instructions issued by Teematic Private Limited 19 December 2019 to provide the Market Value of 
15-21 Main South Road and 29 Ballantyne Avenue, Upper Riccarton, Christchurch New Zealand “the subject 
property”.   
 
We have prepared a full and comprehensive Retrospective Valuation Report for the property in accordance with 
our instructions. This letter and its attachments should be read in conjunction with the Valuation Report 
(prepared as at 30 November 2019, dated 13 February 2020) as we note this letter does not include all 
essential information and the assumptions which are detailed in our Valuation Report.  The Valuation Report 
provides a detailed description of the property; its current tenancy configuration and agreements; assumptions 
impacting value and local market characteristics. 
 
2. Date of Valuation 

30 November 2019. 
 
3. Basis of Valuation 

We have assessed the market value of the subject property in accordance with the definition of Market Value. 
 
Market value as defined by the International Valuation Standards Council and as adopted by the Property 
Institute of New Zealand (PINZ) and the International Valuation Standards is as follows: 
 
“Market value is the estimated amount for which an asset or liability should exchange on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing, wherein the 
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”  
 
This valuation represents our opinion of value at the date of valuation.  It must be recognised that the real 
estate market fluctuates with internal and external influences and this valuation should therefore be reviewed 
at regular intervals. 
 
  



G-53

APPENDIX G – VALUATION REPORTS AND/OR CERTIfICATES
 

Page 2 

4. Scope of Work and Approach 

In undertaking the valuation our approach has generally comprised the following: 
 
� Securing relevant individual property information including but not limited to title particulars, building 

particulars, leases, outgoings, and capital expenditure;  
� Market research with local and active real estate agents and other market participants and the relevant 

authorities; 
� Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the past four years: 
� Copies of historic valuation reports prepared by the principle valuer dated 31 May 2017 and 31 May 2018 

and 
� A physical inspection of the property. 

 
In assessing the value of the subject property we have considered two bases of valuation being:- 
 
1. Direct Comparison Approach; and 
2. Amortisation of Income. 
 
Attachments (including valuation executive summary) should be read in conjunction with the Valuation Report 
dated 30 November 2019. We note that this letter does not contain all the necessary information and 
assumptions which are detailed in the Valuation Report.  The Valuation Report forms an integral part of our advice 
and provides descriptive commentaries on the specific property characteristics in addition to the local market 
dynamics and any general, specific and special assumptions under which the valuation has been prepared. 
 
5. Valuation Methodology 

To determine the value of the property we have considered the Highest and Best Use given the short 
remaining period for the accommodation period through to December 2022. The land has strong underlying 
value drivers as vacant residential development land, in addition is the value associated with the holding 
income until the Resource Consent expires and finally the realisation of selling the relocatable units that 
occupy the property.  
 
Traditional development valuation methodologies include: 
 
The sales comparison approach is whereby the subject land is benchmarked against other block land 
involved in recent market transactions. Appropriate adjustments to sale price are made to reflect relativity to 
the subject land such as characteristics in terms of; location, size, yield, realisation values and development 
costs. This is the principal approach adopted by participants in the market. 
 
Residual feasibility approaches illustrate the amount a purchaser could reasonably afford to pay for the land 
subject to the revenue and costs associated with a proposed development. In the case of land with sub-
divisional potential two approaches are often applied, discounted cash flow approach and the static residual. 
 
The discounted cash flow approach reflects the time value of money in setting out periodic cash flows of 
expenditure from development and revenue from site sales. The net cash flow is discounted at an appropriate 
rate of return to reflect a present or current value. This is effectively the price that the developer can afford to 
pay and meet the required return relative to the risk perception. The valuation outcome must be supported 
through comparison with sales of other sub-divisible blocks, however with consideration to differing utility, 
efficiency and sub-divisional difficulty. 
 
The present value of net holding income has been assessed from the amortisation of EBITDA forecast based 
on reflection of trading account trends, benchmarking and our pro forma cash flow. The present value of the 
annualised EBITDA cash flows are a component of the value.  Note this will reduce over time as there is 
currently a finite period of trading. If the holding income is accounted for then the land must be deferred as 
income value cannot be attained while the land is realised. 
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Finally we have adopted the direct sales comparison approach for the relocatable units. These units sell on 
the basis of in one line dealings on an in situ basis and the purchaser is typically responsible for the 
relocation and demolition of foundations and stopping of service connections. 
 
 
6. Pecuniary Interest 
We hereby certify that the Valuer and valuation firm do not have any direct, indirect or financial interest in the 
property or clients described herein that would conflict with the proper Valuation of the property. 
 
The Valuer has at least five years of continuous experience in the valuation of property of a similar type to the 
subject and is authorised by law to practise as a Valuer in New Zealand. 
 
 
7. Property Summary 

The property comprises Workotel, a parcel of residential development land with accommodation based 
holding income that legally ceases operation on 31 December 2022. 
 
The site occupies the position of the former Riccarton Park Holiday Park that is run as workers 
accommodation with 107 accommodation units, 5 dwellings, plus the former Holiday Park improvements.   
 
Following the Canterbury Earthquakes the property was used to provide workers accommodation, with the 
complex achieving peak occupancy of 93% in 2015.  This has subsequently reduced to 74% as the demand 
for workers accommodation has fallen following the completion of the rebuild, and the clientele has changed 
to those seeking low cost, short term accommodation.   
 
The current use is subject to Resource Consent that expires 31 December 2022, however an application for 
land use consent has been made to utilise the existing buildings on site as a discretionary activity.  The result 
of the application will not be known for some time, and may not be granted, and was made subsequent to the 
date of valuation in.   
 
As the property stands at the date of valuation, it is a wasting asset, the value comprised essentially in the land 
as a development site, with a holding income until the existing resource consent expires, plus the value of the 
relocatable units.  The property is owner occupied and can be sold with vacant possession to facilitate 
redevelopment.  
 
Attached as Appendix B to this letter is an Executive Summary extracted from our valuation report. 
 
A summary of our valuation is provided below. 
 

Address  Suburb City Title/Tenure Adopted Market Value  
15-21 Main South Road 
and 29 Ballantyne Avenue 

Upper 
Riccarton 

Christchurch Freehold $7,600,000 

 
We refer the reader to the Valuation Report for a detailed overview of the property, and local market conditions 
and characteristics. 
 
 
8. Market Commentary 

The Christchurch residential property market has remained steady over the preceding 12 months with a 1.9% 
annual increase in values reported by Core Logic in December 2019. The average sale price recorded over 
this period was $504,952. 
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The Christchurch market has been impacted by the widespread construction activity following the Canterbury 
earthquakes, particularly in satellite centres to the north and south of the city. The oversupply of housing has 
had a dampening effect on house prices. 
 
There has been a number of sales of development sites in the city of late, a number for low cost housing to 
meet the strong buyer demand from investors and first buyers. There has also been some activity from rest 
home operators.  A number of development sites became available following the earthquakes as the previous 
structures were destroyed.  These sites have now been absorbed by the market, with only brown field’s sites 
now available, and with a limited supply. 
 
In the medium term we believe prices will continue to increase as the excess housing stock is absorbed 
through natural population growth, and the rebuild when complete will provide a modern city that will provide 
an attractive place to reside. 
 
 
9. Liability Disclaimer 

Savills (NZ) Limited has prepared this summary letter for TEE Land Limited in connection with the mandatory 
unconditional cash offer by Amcorp Supreme Limited.  Savills specifically disclaim liability to any person in the 
event of any omission from, or false or misleading statements included in the PDS. 
 
Savills has prepared this letter and the full valuation reports based upon information made available to us at 
the date of issue.  Any reliance upon this letter should be based upon the actual possession or sighting of an 
original valuation report duly signed and countersigned. We believe that this information is accurate and 
complete, however we have not independently verified all such information. In providing this summary, Savills 
is not providing advice about a financial product, nor the suitability of the investment. 
 
This Valuation is current at the date of valuation only. The value assessed herein may change significantly and 
unexpectedly over a relatively short period of time (including as a result of general market movements or factors 
specific to the particular property).  Subject to applicable laws, liability for losses arising from such subsequent 
changes in value are excluded as is liability where the valuation is relied upon after the date of the valuation. 
 
We have assessed the market value of the property in accordance with the Market Value definition contained 
within this letter summary and our full valuation report. In the event that, having regard to current economic 
conditions, a sale was to occur in circumstances not reflecting that Market Value definition, the price realised 
may be at a substantial discount to the Market Value assessed. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Lance Collings 
Director - Valuation & Advisory 
 
 
 
 
 
Steven Dunlop 
National Head - Valuation & Advisory 
 
The report is countersigned by Steven Dunlop as National Head only. The above counter-signatory verifies that this report is genuine original document, and issued by, and endorsed 
by Savills (NZ) Ltd.  However the opinion expressed in this report, including the opinion on value, have been arrived at by the prime signatory alone. Mr Dunlop has not inspected the 
property. 
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Annexures 
� Standard Disclaimers, Assumptions and Qualifications 
� Executive Summary 
  



G-57

APPENDIX G – VALUATION REPORTS AND/OR CERTIfICATES
 

Page 6 

Assumptions � That the information supplied to us by Teematic Private Limited is complete, current and 
accurate. 

� Valuation assuming vacant possession. 
� Site inspection was undertaken for valuation purposes only, we are not qualified to carry 

out nor have we sighted a structural survey/report of the buildings, accordingly we are not 
qualified to express an opinion as to the structural integrity of the buildings. We were also 
unable to inspect parts of the premises that were unexposed or inaccessible and therefore 
cannot say that such parts are free from defects.  We recommend that a structural 
survey/report be commissioned by the nominate party to identify any building defects.  
We reserve the right to review this valuation if any such defects are identified. 

� The report is predicated on the basis that as at the effective date of valuation, the building 
services and structure were considered to be in good condition.  The information provided 
with regard to future capital expenditure and deferred maintenance is very limited, and 
no recent service maintenance contract reports or asset management plans have been 
provided.  Accordingly the valuation assumes that there are no significant capital outlays 
which are likely payable within the next 3 years, other than those assumed or referred to 
in the report.  We recommend that any reliant party satisfy themselves with regards to the 
condition of the building, services and structure, and we reserve the right to review our 
findings should any information come to light which contradicts our findings. 

� This valuation has been made on the assumption that there are no actual or potential 
contamination issues affecting the site or the buildings, including asbestos affectation.  It 
is recommended that an asbestos report be commissioned and reviewed by the 
instructing party prior to reliance upon this valuation. 

� We have carried out this valuation on the assumption that this property is free from flood 
affectation. 

� As per specific instructions, the valuation has been completed on an ‘in one line’ basis.  
� All information provided to us by the instructing party for the purpose of preparing this 

report is accurate and current as at the retrospective Date of Valuation and the date of 
inspection. 

� Savills accepts no responsibility to third parties nor does it contemplate that this report 
will be relied upon by third parties.  We invite other parties who may come into possession 
of this report to seek our written consent to them relying upon this report and we reserve 
our rights to review the contents in the event that our consent is sought. 

� This Valuation is current at the date of valuation only.  The value assessed herein may 
change significantly and unexpectedly over a relatively short period of time (including as 
a result of general market movements or factors specific to the particular property).  
Liability for losses arising from such subsequent changes in value is excluded as is liability 
where the valuation is relied upon after the expiration of three months from the date of 
valuation, or such earlier date if you become aware of any factors that have any effect on 
the valuation. Note the property was valued for mortgage security and financial reporting 
in November 2019, this valuation remains at the same date but has been reinspected 
prior to issuance to confirm the premises remain largely unchanged.  

� In the event we become aware of a material change in investment market dynamics 
during the period between the Date of Issue and Date of Valuation, we reserve the right 
to amend our assessment. 

� Floor areas included within this report have been calculated by measurements 
undertaken during inspection.  Should professionally prepared building measurements or 
plans be made available to Savills, we reserve the right to amend this valuation 
accordingly. 

� As specifically instructed, we have valued the property on an earthquake strengthened 
basis with an assumed NBS of not less than 67%. 

� That all certificates and approvals are in place as required by the local authority. 
� That the property is occupied and managed in full compliance with the law, in particular 

relating to safety and fire regulations. 
� The accommodation units comply with the Healthy Homes Guarantee Act 2017 and can 

continue operation without material additional expenditure during the period to December 
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2022 when the consent to operate expires and trading would cease without a new 
Resource Consent being issued. We recommend the reader satisfy themselves to this 
regard prior to reliance on the findings herein. 
 

Should any of the assumptions in this report be incorrect or inaccurate, then we reserve the right to amend the valuation and the report. 
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Name of Responsible Entity TEE Land Limited 
Interest Valued 100% Freehold subject to vacant possession 

Valuation Purpose This valuation report has been prepared in connection with the mandatory 
unconditional cash offer by Amcorp Supreme Pte Ltd for TEE land Limited. 

Basis of Valuation Retrospective Market Value “In One Line” on an “As Is” Basis. 

Property Description The property comprises Workotel, a parcel of residential development land with 
accommodation based holding income that legally ceases operation on 31 
December 2022. 
 
The site occupies the position of the former Riccarton Park Holiday Park that is 
run as workers accommodation with 107 accommodation units, 5 dwellings, plus 
the former Holiday Park improvements.   
 
Following the Canterbury Earthquakes the property was used to provide workers 
accommodation, with the complex achieving peak occupancy of 93% in 2015.  
This has subsequently reduced to 74% as the demand for workers 
accommodation has fallen following the completion of the rebuild, and the 
clientele has changed to those seeking low cost, short term accommodation.   
 
The current use is subject to Resource Consent that expires 31 December 2022, 
however an application for land use consent has been made to utilise the existing 
buildings on site as a discretionary activity.  The result of the application will not 
be known for some time, and may not be granted, and was made subsequent to 
the date of valuation in.   
 
As the property stands at the date of valuation, it is a wasting asset, the value 
comprised essentially in the land as a development site, with a holding income 
until the existing resource consent expires, plus the value of the relocatable units.  
The property is owner occupied and can be sold with vacant possession to 
facilitate redevelopment.  

Lettable Area 3,421.5m² 

Site Area 1.7089 ha 

Title Particulars CB658/80, CB658/81, CB4D/899, CB526/53 and 597284 

Zoning Residential Suburban 

Valuation Approach Direct Comparison & Amortisation of EBITDA 

Date of Inspection 13 February 2020 

Date of Valuation 30 November 2019 

‘In One Line’ Adopted Market 
Value 

$7,600,000 (*) 

Prepared by Lance Collings SPINZ, ANZIV Steven Dunlop, FNZIV, FPINZ 

 Registered Valuer, Director National Director of Valuations – Peer 
Review 

 Savills (NZ) Limited Savills (NZ) Limited 
(*) This valuation amount is stated plus Goods and Services Tax and is expressed in New Zealand Dollars. 

We advise that this summary must be read by the nominated parties in conjunction with the attached report (including appendices) of which this 

summary forms part.  This valuation summary should not be relied upon in isolation for finance or any other purpose.  
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